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PREFACE 

 

This volume contains detailed assessments of the observance of standards and codes 

based on the findings of the joint World Bank/IMF Financial Sector Assessment Program 

(FSAP) team which undertook missions to Moldova from April 7 to 9, 2004, and from 

May 12 to June 2, 2004. These assessments have benefited from feedback from the 

Moldovan authorities, as well as from World Bank and IMF colleagues at headquarters.  

 

The assessments included in this volume include a Detailed Assessment of Corporate 

Governance conducted by Mr. Alex Berg (World Bank), and a Detailed Assessment of 

Accounting and Auditing, conducted by Mr. Henri Fortin (World Bank). These latter two 

assessments were both conducted independently of the FSAP, but the fieldwork was 

undertaken in mid-2004 while the FSAP team was in the field, and their findings are fully 

reflected in the FSAP Aide-Mémoire and the Technical Notes.  

 

The FSAP team1
 would like to express its sincere gratitude to the Minister of Finance, the 

Governor of the National Bank of Moldova, and their respective staff, as well as 

representatives of other government and private sector institutions for their cooperation in 

this effort. The team also greatly appreciates the hospitality received during its two visits. 

Finally, we hope that these reports on selected issues will assist the authorities in taking 

steps to enhance the role of Moldova’s financial sector in contributing to the country’s 

growth and development strategy.

                       
1
 The FSAP team comprised Martin Slough (World Bank, Mission Chief), Judit Vadasz (IMF, 

Deputy Mission Chief), Erik Lundback, Srobona Mitra, Yuji Yokobori (all IMF), Irina 

Astrakhan, Victor Burunsus, Michael Edwards, Serap Gonulal, Peter Kyle, Barbara Mondestin, 

Yibin Mu, Sue Rutledge (all World Bank), Svante Bågstam (Sveriges Riksbank, Payment System 

– IMF expert), Stefan Spamer (Deutsche Bundesbank, Banking Supervision – IMF expert), and 

Walter Zunic (Banking Supervision – World Bank expert). Edgardo Ruggiero (IMF Resident 

Representative) and Edward Brown (World Bank Country Manager) participated in some 

meetings.  
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I. DETAILED ASSESSMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH BASEL CORE PRINCIPLES FOR 

EFFECTIVE BANKING SUPERVISION 

 

General 

1.      This detailed assessment of Observance with the Basel Core Principles for 

Effective Banking Supervision is the first external comprehensive assessment of the 

system of banking supervision in Moldova. The assessment was conducted by Walter 

Zunic, World Bank and Stefan Spamer, Deutsche Bundesbank, in May 2004. The 

National Bank of Moldova (National Bank of Moldova) cooperated fully with the 

assessment team and provided extensive clarification in the form of documents and oral 

explanation. Their assistance is gratefully acknowledged. 

Information and methodology used for assessment 

2.      The National Bank of Moldova was requested to complete a self-assessment and a 

questionnaire in advance of the mission. The questionnaire and self-assessments were 

made available to IMF and the World Bank in advance of the mission. During the 

mission, the responses to the questionnaire, an assessment (prepared by Barents Group of 

KPMG Consulting, Inc) and self-assessment (prepared by the National Bank of Moldova) 

of observance of the standards and principles were clarified and checked through 

subsequent discussion with the authorities and market participants in critical areas. The 

two assessors reviewed documents made available in advance of the mission, spent 

several days interviewing representatives of the National Bank of Moldova, as well as 

commercial bankers, accountants, and other market participants, in order to clarify and/or 

verify the facts contained in the questionnaire responses. 

3.      The assessment of observance of each of the Core Principles adopts a qualitative 

approach and is based on the Core Principles Methodology Document (October 1999). 

The assessment method consisted of examining the degree of observance of each of a 

principle’s essential criteria and, where the assessors judged necessary, of the additional 

criteria, too. In addition to the responses to the IMF questionnaire by the National Bank 

of Moldova, detailed information available on the National Bank of Moldova's Internet 

website facilitated the drafting of this report. The Basel Core Principles assessors were 

able to focus their discussions and verify information provided in the Law on the 

National Bank of Moldova, which entered into force on July 21, 1995, and the Law on 

Financial Institutions, which entered into force on the same date (amended November 9, 

2001), regulations and recommendations for enforcing provisions of the above-mentioned 

laws. Follow-up questions were raised with National Bank of Moldova staff and 

supplemental information was provided to the assessors as necessary. 

Institutional and macroprudential setting, market structure overview 

4.      The Moldovan regulatory policies are formulated on two levels. At the first 

level, all acts, such as the Law on the National Bank of Moldova and the Law on 

Financial Institutions are approved by the Committee on Banking and Financial Issues 



 - 2 - 

and passed by parliament. The National Bank of Moldova typically drafts laws relating to 

the banking system and submits them to the government for review and subsequent 

submission to the parliament. At the second level, on more technical policy, the National 

Bank of Moldova has, under Article 11 of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova, 

powers to issue prudential regulations for enforcing provision of the Law on Financial 

Institutions. In addition, the National Bank of Moldova issues recommendations and 

manuals as necessary, which complete the framework of minimum prudential standards 

which these banks must meet. The Law on Financial Institutions is regularly 

supplemented by amendments and recommendations, decisions, instructions, directives 

issued by the National Bank of Moldova. 

5.      The Law on the National Bank of Moldova defines the objective of the National 

Bank of Moldova as assuring the stability and soundness of the Moldovan financial 

system. The various provisions of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova and the Law 

on Financial Institutions cover monitoring the activities of banks regarding conformity 

with laws, compulsory prudential ratios and regulations and, within its jurisdiction, 

enabling the National Bank of Moldova to take measures necessary to ensure adherence 

to laws, norms and regulations. Article 5 (d) of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova 

specifies that the National Bank of Moldova, through its Department of Banking 

Regulation and Supervision (Department), is responsible for banking supervision in 

Moldova. It is the sole authority for carrying out banking supervision for banking 

institutions licensed under this law. The objective of the Department is to maintain the 

financial stability of the banking system with a view to protecting the interests of 

depositors. In particular, the National Bank of Moldova is authorized to 

 establish the required regulations and take appropriate remedial measures; 

  supervise each financial institution; 

 solicit information from any employee of a financial institution; and  

 prescribe remedial measures to each institution or apply the sanctions stipulated in 

the Law on Financial Institutions. 

6.      The National Bank of Moldova fulfills its responsibilities of authorization, 

supervision, and regulation of financial institutions operations through the Department of 

Banking Regulation and Supervision (Department). The Department consists of two 

divisions and a total of 42 professionals. The director of the Department reports directly 

to the deputy governor responsible for banking supervision. 
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7.      The financial system is largely dominated by the banking sector, which represents 

almost 38 percent of GDP in terms of total assets. The two-tier system, created in 1991, 

comprises the National Bank of Moldova and 16 commercial banks. The banks operate 

out of 16 head offices and 165 branches. The banking sector is mostly privately owned, 

with only one state-owned bank.
2
 There are few banks with foreign participation (and 

none with majority strategic foreign ownership typical of more advanced transition 

economies), most of which are from neighboring countries. International financial 

institutions are also present in the capital of five of the banks operating in the country. 

8.      Based on the data published by the authorities, the financial condition of the 

banking sector is improving after the shake-up of the 1998 Russian crisis. Reported 

figures indicate that the banks are profitable with ROA of over 4 percent. Asset quality 

improved in 2003 with a decrease in non-performing loans in terms of total (gross) loans. 

As of end-2003, the sector has been apparently sound, with liquid assets of 32 percent of 

total banking sector assets. Total assets have been increasing since 2000, with a 

30 percent growth in 2003. Total credit increased by 44 percent and deposits by 

34 percent in 2003.  

                       
2
 Banca de Economii is the only state-owned bank in the country. Its assets represent 

about 15 percent of total banking sector assets.  
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General preconditions for effective banking supervision 

9.      The banking sector remains concentrated, underdeveloped, and less than efficient. 

Five large banks account for 71 percent of total banking sector assets and 75 percent of 

total banking sector deposits. Only 9 percent of assets and 7 percent of deposits are in the 

smallest six banks. Lack of product diversification, poor banking skills, and inadequate 

lending and crediting policies are de facto limiting the efficient development of new 

banking services. The costs of these inefficiencies are eventually transferred to the 

private sector as high interest margins and transaction costs.
3
  

10.      There are distortions in the structure and functioning of the Moldovan banking 

and financial sector that may contribute to these shortcomings, in particular:  

 Operating costs are high partly owing to high (and only lei denominated) reserve 

requirements and weaknesses in the payment system as banks must hold large liquid 

resources due to clearing on a gross basis at the end of each business day. 

 Difficulties in expanding the customer and product base are exacerbated by a number 

of factors. Banks are not active in providing letters of credit because Moldova’s 

trading partners do not trust domestic guarantees and require advance cash payments.
4
 

Banks also face difficulties in developing leasing, since leasing is subject to payment 

of VAT in full up front at the commencement of the leasing contract. 

 Lending by banks is still based primarily on the value of the collateral offered and not 

on the cash flow-generating capacity of borrowers.
5
 Court procedures are lengthy and 

enforcement of decisions is inefficient, making the recovery of collateral and the 

enforcement of property and creditor rights difficult. 

 Delays in the full implementation of the Law on Pledges (2001) and in the 

development of the Special Information System for collateral registration affect bank 

lending and increase transaction costs. 

11.      Despite improvements in financial intermediation in the years following the crisis 

of 1998, access to finance in Moldova is constrained by weaknesses in the technical, 

legal, and regulatory infrastructure supporting intermediation. According to the BEEPS II 

results, the median debt to asset ratio of the full sample of enterprises is a mere 9 percent, 

lower than any other country in the sample, and it has shown little change since 1998. In 

addition to factors outlined above, the main factors affecting access to finance are 

                       
3
 At end-2002, interest margins of banks fell slightly to 6.7 percent in lei and 8.6 percent in 

foreign currency. 

4
 The EBRD, for example, has two LC guarantee lines with local commercial banks for about 

US$4 million only, which are not fully disbursed.  

5
 Banks in Moldova require collateral for up to 140 percent of loan (Business Environment and 

Enterprise Performance Survey (BEEPS) II and other sources). 
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 Lack of long-term bank financing (few companies are able to obtain term loans 

exceeding 12 months). 

 Legal and regulatory restrictions on transactions and lending denominated in 

foreign currencies. 

 Lack of basic banking skills and a developed product base that would serve the 

needs of private sector efficiently. 

 Underdevelopment or lack of alternative forms of financing. The non-bank, 

capital market, and insurance sectors are embryonic.  

12.      Non-bank credit is available through Micro Enterprise Credit (MEC) and the 

Savings and Credit Associations (SCAs). MEC was established in 1999 with donor 

support and predominantly serves micro-entrepreneurs. Most of these loans are provided 

for trading activities, services, and small home improvements. MEC is expanding fast, 

with its portfolio expected to grow to $6.3 million by the end of 2003. 

13.      SCAs were established before the breakup of the Soviet system and reorganized 

under the Rural Finance Corporation, created in 1997. The network of SCAs channels 

donor funding through a network of 483 units. SCAs may extend loans up to US$250,000 

for maturities that range from one month to 15 years. The SCA system has performed 

relatively well throughout these years. By 2002 the SCAs had extended loans to almost 

52,000 clients totaling about US$8 million. Nevertheless, they still depend on donor and 

government funding.  

14.      There are 22 small leasing companies in the country, most of them engaged in 

leasing of motor vehicles for households. Weaknesses in the legal framework and in the 

tax regime are the main constraints to leasing development in Moldova. 

15.      The Stock Exchange of Moldova (SEM), a self-regulating authority established in 

1995, organizes the primary market for securities and stock trading in the country. The 

SEM organizes the trading floor, which is fully automated, and the National Securities 

Depository. As of the end of 2002, 1,452 companies were listed with a total capitalization 

of US$440 million. 

Summary of the Basel Core Principles for Effective Supervision assessment: 

16.      Preconditions for effective banking supervision (CP 1): The legal framework 

for the regulation and supervision of the financial sector has undergone significant reform 

during the last decade. The result has been the adoption of a series of laws and 

regulations that are reasonably comprehensive and broadly consistent with international 

best practices. The basic legal framework is contained in the Law of the National Bank of 

Moldova and the Law on Financial Institutions supplemented by regulations, 

recommendations and internal manuals etc. These provide powers for the National Bank 

of Moldova to supervise banks. According to the Law on the National Bank of Moldova 

and the Law on Financial Institutions, Article 4 and 25 (2) of Law on the National Bank 

of Moldova defines the objective of the National Bank of Moldova as assuring stability 

and soundness of the Moldovan financial system. The National Bank of Moldova is the 

sole authority responsible for banking supervision. A defined mechanism for 
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coordinating actions between agencies responsible for supervision of the financial sector 

is not in place. However, the National Bank of Moldova does cooperate with the Ministry 

of Finance and other parts of the government as appropriate. 

17.      There is no visible evidence of any government or industry interference in the 

work of the National Bank of Moldova. However, according to Article 8 (2b) of the Law 

on the National Bank of Moldova, the ministers responsible for economic and financial 

matters may attend meetings of the Council of Administration of the National Bank. As 

such participation has no restriction, interference by the government cannot be ruled out. 

The National Bank of Moldova also has, in general, adequate independence to deploy its 

banking supervision resources. The decisions as to when to start a bank examination, and 

the scope for such examinations, are made by the NBM Supervision Department. 

18.      The legal protection for supervisors is currently not addressed. No law provides 

for legal protection for the supervisory agency and its staff for actions taken while 

discharging their duties in good faith. There is no formal National Bank of Moldova 

indemnification policy protecting employees against the costs of defending their actions 

while discharging their duties. 

19.      There is only a limited system of cooperation and information sharing in place 

among all domestic agencies with responsibility for the soundness of the financial 

system. However, the National Bank of Moldova liaises with other governmental bodies 

or domestic agencies, such as the Ministry of Finance, which regulates savings and loan 

associations and with the Center for Prevention of Economic Crimes and Corruption 

concerning money laundering and terrorist financing. For the exchange of information 

with these or other domestic agencies, there is no exchange of letters of understanding or 

formal agreements with the Ministry of Finance and Ministry of Interior giving the 

National Bank of Moldova power to disclose information at the discretion of the National 

Bank of Moldova. While there are no legal provisions for the establishment of contact 

and the sharing of information on a reciprocity basis with other supervisors, there is a 

system of documented cooperation and information sharing with foreign banking 

supervision agencies in place, 

20.      Licensing and Structure (CPs 2-5): The Law on Financial Institutions clearly 

defines the term “Bank” and the permissible activities. Prior to engaging in banking 

operations, each institution is required to obtain a license from the National Bank of 

Moldova which is the sole authority for granting banking licenses. During the licensing 

process, the applicant has to inform the National Bank of Moldova about all relevant 

information (strategic and operational plan, fitness and propriety of management, 

suitability of shareholders, etc.). Under the Law on Financial Institutions, the National 

Bank of Moldova has the authority to grant authorization for acquisitions or increases of 

qualifying holdings in an existing bank. However, bank ownership approval by the 

National Bank of Moldova is limited to shareholdings of 10 percent or higher. This 

liberal requirement has created the situation that the individual shareholders of 9.9 

percent own a majority of the capital stock of five banks. Most of the shareholders in this 

group are corporations registered in off-shore centers. None of these controlling bank 

shareholders are obliged to fulfill existing fit and proper regulations for shareholdings of 
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10 percent or larger. The Law on Financial Institutions defines the upper limit for 

investments in other companies, that are not credit institutions at 15 percent of the 

regulatory capital and total investments should not exceed 50 percent of the banks 

regulatory capital. Written supervisory approval is required to exceed these limits. The 

National Bank of Moldova requires that banks report all ownership in subsidiaries and 

affiliated companies. 

21.      Prudential regulation and requirements (CPs 6-15): Rules and regulation 

regarding capital adequacy generally conform to the Basel Capital Accord 1988. Rules 

and regulation do not include a capital charge for market risk. Although the trading 

portfolio is relatively small, a capital charge on market risk should be considered and 

should be addressed in a manner consistent with the 1998 Basel Amendments 1998. The 

National Bank of Moldova takes comfort from the capital adequacy ratio of Moldovan 

banks being well in excess of the 12 percent minimum required. 

22.      The National Bank of Moldova maintains adequate systems for monitoring and 

evaluating banks’ large lines exposure. It establishes that net credit exposure of the bank 

to a person or group of interrelated persons shall not exceed 25 percent of the bank’s total 

regulatory capital, and that large credits must be approved in advance by a majority of the 

council of the bank. In addition, credit extensions to the largest ten borrowers, including 

groups of inter-related persons, shall not exceed 50 percent of the bank’s total credit 

portfolio, and the sum of all large credits shall not exceed five times the bank’s total 

regulatory capital. While the supervisors identify the regulatory non-compliance in the 

large exposure limits and in the connected lending area, they do operate under the 

difficulty of insufficient information about the financial interests of a large percentage of 

shareholders in the banking system. Consequently, it is difficult to determine the extent 

of regulatory compliance in this area. However, in some cases, due to insufficient 

information on minority shareholders located in offshore centers, there is difficulty in 

accurately determining the nature of connections between borrowers. This casts some 

doubt on whether total loans of groups of closely related borrowers are being accurately 

measured.  

23.      Although the large exposure limit (25 percent of bank or banking group capital) is 

consistent with international standards, it is arguable that the limit may be relatively high 

for the Moldovan banking system and economy, given the small size of the country’s 

economy. It would be desirable for the National Bank of Moldova to keep this limit under 

review, taking into account the risk profile of the financial system and economy, the 

credit quality of borrowers and the contagion risks within the economy. 

24.      Also, the National Bank of Moldova should consider establishing a limit on 

banks’ deposit exposures to other banks, where the deposit placement (due from 

placement) is over 15 days in maturity. This practice exposes the banking system to inter-

bank contagion risk. 

25.      The National Bank of Moldova does not  require banks with cross-border 

exposure to establish controls and limits on their activities that may result in country and 

transfer risk, and it has not prescribed for the financial institutions policies or procedures 
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for identifying monitoring and controlling country and transfer risk entered into in their 

international  activities. The National Bank of Moldova has not issued regulations or 

recommendations requiring banks to have in place systems that accurately measure and 

monitor market  risk. 

26.      The supervisor requires banks to have information systems to identify individual 

loans to connected and related parties as well as the total amount of such loans, and to 

monitor them through an independent credit administration process. The National Bank 

of Moldova is in the position to require the necessary information concerning connected 

or related parties. However, the National Bank of Moldova does not receive all the 

necessary information to assess that banks monitoring covering lending to connected and 

related parties is effectively able to identify the beneficial borrower, especially in the case 

where foreign shareholders with less than a 10 percent shareholding are involved. Banks 

track this information on shareholders informally, rather than through more advanced 

management information systems. 

27.      Anti Money Laundering will be fully assessed in calendar year 2005 by a 

comprehensive review to be performed by a team of specialists in this field. Moldova has 

relatively comprehensive laws for dealing with money laundering and other financial 

crimes. For its part, the National Bank of Moldova’s on-site examination of banks 

involves assessment of banks’ systems for detecting potentially suspicious transactions 

and for combating money laundering and other financial crimes. 

28.      Methods of ongoing supervision (CPs 16-20): CPs 16 to 18 are assessed as 

largely compliant and CP 19 is assessed as Compliant. The National Bank of Moldova 

conducts full scope on-site examinations of banks on an annual basis. The examination 

process is comprehensive and covers a wide range of banking areas, including risk 

management systems, internal controls, management systems, compliance with 

prudential requirements, and asset quality and provisioning. There is also a 

comprehensive system of off-site monitoring of banks, involving the analysis of a wide 

range of information provided to the National Bank of Moldova by banks on a monthly 

and quarterly basis (with some information provided at more frequent intervals). 

29.      The National Bank of Moldova has not issued specific instructions addressing 

accounting consolidation of subsidiaries and there is no evidence that the bank 

supervisors utilize a group-wide approach to supervision. Supervision on a consolidated 

basis is not carried out in Moldova and consequently CP20 is considered as materially 

non-compliant. 

30.      Formal powers of supervisors (CP 22): The Law on Financial Institutions 

empowers the National Bank of Moldova to issue the necessary decisions to restore the 

rightful conditions and remove abuses, develop a practice of corrective action and early 

intervention. The Law provides a range of remedial actions, including the withdrawal of 

the bank's license. Adequate enforcement powers are at the National Bank of Moldova’s 

disposal and are close to the respective Basel recommendation on taking remedial 

measures. Since 1996, at an increasing rate, the National Bank of Moldova’s actions 

regarding problem institutions have taken advantage of these powers. The broad 
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reference to “unsafe and unsound operations” as one of the premises for justifying 

enforcement is a very strong power. There is no mechanism for the automatic imposition 

of administrative or penal sanctions. Under the law such sanctions require the conduct of 

legal proceedings with all requisite procedural guarantees. The National Bank of 

Moldova does not have the authority to publish details of the enforcement actions that it 

imposes. 

31.      Cross-border banking (CPs 23-25): The Law on the National Bank of Moldova 

and the Law on Financial Institutions provide the National Bank of Moldova with the 

means to conduct the supervision of credit institutions on a consolidated basis over the 

banking entities of Moldovan banks. The current regulatory and supervisory framework 

does not have specific provisions relating to global consolidated supervision. However, 

banks organized under the Law on Financial Institutions are required to notify the 

National Bank of Moldova for approval before they establish a subsidiary or branch 

outside Moldova. The National Bank of Moldova is responsible for granting permission 

for Moldovan banking institutions to operate branches outside the country. However, the 

National Bank of Moldova has only limited authority to supervise the overseas branches 

of locally incorporated banking institutions, for example, through undertaking direct 

inspections. There are no legal provisions for the establishment of contact and sharing of 

information on a reciprocity basis with other supervisors. 

32.      Foreign banking institutions are subject to similar regulatory requirements 

applicable to all other banks operating in Moldova. The current legal provisions give the 

National Bank of Moldova powers to access any information on a subsidiary of a foreign 

banking institution in Moldova. 

33.      The National Bank of Moldova has powers to share information needed by the 

home country supervisors for the purpose of carrying out consolidated supervision. 

However, there are no legal requirements for a formalized procedure by which the host 

country supervisor can share information on the local operations of foreign banks with 

home country supervisors, as confidentiality is protected.  

Principle-by-principle assessment 

34.      The following assessment of the Basel Core Principles (BCP) is based on the 

Core Principles Methodology of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, October 

1999. The methodology makes a distinction between "essential" and "additional" criteria. 

Essential criteria should be present in order for supervision to be considered effective. 

Additional criteria further strengthen supervision and countries should strive to 

implement as many of the additional criteria as possible. This assessment takes both the 

essential and additional criteria into consideration. 

35.      The Basel Core Principles are grouped into seven categories: (1) Preconditions for 

Effective Banking Supervision; (2) Licensing and Structure; (3) Prudential Regulations 

and Requirements; (4) Methods of Ongoing Banking Supervision; (5) Information 

Requirements; (6) Formal Powers of Supervisors; and, (7) Cross-border Banking. 
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36.      A principle will be considered compliant whenever all essential criteria are 

generally met without any significant deficiencies. There may be instances where a 

country can demonstrate that a principle is observed through different mechanisms. 

Conversely, due to the specific conditions in individual countries, the essential criteria 

may not always be sufficient to achieve the objective of the principle and, therefore, other 

measures (including any additional criteria) may also be deemed necessary by the 

assessor to judge that compliance is achieved. A principle will be considered largely 

compliant whenever only minor shortcomings are observed, which do not raise any 

concerns about the authority’s ability and intent to achieve full compliance with the 

principle within a prescribed period of time. A principle will be considered materially 

non-compliant whenever, despite progress, the shortcomings are sufficient to raise 

doubts about the authority’s ability to achieve compliance. A principle will be considered 

non-compliant whenever no substantive progress toward compliance has been achieved. 

A principle will be considered not applicable whenever, in the view of the assessor, the 

CP does not apply given the structural, legal, and institutional features of a country. 
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Table 1. Detailed Assessment of Compliance with the Basel Core Principles 
 

Principle 1. Objectives, Autonomy, Powers, and Resources 

An effective system of banking supervision will have clear responsibilities and objectives for 

each agency involved in the supervision of banks. Each such agency should possess 

operational independence and adequate resources. A suitable legal framework for banking 

supervision is also necessary, including provisions relating to the authorization of banking 

establishments and their ongoing supervision; powers to address compliance with laws, as 

well as safety and soundness concerns; and legal protection for supervisors. Arrangements for 

sharing information between supervisors and protecting the confidentiality of such 

information should be in place. 

Principle 1(1) An effective system of banking supervision will have clear responsibilities and objectives for 

each agency involved in the supervision of banks. 

Description The Moldovan regulatory policies are formulated on two levels. At the first level all acts, such 

as the Law on the National Bank of Moldova and the Law on Financial Institutions are 

approved by the parliamentary Committee on Banking and Finance and passed by the 

parliament. The National Bank of Moldova has substantial influence on the process of drafting 

of laws. At the second level on more technical policy, the National Bank of Moldova has, under 

Article 11 of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova. powers to issue prudential regulations 

such as regulations (rules for enforcing provision of the Law on Financial Institutions). In 

addition, the National Bank of Moldova issues recommendations and manuals (only for internal 

use) as necessary, which complete the framework of minimum prudential standards that banks 

must meet. The Law on Financial Institutions is regularly supplemented by amendments and 

regulations, recommendations, decisions, instructions, directives issued by the National Bank 

of Moldova. 

 

The National Bank of Moldova and the Law on Financial Institutions entered into force on July 

21, 1995 (as amended November 9, 2001) providing the statutory and legal framework for 

banking and banking supervision. In addition, various laws, regulations, recommendations and 

manuals serve as elaborations of the Banking Act: 

 Law on the National Bank of Moldova, No. 548-XIII of July 21, 1995 (Official 

Monitor of Republic of Moldova No. 56-57 of October 12, 1995) 

 Law on Financial Institutions, No. 550-XIII of July 21, 1995 (Official Monitor of 

Republic of Moldova No. 1/ 2 of January 1, 1996) 

 Law on Preventing and Combating Money Laundering, No. 633-XV of November 15, 

2001 (Official Monitor of Republic of Moldova No. 39-140 of November 15, 2001) 

 Law on Auditing, No. 729-XIII of February 15, 1996 (Official Monitor of Republic of 

Moldova No. 20-21/214 of April 4, 1996) 

 Law on the National Commission for Securities, Stocks and Bonds, No. 192-XIV of 

November 12, 1998 (Official Monitor of Republic of Moldova No. 22-23 of March 4, 

1999) 

 Law on Accounting, No. 426-XIII of April 4, 1995 (Official Monitor of Republic of 

Moldova No. 28/321 of May 25, 1995) 

 Law on the Securities, Stock and Bond Market, No. 199-XIV of November 18, 1998 

(Official Monitor of Republic of Moldova No. 27-28/123 of March 23, 1999) 

 Law on State Registration of Companies and Organizations, No. 1265-XIV of October 

5, 2000 (Official Monitor of Republic of Moldova No. 1/ 2 of January 1, 1996) 

 Law on Corporations, No. 1134-XIII of April 2, 1997 (Official Monitor of Republic of 

Moldova No. 38-39 of June 12, 1997) 

 Law on Licensing Certain Types of Activities, No. 451-XV of July 30, 2001 (Official 

Monitor of Republic of Moldova No. 108-109/836 of September 6, 2001) 

 National Standard for Accounting, No. 27 “Consolidated Financial Statements and 

Accounting for Investments in Subsidiaries,” Department of Finance Order No. 16 of 

January 29, 1999 (Official Monitor of Republic of Moldova No. 35-38/70 of April 15, 

1999) 
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 National Standard for Accounting No. 28 “Accounting for Investments in Associates,” 

Department of Finance Order No. 174 of December 25, 1997 (Official Monitor of 

Republic of Moldova No. 88-91/182 of December 12, 1997) 

 National Standard for Accounting No. 30 “Disclosures in the Financial Statements of 

Banks and Other Financial Institutions,” Department of Finance Order No. 174 of 

December 25, 1997 (Official Monitor of Republic of Moldova No. 88-91/182 of 

December 12, 1997) 

 Regulation No. 1/09 on Agreements with Individuals Affiliated with Commercial 

Banks, Including Credit Issuance (Report No. 31 of November 10, 1995) (Official 

Monitor No. 67 of November 30, 1995) 

 Regulation No. 3/09 on Large Credit (Report No. 37 of December 1, 1995) (Official 

Monitor No. 70 of December 14, 1995) 

 Regulation No. 23/09 01 on Bank Licensing (Report No. 37 of August 15, 1996) 

(Official Monitor No. 59-60 of September 12, 1996) 

 Regulation No. 33/09 01 on Extension of Credit to Bank Employees (Report No. 43 of 

September 18, 1996) (Official Monitor No. 64 of October 3, 1996) 

 Regulation No. 34/09 01 on the Issuance of Competence Certificates for Bank 

Auditors (Report No. 46 of October 11, 1996) (Official Monitor of Republic of 

Moldova No. 69 of October 24, 1996) 

 Regulation No. 37/09/01 on the Opening of Bank Offices by Banks (Report No. 51 of 

November 15, 1996) (Official Monitor No. 75-76 of November 21, 1996) 

 Regulation No. 42/09 01 on Holding Significant Interest in a Bank (Report No. 53 of 

November 29, 1996) (Official Monitor No. 80 of December 12, 1996) 

 Regulation No. 53/09 01 on Requirements for Bank Administrators (Report No. 15 of 

March 26, 1997) (Official Monitor No. 24 of April 17, 1997) 

 Regulation on the Preparation and Submission of Audit Reports (Report No. 28 of 

August 7, 1997) (Official Monitor No. 64-65 of October 2, 1997) 

 Regulation on Bank Liquidity, Decision No. 32 (report No. 28 of August 8, 1997) 

(Official Monitor of Republic of Moldova No. 64-65 of October 2, 1997) 

 Regulation on Banks’ Open Foreign Exchange Position, Decision 126 of November 

28, 1997 (Official Monitor of Republic of Moldova No. 112-114 of October 14, 

1997)* 

 Regulation on Banks’ Shares of Corporate Assets, Decision No. 81 of April 9, 1998 

(Official Monitor of Republic of Moldova No. 49 of May 28, 1998) 

 Regulation on Past-Due Credits, Decision No. 130 of May 15, 1998 (Official Monitor 

of Republic of Moldova No. 87-88 of September 24, 1998) 

 Regulation on Credit Classification and Establishment of Reductions for Credit Losses 

(Reserve Funds), Decision No. 164of June 22, 1998, Report No. 24 (Official Monitor 

of Republic of Moldova No. 87-89 of September 24, 1998) 

 Regulation on Managing Interest Rate Risk, Decision No. 249 of the Board of 

Directors of the National Bank of Moldova of September 22, 1999 (Official Monitor of 

Republic of Moldova No. 109-111 of October 7, 1999) 

 Regulation on Long-Term Investment of Banks in Tangible Assets, Decision No. 384 

of the Board of Directors of the National Bank of Moldova of December 23, 1999 

(Official Monitor of Republic of Moldova No. 1-4 of January 6, 2000) 

 Regulation on Bank Mergers or Partnerships in the Republic of Moldova, Decision No. 

143 of the Board of Directors of the National Bank of Moldova of June 2, 2000 

(Official Monitor of Republic of Moldova No. 65-67 of June 8, 1999) 

 Regulation on the Disclosure of Information on Financial Activities by Banks of the 

Republic of Moldova, Decision No. 392 of the Board of Directors of the National 

Bank of Moldova of December 21, 2000 (Official Monitor of Republic of Moldova 

No. 163-165 of December 29, 2000) 

 Regulation on Risk-Weighted Capital Adequacy, Decision No. 269 of October 17, 

2001 (Official Monitor No. 130 of October 26, 2001) 
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 Regulation on Bank Credit in the Republic of Moldova, Decision No. 153 of 

December 25, 1997 (Official Monitor of Republic of Moldova No. 8/24 of January 30, 

1998) 

 Regulation on the Accounting Organization in the Banks of the Republic of Moldova, 

Decision No. 238 of October 10, 2002 (Official Monitor of Republic of Moldova No. 

144-145 of October 24, 2002) 

 The Chart of Accounts in Accounting of Banks and Other Financial Institutions in the 

Republic of Moldova No. 55/11-01, Decision No. 15 of March 26, 1997 (Official 

Monitor of Republic of Moldova No. 63 of June 14, 2001) 

 Instructions on Preparation and Submission of Financial Statements by Banks, 

Decision No. 36 (Report No. 28 of August 8, 1997), (Official Monitor of Republic of 

Moldova No. 64-65 of October 2, 1997) 

 Recommendations of the National Bank of Moldova on Internal Control Systems 

within the Commercial Banks of the Republic of Moldova, Decision No. 330 of the 

Board of Directors of November 9, 1998 (Official Monitor of Republic of Moldova 

No. 14-15 of February 12, 1999) 

 Recommendations on the Establishment of Programs for Preventing and Combating 

Money Laundering by Banks of the Republic of Moldova, Decision No. 94 of April 

25, 2002 (Official Monitor of Republic of Moldova No. 59-61 of May 2, 2002) 

 Regulation on Procedures for Establishment and Implementation of Remedial 

Measures and Sanctions, Decision No. 92 of October 27, 1997 (internal 

recommendations). 

 Policy on the Discussion of Information in Control Reports with Bank Management, 

Decision No. 92 of October 27, 1997 (internal recommendations) 

 Manual on On-site Inspections (internal recommendations) (approved by the vice-

governor of the National Bank of Moldova on February 12, 1999) 

 Manual on Bank Authorization (internal recommendations) (approved by the Vice-

Governor of the National Bank of Moldova on February 26, 1999) 

 Manual on the Analysis of Financial Institutions (internal recommendations) (approved 

by the vice-governor of the National Bank of Moldova on March 22, 1999) 

 Internal Procedures on Monitoring Reports and Letters to Management from External 

Auditors (internal recommendations) (approved by the vice-governor of the National 

Bank of Moldova on June 29, 2000) 

 

In Moldova there are currently a set of reform projects under discussion, e.g. 

methods of examining IT 

 ensure compliance of the guidelines for on-site controls with legislative and normative 

acts 

 banks strategies for increasing capital 

 banks problems on micro finance 

 introduction of new Basel recommendations 

 implementation of banks’ internal policies concerning deposit protection 

 developing new law on external auditors 

 

Articles 4 and 25 (2) of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova define the objective 

of the National Bank of Moldova as assuring the stability and soundness of the Moldovan 

financial system. The various provisions of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova and the 

Law on Financial Institutions cover monitoring the activities of banks regarding conformity 

with laws, compulsory prudential ratios and regulations and, within its jurisdiction, enabling 

the National Bank of Moldova to take measures necessary for ensuring adherence to laws, 

norms and regulations. Under Article 5 of the Law of the National Bank of Moldova, the 

national bank, via its Department of Banking Regulation and Supervision, is responsible for 

banking supervision in Moldova. It is the sole authority for carrying out banking supervision 

for banking institutions licensed under this law. In particular, National Bank of Moldova is 

authorized to 
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 establish the required regulations and take appropriate remedial measures; 

 Supervise each financial institution; 

 Solicit information from any employee of a financial institution; 

 Prescribe remedial measures to each institution or apply the sanctions stipulated in the Law 

on Financial Institutions. 

 

In addition, in accordance with the Law on Financial Institutions, the National Bank of 

Moldova, in its capacity as supervisory institution, has the following obligations: 

 Each bank and each of its branches will be subject to inspections conducted by National 

Bank of Moldova inspectors or auditors assigned by National Bank of Moldova (Article 

37(2)). 

 Each bank and each of its branches will provide access in the bank for the National Bank 

of Moldova inspectors and auditors assigned by National Bank of Moldova and will 

cooperate with them (Article 37(3)). 

 As part of the inspections in banks and their branches, the inspectors and auditors are 

entitled to: (1) check the accounts, records, and any other documents; (2) request 

information about transactions and other operations from managers, clerks, and agents of 

the banks and their branches (Article 37(4)). 

 In order to ensure supervision and regulation of the operations of financial institutions, the 

National Bank of Moldova is authorized to issue standards, to conduct inspections in these 

institutions, to check records, accounts and other documents, and to take any action for the 

implementation of this law (Article 40). 

 

Pursuant to Articles 44 and 75 of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova and Articles 10 

and 38 of the Law on Financial Institutions, in the event that it is proved that the financial 

institution, its owners, or managers have violated these laws, National Bank of Moldova 

standards, authorization terms, fiduciary obligations, or in the event that they have engaged in 

risky or questionable operations, the National Bank of Moldova may take remedial measures or 

apply sanctions. In addition, in the event that it is proved that the bank is insolvent or if its 

capital constitutes less than 2/3 of the necessary regulatory capital , the National Bank of 

Moldova will withdraw the license and inform the competent court, which will initiate an 

insolvency lawsuit. There is no legal basis for forcing a problem bank to merge with another 

institution. 

 

A defined mechanism for coordinating actions between agencies responsible for banking 

supervision and evidence that it is used in practice has, in the opinion of the National Bank of 

Moldova, not been necessary until now, as the National Bank of Moldova has sole 

responsibility for the supervision of Moldovan commercial banks. The National Bank of 

Moldova does cooperate with the Ministry of Finance and other parts of the government to a 

limited extent. Concerning banks conducting underwriting etc. or banks owning a controlling 

interest in the capital of insurance companies, there is no defined process of cooperation in 

place between the National Securities Commission or the responsible authority for insurance 

supervision(presently within the MOF) and the National Bank of Moldova. 

 

With regard to the additional criteria of the Core Principles Methodology, the findings are 

positive: Pursuant to Articles 1, 8, 13, 68, and 69 of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova, 

the National Bank of Moldova is responsible to parliament; the National Bank of Moldova 

Governor, or the members of the Board of Directors of the National Bank of Moldova must 

explain its policy to parliament; the National Bank of Moldova is subject to external audits 

conducted by independent external auditors; each year, the bank submits to parliament and 

publishes a report on its activity.  

 

The National Bank of Moldova publishes an annual report, which contains a brief section on 

supervision and regulation of bank operations, including financial indicators of the banking 

system. Article 13 of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova stipulates the publishing of the 
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report 

 quarterly, information about financial indicators of the banking system is published in the 

media (Article 69 of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova stipulates the publishing of 

the information provided); 

 monthly, information about assets, capital, bonds, as well as financial indicators of the 

banking system of the Republic of Moldova is published on the National Bank of Moldova 

website; 

 monthly, information about the basic data of commercial banks operations is published in 

the media; 

 information about the development of the banking system of the Republic of Moldova for 

the previous quarter that is published on the National Bank of Moldova website is 

published in quarterly bulletins. 

 

Article 30 of the Law on Financial Institutions determines that "a financial institution shall 

regularly publish truthful information about its financial activity, and terms of conditions 

associated with the deposits made and credits extended, including the rate of interest, in 

accordance with regulations issued by the National Bank". Articles 33 and 35 of the Law on 

Financial Institutions lay down the consolidated and financial statements and lay down the 

form of and the deadlines for the financial statements to be published or made available to the 

public. 

Assessment Compliant. 

Comments If banks conducting underwriting and distribution of debt and equity securities and dealing in 

equity securities, which needs a separate license of the National Securities Commission, or if 

banks are involved in insurance business, there is no defined mechanism for coordinating 

actions between the Department of Banking Regulation and Supervision of the National Bank 

of Moldova and the National Securities Commission. 

Principle 1(2) Each such agency should possess operational independence and adequate resources. 

Description Article 1 (1) of the Law of the National Bank of Moldova created the National Bank of 

Moldova as an autonomous legal entity which is responsible to parliament. Article 22 of the 

Law on the National Bank of Moldova states that the National Bank shall be formed of 

departments, divisions, services and other subdivisions and shall be managed by the Council of 

Administration. The National Bank of Moldova fulfills its responsibilities of authorization, 

supervision, and regulation of financial institutions operation through the Department of 

Banking Regulation and Supervision, which has two divisions comprising five sections 

altogether. The head of this department reports directly to the vice-governor responsible for 

banking supervision. 

 

The Council of Administration is composed of five members: 

 Governor of the National Bank - Chairman of the Council 

 First Vice-Governor of the National Bank - Vice-Chairman of the Council 

 three vice-governors of the National Bank. 

 

The Governor of the National Bank is nominated by parliament at the proposal of the Chairman 

of the Parliament. The Governor has immunity status. The First Vice-Governor and the Vice-

Governors of the National Bank are nominated by parliament at the proposal of the Governor 

of the National Bank. Candidates for membership on the Council of Administration must be 

citizens of the Republic of Moldova; they must be persons of recognized integrity and 

professional experience. The term of each member of the Council of Administration shall be 

seven years; provided that the completion dates of the terms of individual members of the 

Council, as far as practicable, shall be spread evenly over each seven year period. Members of 

the Council of Administration shall be eligible for reappointment, unless a ground for removal 

under Article 27 applies. Article 27 of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova clearly states 

the rationale and required process for removal of any of these officials. It not stated that the 

reason for removal must be publicly disclosed. 
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Article 25 (2c) of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova states: In carrying out its 

functions, the Council of Administration shall examine statements on the monetary and 

economic condition of the Republic. To that end, the Vice-Chairman of the Council shall be 

responsible for ensuring that the departments, divisions and sections shall periodically submit 

statements on the soundness of the financial system, including the banking system. 

 

Under Article 44 of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova, "the National Bank is 

exclusively responsible for the licensing, supervision, and regulation of financial institutions’ 

activity. To that end, the National Bank is empowered: 

 to issue necessary regulations and to take actions in order to execute its powers and duties 

under this Law, through proper licensing and supervision standards and to establish the 

procedure of application of regulations and actions mentioned above; 

 to cause an inspection to be made, at its discretion, by any of its officers or by any other 

qualified person appointed to that effect, of any financial institution and to examine its 

books, documents and accounts, the conditions of its affairs and whether it is in 

compliance with the Law and regulations; 

 to require any officer or employee of the financial institution to furnish to the National 

Bank such information as requested for the purpose of enabling the National Bank to 

supervise and regulate financial institutions; 

 to cause any financial institution to take remedial actions or to enforce penalties provided 

in the Law on Financial Institutions if the financial institution or its employees: 

 have violated the provision of the Law on Financial Institutions or a regulation of the 

National Bank; - have violated a fiduciary duty; 

 have begun the unsafe or unsound operations of the financial institution or any of its 

subsidiaries. 

 

This gives, in general, the National Bank of Moldova and in its Department of Banking 

Regulation and Supervision the necessary independence and adequate powers. As a result of 

the meetings with the National Bank of Moldova, there is no visible evidence of any 

government or industry interference in the work of the National Bank of Moldova. However, 

according to Article 8 (2b) Law on the National Bank of Moldova "the ministers responsible 

for economic and financial matters may attend meetings of the Council of Administration of the 

National Bank". As such participation has no restriction, interference by the government cannot 

be ruled out. 

 

The National Bank of Moldova has budgetary independence because it is not part of the 

expense calculation of the central government’s budget. The total budget for banking 

supervision is a part of the National Bank of Moldova budget. In general, the Supervision 

Department within the National Bank of Moldova is financed in a manner that does not 

undermine its autonomy or independence and permits it to conduct effective supervision and 

oversight. The National Bank of Moldova’s Council of Administration approves the National 

Bank of Moldova’s annual budget and decides on the allocation of residual amounts to capital 

projects and payments to the government. The Department of Banking Regulatio\ and 

Supervision’s funding is not derived from fees. Concerning banking supervision, the National 

Bank of Moldova charge banks only in the case of granting a license. 

 

The National Bank of Moldova's banking supervision staff has credibility based on their 

professionalism and integrity. The banks raised no major concerns about the professionalism or 

integrity of the National Bank of Moldova staff. The present supervisory strength is around 42 

staff (+ 2 vacancies) having supervisory functions. For the present level of responsibility, 

staffing levels seem to be adequate. The turnover level of 5% in the year 2003 is low. The 

salary policy of the National Bank of Moldova is based on the labor market situation only to an 

extent; salaries are competitive with other governmental agencies. The National Bank of 

Moldova does not use the ability to hire outside experts to deal with special situations. The 

National Bank of Moldova's travel budget for on-site work allows appropriate supervision to be 
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carried out also on a consolidated basis for their banking entities. Training is identified as an 

important issue in the National bank to get and maintain and increase the level of the staff’s 

qualification. In this context, the employees of the supervisory institution participate 

continually in seminars on banking supervision organized by international financial institutions 

– IMF, World Bank, Basel Committee, Bundesbank, Netherlands Central Bank, Bank of 

France, National Bank of Poland, National Bank of Romania, etc. During these seminars, 

employees acquire information about the experience of other countries, which is used for 

banking supervision in the Republic of Moldova. 

Assessment Largely compliant. 

Comments As a result of the meetings with the National Bank of Moldova, there is no visible evidence of 

any government or industry interference in the work of the National Bank of Moldova. 

However, pursuant to Article 8 (2b) Law on the National Bank of Moldova the ministers 

responsible for economic and financial matters may attend meetings of the Council of 

Administration of the National Bank. As such participation has no restriction, interference by 

the government cannot be ruled out. 

 

Although the Department of Banking Regulation and Supervision is funded from the overall 

budget of the National Bank of Moldova, a separate budget for this department under the roof of 

the National Bank should be set up to ensure that adequate resources are provided e.g. to allow 

adequate payment of staff, and to fulfill its function in the future in a appropriate manner. The 

availability of external and locally delivered training by a variety of donor agencies has negated 

the National Bank of Moldova’s need to finance training of its personnel. At some point in the 

future, as these opportunities lessen, additional internal resources will need to be made available 

for this purpose. 

Principle 1(3) A suitable legal framework for banking supervision is also necessary, including provisions 

relating to authorization of banking establishments and their ongoing supervision. 

Description The Law on the National Bank of Moldova (Article 5, 44), Law on Financial Institutions 

(Chapter II, “Licensing banks”) and Regulation No. 23/09/01 on Bank Licensing stipulate that 

the National Bank of Moldova is the single authority for licensing financial institutions, 

including banks, and establishes the method and criteria of licensing. Pursuant to Article 13(4) 

of Law on Financial Institutions, the banks are authorized to open branch offices and 

subsidiaries only after prior agreement of the National Bank of Moldova on the conditions 

stipulated in the Regulation No. 37/09-01 on the Opening of Branch Offices by Banks. The Law 

on the National Bank of Moldova (Article 44 and 75) and Law on Financial Institutions (Article 

10 and 38) stipulate the exclusive right of the National Bank of Moldova to withdraw the 

authorizations of the banks that violate the stipulations of the relevant law. 

 

In order to organize and exercise supervision, the National Bank of Moldova has the right under 

the Law on the National Bank of Moldova and the Law on Financial Institutions to issue 

regulations and recommendations. This instrument is used quite often because amendments of 

the law are a time-consuming process and need the initiative of the Ministry of Economy or the 

parliament. Article 44 and 47 of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova and Article 22 and 

40 of the Law on Financial Institutions give the National Bank of Moldova the right to demand 

any information that it requires for the purposes of supervising banks, in the form and at the 

frequency it deems necessary. 

Assessment Compliant. 

Comments  

Principle 1(4) A suitable legal framework for banking supervision is also necessary, including powers to 

address compliance with laws, as well as safety and soundness concerns. 

Description The National Bank of Moldova is empowered to take measures for the observance of the 

relevant laws and regulations and to apply legal sanctions in cases of infringement. The Law on 

the National Bank of Moldova and the Law on Financial Institutions Act permits the supervisor 

to apply qualitative judgment in forming his opinion. The supervisor has unfettered access to 

banks’ files in order to review compliance with internal rules and limits as well as external law 

and regulations. Based on this information, the National Bank of Moldova is free to assess the 
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evidence and to formulate its judgment with regard to the supervised institutions’ compliance 

with law and regulations and decides itself with regard to the statutory framework whether and 

how to make use of its sanction powers. Pursuant to Article 44 of the Law on the National Bank 

of Moldova and Article 37 of the Law on Financial Institutions, the National Bank of Moldova 

is authorized to request financial reports in accordance with its regulations, conduct inspections 

at commercial banks, as well as check their records, documents, and accounts, the conditions 

under which they operate, and compliance by these institutions with the law. 

 

In the event that a financial institution, its owners or managers violate this law, the National 

Bank of Moldova standards, the licensing conditions, fiduciary obligations, or engage in risky 

or questionable operations, the National Bank of Moldova (pursuant to Article 38 of the Law on 

Financial Institutions) may take remedial measures and apply sanctions, including withdrawal 

of license. The National Bank of Moldova may apply a written warning to the bank, limit the 

bank’s operations, impose a fine, withdraw the authorization granted to the bank managers, or 

withdraw of the bank’s license. Remedy measures include inter alia drawing up a plan to 

increase the bank’s own funds, setting up – by the bank’s Board of Directors – of committees 

for supervision of loan administration, asset and liability management, or improvement of the 

internal audit. However, the National Bank of Moldova does not have the power to take prompt 

remedial actions.  

 

It should be mentioned that the National Bank of Moldova itself has the power to issue formal 

enforceable decisions. Under Article 38 Law on Financial Institutions it is possible to appeal 

against these decisions. The decisions of the National Bank of Moldova may not be challenged, 

but the National Bank shall pay all material claims and the revocation of the license shall be 

valid. 

 

The National Bank of Moldova may establish special supervision of banks under its section of 

Economic Analysis, for infringement of the law or of the prudential regulations, discovered in 

the course of on-site supervision and/or the analysis of the bank reports, as well as in the case of 

finding a poor financial standing. 

Assessment Compliant. 

Comments The National Bank of Moldova has a wide range of remedial measures, sanctions and penalties 

at its disposal. The National Bank of Moldova does not have the power to take prompt remedial 

actions, which would be a helpful tool but is not a precondition in context to the Basle Core 

Principles. Further assessment and discussion is included under CP 22. 

Principle 1(5) A suitable legal framework for banking supervision is also necessary, including legal 

protection for supervisors. 

Description Legal protection for supervisors is currently not being addressed. No law provides for legal 

protection to the supervisory agency and its staff for actions taken while discharging their duties 

in good faith. There is no formal National Bank of Moldova indemnification policy protecting 

employees against the costs of defending their actions while discharging their duties 

Assessment Non-compliant. 

Comments The official opinion of the National Bank of Moldova is that such provisions are not necessary 

as, pursuant to Article 38 (7), banks may only complain against the National Bank of Moldova. 

The issues dealt with by CP 1(5) have not arisen in a practical context. In the opinion of the 

mission team, legislation supporting the legal protection of National Bank of Moldova officials, 

especially in the area of banking supervision, needs to be adopted. As the supervisory powers of 

the National Bank of Moldova are enhanced, and the sophistication of the banking sector 

increases, issues concerning legal protection of banking supervisors are more likely to arise. 

Principle 1(6) Arrangements for sharing information between supervisors and protecting the confidentiality 

of such information should be in place. 

Description Only a limited system of cooperation and information sharing between all domestic agencies 

with responsibility for the soundness of the financial system is in place. A formal process for 

exchanging information is, in the opinion of National Bank of Moldova representatives, not 

relevant as the National Bank of Moldova has sole responsibility for the supervision of 
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Moldovan commercial banks. However, the National Bank of Moldova liaises with other 

governmental bodies or domestic agencies. In this context these are the Ministry of Finance, 

which regulates savings and loan associations, and the Center for Prevention of Economic 

Crimes and Corruption concerning money laundering and terrorist financing. For the exchange 

of information with other domestic agencies - if banks conducting underwriting and distribution 

of debt and equity securities and dealing in equity securities which need a separate license or if 

banks are involved in the insurance business - there is no defined mechanism for coordinating 

actions between the Department of Banking Regulation and Supervision of the National Bank 

of Moldova and the National Securities Commission or the authority responsible for insurance 

supervision. There exists no exchange of letters with, for example, the Ministry of Finance and 

Ministry of Interior or other authorities involved in supervision giving the National Bank of 

Moldova the power to disclose information at the discretion of the National Bank of Moldova. 

 

There is a system of formal cooperation and formal information sharing with foreign agencies 

in place. The National Bank of Moldova executed agreements for cooperation in banking 

supervision with the National Bank of Romania, the Central Bank of Russian Federation and the 

National Bank of Belarus, which were established based upon the document of the Basel 

Committee “Essential elements of a cooperation agreement between banking supervisors.” In 

addition, such an agreement with the Ukraine will be concluded in July 2004. An exchange of 

"letter of intent" is agreed with the National Bank of Kazakhstan. The National Bank of 

Moldova has the authority to request information and documents from foreign banks and 

financial market supervisory authorities. However, according to the Law on the National Bank 

of Moldova and the Law on Financial Institutions, the National Bank of Moldova does not have 

the authority to undertake direct inspections in a subsidiary (not a branch of the bank) that a 

Moldovan bank might establish in the future outside of Moldova. 

 

Article 36 (2d) of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova specifically allows the disclosure 

of information "to foreign financial institution supervisory authorities". The Law exempts such 

sharing from the Commercial Secrecy Law. The National Bank of Moldova is not required to 

perform any particular due diligence to ensure that information provided to another supervisor 

is kept in confidence. The Law on the National Bank of Moldova specifically defines the 

institutions, both domestic and international, that can be provided with confidential information. 

Although not specifically stated, the belief is that other authorities which may demand 

confidential information would be denied access (citing the lack of authorization in the Law on 

the National Bank of Moldova, and the terms of the Commercial Secrets Law). 

 

The National Bank of Moldova is able to deny any demand for confidential information in its 

possession. While the Law on Commercial Secrecy, Article 11, p 3, the Law on Anti-Money 

Laundering, Article 6 (3), and the Code on Administrative Contravention, Article 174/21 all 

prevent and/or penalize persons that are entrusted with confidential information who divulge 

such information, the three laws do not apply to third party recipients of the confidential 

information. 

Assessment Materially non-compliant. 
Comments Currently, there are only limited ties between insurance companies, pension funds, credit unions 

and deposit taking institutions. Pursuant to Article 17 of the Law on Enterprises and Ownership 

and the Law on Joint Stock Companies, the risk of investments in non-bank entities is restricted 

to the amount of the investment, for example, of banks in insurance companies. However, an 

inherent reputational risk for the bank would not be considered. 

 

There there is no defined mechanism for coordinating actions and there are no agreements or 

legal authorizations in place for sharing of information between the Department of Banking 

Regulation and Supervision of the National Bank of Moldova and the Ministry of Finance and 

other financial sector supervisors on specific institutions that they regulate, even if there are 

common ownership or related party characteristics. 
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In addition, it would be desirable to have greater clarity of the legal gateways for an exchange 

of confidential information and the implementation of necessary provisons for the restrictions 

on the usage of these onfidential information . 

Principle 2. Permissible Activities 

The permissible activities of institutions that are licensed and subject to supervision as banks 

must be clearly defined, and the use of the word “bank” in names should be controlled as far 

as possible. 

Description The term bank is clearly defined under Article 3 of the Law on Financial Institutions: "Bank 

means a financial institution, accepting deposits or equivalents of individuals or their entities, 

transferable by different payment instruments and utilizing these funds in whole or in part for 

lending and investing on its own account and risk". Pursuant to Article 12 of the Law on 

Financial Institutions, no individual can perform financial operations without an authorization 

issued by the National Bank of Moldova, and no individual, except for banks, can accept 

personal deposits or their equivalent. Article 12 (2) states that no person other than a bank shall 

accept household deposits or their equivalent. 

 

Article 26 of the Law on Financial Institutions lists in detail the transactions and actions that are 

permissible for credit institutions including those that are directly ancillary or supplemental to 

its principal activity. The authorization for performing financial operations is issued in 

accordance with the stipulations of Article 6, 7, and 26 of the Law on Financial Institutions and 

under the terms stipulated in Regulation No. 23/09-01 on Bank Licensing. Pursuant to Article 

26, Paragraph 3 of the above-mentioned law, a bank cannot engage in financial activities that 

are not included in the authorization. 

Assessment Compliant. 

Comments  

Principle 3. Licensing Criteria 

The licensing authority must have the right to set criteria and reject applications for 

establishments that do not meet the standards set. The licensing process, at a minimum, 

should consist of an assessment of the banking organization’s ownership structure, directors 

and senior management, its operating plan and internal controls, and its projected financial 

condition, including its capital base; where the proposed owner or parent organization is a 

foreign bank, the prior consent of its home country supervisor should be obtained. 

Description Prior to engaging in banking activities in Moldova, each institution is obliged to obtain a license 

from the National Bank of Moldova (Article 12 (1) of the Law on Financial Institutions), which 

is the sole and independent authority for granting banking licenses (Article 5 and 44 of the Law 

on the National Bank of Moldova as well as Article 4 of the Law on Financial Institutions). A 

Moldovan banking license is considered as a universal bank license, but could exclude 

specialized business fields, such as dealing in foreign currencies or providing investment 

portfolio management (Article 26 of the Law on Financial Institutions). 

 

The criteria and method of issuance of the licenses for financial institutions by the National 

Bank of Moldova are specified in the stipulations of Article 6 and Article 7 of the Law on 

Financial Institutions and Regulation No. 23/09-01 on Bank Licensing, Regulation No. 42/09-

01 on Holding Significant Interest in a Bank, Regulation No. 53/09-01 on Bank Manager 

Requirements. Procedures and methods of license issuance are established through internal 

recommendations and formalized in the Manual on Bank Licensing, approved by the National 

Bank of Moldova governor on February 26, 1999. Article 6 of the Law on Financial Institutions 

provides the criteria for issuing licenses consistent with those applied in ongoing supervision. 

 

The respective regulation gives the National Bank of Moldova the right to reject applications if 

the criteria are not fulfilled or if the information provided is inadequate. The Law on Financial 

Institutions read in conjunction with the regulation on licensing banks enables the National 

Bank of Moldova to determine that the proposed legal and managerial structures of the bank 

will not hinder effective supervision. Article 6 (1d) and Article 7 (2b) of the Law on Financial 

Institutions and the annexes to the regulation on licensing banks help the National Bank of 

Moldova to a limited extent to determine the suitability of administrators, all shareholders, 
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transparency of ownership structure.  

 

The Regulation on Requirements for Bank Managers, based on Article 21 of the Law on 

Financial Institutions, establishes the criteria for qualification, experience, business reputation, 

lack of criminal record and evidence that they might have been responsible for prior financial or 

administrative issues, tax evasions, etc. These individuals must be accepted by the National 

Bank of Moldova before starting work. During their on-site inspections, National Bank of 

Moldova inspectors check whether bank employees who conduct activities on behalf of the 

bank are approved by the National Bank of Moldova. 

 

Pursuant to Article 7 (2) of the Law on Financial Institutions, it is established whether the 

qualification, experience and integrity of the shareholders, who own significant shares, and 

bank managers are in compliance with the business plan and financial operations for which the 

bank will be licensed. The capacity of the shareholders to acquire bank shares will be 

established in compliance with Article 14 of the Law on Financial Institutions and the 

Regulation on Bank Licensing, based on the financial documents provided. 

 

Regulation No. 23/09-01 on Bank Licensing, based on Article 14 of the Law on Financial 

Institutions requires a the new bank must have a paid-in capital of at least 50 million lei  (the 

minimum requirement for a new bank with a restricted license -  category A). In cases where, 

according to the business plan, the projected activity requires more funds, – which is normally 

the case, – and an unrestricted license – category C, the initial capital is required to be 150 

million lei. Article 7 together with Article 6 of the Law on Financial Institutions and the 

regulation provide for a review of, strategic and operating plans, structure and policies and 

procedures, internal control procedures and system for appropriate oversight of the credit 

institution’s activities in the proposed credit institution, etc. This means that the bank to be 

licensed has to set up an organization that is able to meet the demands of the projected business. 

In this regard, its by-laws and internal regulations have to clearly define the type and 

geographical limits of the planned banking activity and, accordingly, the internal organization 

for that activity. Furthermore, the bank’s responsibilities and the internal control procedures 

have to be described. The National Bank of Moldova checks the internal regulations of the 

future bank issued in accordance with Article 17 of the Law on Financial Institutions, including 

the organization and functions of the bank units and the competency of bank managers and 

employees. Laws and regulation contains detailed guidelines concerning the documents to 

accompany the authorization application, i.e. pro forma financial statement, the financial 

information on the principal shareholders. The National Bank of Moldova grants authorization 

if, in the opinion of the Banking Supervision Department, the business plan of the credit 

institution being founded is feasible and the above-noted criteria are met. 

 

The bank’s business plan, established for the next three years, is reviewed during the licensing 

process, in accordance with Article 6 of the Law on Financial Institutions and the Regulation on 

Bank Licensing. In addition, the bank’s capacity to operate in accordance with the law and the 

shareholders’ financial capacity to support the bank in the future are assessed. 

 

Under Article 10 of the Law on Financial Institutions, the National Bank of Moldova has the 

authority to revoke a license if it determines that the license was knowingly based on false 

information. The regulation on licensing banks give the National Bank of Moldova the power to 

penalize bank management if incorrect information has been furnished to the National Bank of 

Moldova. 

 
According to Article 13 of the Law on Financial Institutions, the banks of the Republic of 

Moldova may open subsidiaries and branches in other countries only upon prior approval by the 

National Bank of Moldova on the conditions established in standards adopted by the National 

Bank of Moldova. Article 6 (3) of the Law on Financial Institutions specifies that a foreign bank 

branch will be subject to the licensing conditions laid down by the Regulation on licensing of 

Banks. The licensing process for foreign banks subsidiaries require procedures similar to those 



 - 22 - 

applying to domestic banks. Pursuant to Article 7(6) of the Law on Financial Institutions, the 

foreign banks are issued licenses for branches and subsidiaries in the event that 

 in the country of origin, the foreign bank is authorized to attract deposits or other 

reimbursable funds; 

 the competent authorities of the country of origin that supervise the financial activity of the 

foreign bank at its head office have approved in writing the issuance of such a license; 

 the National Bank acknowledges that the foreign bank is appropriately supervised, on a 

consolidated basis, by competent authorities in the country of origin. 

 

Once the license is issued, commercial banks are monitored on the basis of financial reports 

submitted to the National Bank of Moldova; after six months, an on-site inspection is conducted 

in order to ensure that the bank is complying with the requirements of the license and business 

plan. 

 

During the last six years (1998-2004) the National Bank of Moldova has issued licenses for 3 

banks, but in the same period two licenses were withdrawn because of those banks’ insolvency, 

and one license was withdrawn at the bank’s request (voluntary liquidation).  

Assessment Largely compliant. 

Comments The National Bank of Moldova determines the suitability of major shareholders, transparency of 

ownership structure and source of initial capital only to a limited extent. A description of the 

corporate structure should be in place to obtain transparency. 

Principle 4. Ownership 

Banking supervisors must have the authority to review and reject any proposals to transfer 

significant ownership or controlling interests in existing banks to other parties.
 

Description A direct or indirect holding in a company which represents the equivalent of 10 per cent or 

more of the share capital or votes in the company is deemed to be a qualifying holding (Article 

3 of the Law on Financial Institutions). Under Article 15 (1) and Regulation No. 42/09-01 on 

Holding Significant Interest in a Bank, prior authorization is required for a person (Article 3 of 

the Law on Financial Institutions) to seek to acquire a qualifying holding in a bank or to 

increase a qualifying holding so that the proportion of the share capital or votes in the bank held 

by that person exceeds 25, 33, 50 per cent or that the bank would become controlled by that 

person. Such transactions are made upon the written approval of the National Bank of Moldova, 

which is issued in accordance with Article 7 (2), which gives the National Bank of Moldova the 

power to enforce the “fit and proper” requirement. 

 

In the event that the transfer was made without permission from the National Bank of Moldova, 

the shareholders are denied the right of vote based upon the size of the share exceeding the 

above-mentioned limits (Article 15 (1) of the Law on Financial Institutions) and, within three 

months, the bank must obtain permission from the National Bank of Moldova or sell the shares 

it acquired without permission.  

 

The banking legislation applies no quantitative limitation on ownership in banks. Every month, 

commercial banks must submit reports on bank shareholders who own over 3 percent of the 

shares of bank capital, identifying the individuals and groups that own significant shares in the 

bank capital (Instructions on Preparation and Submission of Financial Reports by Banks). 

 

Pursuant to Article 10 (1g) of the Law on Financial Institutions, the National Bank of Moldova 

may revoke a bank’s license if the owner of a significant percentage in shares in the bank has 

transferred or lost such interest without written approval by the National Bank of Moldova. 

 

During on-site inspections, National Bank of Moldova inspectors establish whether the banks 

have internal procedures regarding the collection and analysis of information about the 

shareholders of the bank as required by Article 15(1) of the Law on Financial Institutions. 

Assessment Materially non-compliant. 

Comments The National Bank of Moldova does not obtain the identities of beneficial owners of shares 
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being held by custodians in order to receive transparency of the ownership structure. This issue 

has to be assessed as serious, as five banks have the majority of their shareholders comprised of 

a number of 9.9 percent or smaller stakes, most which are, domiciled off-shore. Moreover, at 

least two other banks have more than 30 percent of their capital in the form of separate share 

holdings of less than 9.9 percent. None of these controlling bank shareholders are obliged to 

fulfill existing fit and proper regulations for shareholdings of 10 percent or larger. As the 

existing prudential regulations do not require the National Bank of Moldova to determine the 

beneficial owner of these mostly off-shore corporations, the true owners of these banks 

controlling shareholdings cannot determined with certainty. This situation also affects 

prudential regulation on lending to connected or related parties. 
 

To obtain transparency on the structure of shareholders it is recommended to decrease the limit 

of a significant ownership or controlling interest for approval from 10 percent to 5 percent. The 

bank has to notify the National Bank of Moldova immediately in advance of such an event. In 

addition, the National Bank of Moldova should be granted the power to analyze all 

shareholdings in banks (below the new 5 percent limit) or at their discretion to obtain full 

transparency on the shareholder structure of a bank. Until approval is granted, voting rights and 

payment of dividends to these shareholders should be suspended. 

Principle 5. Investment Criteria  

Banking supervisors must have the authority to establish criteria for reviewing major 

acquisitions or investments by a bank and ensuring that corporate affiliations or structures do 

not expose the bank to undue risks or hinder effective supervision. 

Description The value of a single equity interest (except equity interests in domestic banks) should not 

exceed 15 percent of a bank's regulatory capital and 10% of the capital of the subsidiary or 

affiliated company. The total value of a bank’s equity interests may not exceed 50 percent of a 

bank’s regulatory capital. If the aforementioned limits are exceeded, written authorization of the 

National Bank of Moldova is required. The monitoring of the risk inherent in investments and 

the investment policy of credit institution, is part of the on-site examinations. The regulation 

specifies the criteria for the review of the applications submitted by commercial banks. 

 

The applications are approved for banks that have a satisfactory financial status and are not 

subject to remedial measures dictated by the National Bank of Moldova. As a result, these 

banks are able to invest in corporate assets.The review of applications for an increase of 

previously owned shares will lead to a decision regarding the increase in shares if a bank’s 

status changes, or the economic status of the corporation worsens, and the acquisition may 

affect the bank’s financial status. 

 

The above mentioned limits are not valid for banks aquisitions of banks. In such a case the 

reporting and approval requirements of CP 4 come into effect. The Regulation on Bank Mergers 

or Partnerships establishes the following restrictions on the dominant position on the banking 

market: 

 a bank’s total assets should not exceed 30 percent of the total assets of the entire banking 

system; 

 individuals’ deposits in a single bank should not exceed 30 percent of the total deposits of 

individuals in the entire banking system. 

 

Every month, in accordance with the instructions on preparation and submission of financial 

reports by banks, the banks report to the National Bank of Moldova on their ownership of all 

the shares in corporate assets as well as investments in long-term tangible assets. 

Assessment Compliant. 

Comments Apart from the aforementioned limits for long term investments outside the financial sector, it 

would be desirable to have provisions that clearly define what types and amounts of 

acquisitions and investments need supervisory approval or criteria by which to judge individual 

proposals. 
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The Regulation does not specifically require banks to notify the National Bank of Moldova of 

certain levels of equity investment (those that do not meet the limitations defined in the 

regulation). National Bank of Moldova could develop procedures for banks to simply notify 

investments in non-bank entities that do not meet the thresholds defined by the Regulation. 

 

The current requirement that a banks total assets should not exceed 30 percent of the total assets 

of the entire banking system might inhibit a foreign bank in seeking to establish its presence in 

Moldova, or the  growth of a domestic bank to beyond this limit. 

Principle 6. Capital Adequacy  

Banking supervisors must set minimum capital adequacy requirements for banks that reflect 

the risks that the bank undertakes, and must define the components of capital, bearing in mind 

its ability to absorb losses. For internationally active banks, these requirements must not be 

less than those established in the Basel Capital Accord. 

Description On the basis of Article 14, 25 and 28 of the Law on Financial Institutions, the Regulation on 

Risk-Weighted Capital Adequacy was established, taking into account the stipulations of the 

Basel Capital Accord of 1988. The Regulation on Risk -weighted Capital Adequacy set a 

minimum level of capital for bank at 32 million lei (2005 50 million lei). In addition, the 

Regulation requires all Moldovan banks to maintain a minimum risk-weighted capital ratio of 

12%. The required capital ratio generally addressed specifically credit risk, for both on-balance-

sheet and, to a limited extent, off-balance-sheet items, and generally compliant with the Basel 

Accord of 1988. However, the National Bank of Moldova has not yet implemented the 1996 

amendment to the 1988 Capital Accord to incorporate capital charge for market risk except for 

foreign exchange risk. The absence of Market Risk Amendment is largely due to the minimum 

amount of market risk exposure as Moldovan banks have very small trading portfolios. 

 

The Regulation establishes requirements regarding: 

 the structure of the total regulatory capital that represents the amount of primary capital 

(which includes the amount of ordinary shares, preferred shares with non-established 

dividends and with established non-cumulative dividends, the excess capital to these 

shares, the non-distributed profit without the amount of reserve assets and net intangible 

assets) and of secondary capital (which includes the amount of preferred cumulative and 

partially cumulative shares with non-established maturity, the excess capital for these 

shares, the associated debts with not-established maturity on condition that they 

correspond to real requirements) . 

The amount of secondary capital should not exceed the amount of primary capital; 

 the minimum value of capital that is established based on primary capital in the amount of 

32 million lei (banks must maintain the capital at a level that complies with the license 

category: A 32 million lei, B – 64 million lei, C – 96 million lei); 

 banks shall comply with the prudential requirements on the minimum solvency level, 

determined as a ratio between the level of the bank’s own funds and the total risk weighted 

assets and off-balance sheet items (converted into lending at nominal value on an 

individual basis. The solvency ratio banks have to observe is calculated as the ratio 

between the level of own funds (tier 1 and tier 2 capital) and risk-weighted assets and off-

balance sheet items. The ratio of risk-weighted capital adequacy that must be owned and 

maintained is at least 12 percent. Banks shall report monthly to the National Bank of 

Moldova the level of the solvency indicator. 

 the required capital ratio reflects the risk profile of individual banks, since the regulation 

on solvency prescribes the risk weightings for both on-balance-sheet (0%, 20%, 50%, 

100%) and off-balance-sheet (0%, 50%, 100%) items. The off-balance sheet items were 

converted into the "other loan category" with a risk weight of 100 percent.  

 capital distribution, which sets restrictions for dividend payment or any other capital 

distribution in the event that it will lead to a decrease in capital below the minimum value 

of the required capital and/or the reduction of the ratio of risk-adjusted capital adequacy 

below the levels required by regulations. 
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Article 37 of the Law on Financial Institutions states that "each bank shall prepare and submit to 

the National Bank of Moldova according to its regulations, reports concerning its administration 

and operations, liquidity, solvency, and profitability, and those of its subsidiaries for an 

assessment of the financial condition of the bank and each of its subsidiaries on an individual 

and consolidated basis". Capital ratios are monitored on a solo and on a consolidated basis. 

Currently no bank has subsidiaries so the solo and consolidated ratios are identical, but the 

reporting framework should be adapted to take account of future incidence of subsidiary 

operations which could hamper the monitoring of capital. 

 

The National Bank of Moldova takes comfort from the relatively small trading books of 

Moldovan banks and the large capital buffer in all banks reflected in actual capital ratios close 

to 30% against the minimum of 12%. The off-site division of the National Bank of Moldova is 

responsible to monitor the level of capital adequacy regularly, and the National Bank of 

Moldova informally expects the capital requirements well above 12%. In addition, Article. 38 

(3) of the Law on Financial Institutions gives the National Bank of Moldova the authority to 

intervene if it considers that the bank has adopted a policy, which may seriously affect its 

solvency. 

 

Within the framework of on-site inspections (based on the Manual on On-site Inspections), the 

bank policy for the maintenance of adequate capital is assessed as follows: current and expected 

growth, future earnings, liquidity and resource management, risk-adjusted assets, asset quality, 

etc. In addition, the bank policy will be assessed in terms of adequacy, based upon current and 

planned financial status. 

 

In November 2003, the requirement for minimum capital value increased from 32 million lei for 

A-licensed banks to 50 million lei (100 million lei for B-licensed banks and 150 million lei for 

C-licensed banks) in accordance with the Regulation on Risk-Weighted Capital Adequacy. The 

banks in operation when the new requirement was implemented will gradually increase their 

capital as follows: on June 30, 2004 (the requirement of 40 million lei), on June 30, 2005 (the 

requirement of 45 million lei), and on December 31, 2005 (the requirement of 50 million lei). 

The banks must have and maintain the amount of capital in accordance with the requirement 

and the category of their license. 

Assessment Largely compliant. 

Comments The capital standards in place do not fully account for specific bank differences in risk 

composition other than that provided through the computation of risk weighted assets. Market 

risk, country risk, and additional off balance sheet risks are not specifically accounted for in the 

capital analysis or requirements for a particular bank. A capital charge for non-credit elements 

as mentioned above is necessary for the risk based capital adequacy. In addition, there is a lack 

of requirements to address consolidated financial (bank and non-bank subsidiaries) information. 

Principle 7. Credit Policies 

An essential part of any supervisory system is the independent evaluation of a bank’s policies, 

practices, and procedures related to the granting of loans and making of investments and the 

ongoing management of the loan and investment portfolios. 

Description The Regulation on Credit Classification and Allowance for Loan Losses issued in June 1998, 

and last amended in October 2000, and the Recommendations on the Internal Control Systems 

in Banks issued in November 1998, and subsequently amended in December2003, define the 

credit policies and procedures to be followed by the banks. In most respects, the National Bank 

of Moldova has adopted very comprehensive systems for encouraging banks to maintain 

prudent practices for the review of assets, classification of doubtful assets and determination of 

provisions. 

 

In accordance with Article 47 of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova, and Articles 22 and 

37 of the Law on Financial Institutions, the financial institutions are required to furnish to the 

National Bank of Moldova any information and data the National Bank of Moldova may require 

for the discharge of its functions and responsibilities. 
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The Regulation on Credit Extension to Banks’ Employees first issued in September 1996, and 

last amended in December 2002, establishes the limits for banks employees for fundamental 

needs (maximum limit is minimum wages/per function) and for real estate investment 

(maximum limit is 100 minimum wages/per function). The total debt on extended credits to the 

banks employees must not exceed 10% of the total regulatory capital. . 

 

For details on the Regulation on Large Credits, see CP 9 (Large exposure limits). 

 

The National Bank of Moldova also monitors banks’ asset quality and provisioning on a regular 

basis through comprehensive reports from banks, requires banks to maintain effective internal 

audit systems, and to be audited externally annually, and conducts its own on-site examinations 

annually. Our review of on-site examination reports indicates that the onsite inspectors verify 

that management in the credit area complies with established policies and procedures. The full 

scope yearly inspection process focuses on policy content and compliance. 

Assessment Largely compliant. 

Comments The National Bank of Moldova has established a relatively comprehensive set of guidelines to 

encourage banks to maintain prudent credit policies and practices. The National Bank of 

Moldova’s on-site examinations involve annual full scope assessments of a bank’s systems for 

managing its credit risks, including the quality of a bank’s systems for reviewing and 

classifying loans and other assets, procedures for granting loans, and internal controls connected 

with the credit process, and reviewing that credits are granted free of conflicting interests. The 

supervisors monitor the current financial information on borrowers submitted by banks, which 

contains the total indebtedness of the customer. The inspectors comment upon weaknesses in 

the policies, if any, in the annual reports of inspection. Also, the on-site inspectors have the 

authority to classify loans regardless of objections from bank management. The inspector's 

review whether the relevant bank’s staff is familiar with the bank’s credit policies is 

satisfactorily complying with the prudential guidelines set out by the National Bank of 

Moldova. 

Principle 8. Loan Evaluation and Loan-Loss Provisioning  

Banking supervisors must be satisfied that banks establish and adhere to adequate policies, 

practices, and procedures for evaluating the quality of assets and the adequacy of loan-loss 

provisions and reserves. 

Description The National Bank of Moldova has issued a set of comprehensive guidelines relating to the 

review and classification of a bank’s assets and provisioning. In particular, the Regulation on 

Credit Classification and Allowance for Loan Losses issued in June 1998, and last amended in 

October 2000, sets out comprehensive guidelines for the classification of assets and the 

determination of specific provisions. The Regulation requires banks to classify their loans and 

other assets on a quarterly basis in accordance with the Regulation and the bank’s own policy 

and procedures. Classifications of assets must be made using five categories: Standard; Under 

Supervision; Substandard; Doubtful; and Loss. The required amount of specific provisions to be 

set aside in the Allowance for Loan Losses is 2 percent for Standard loans, 5 percent for Under 

Supervision loans, 30 percent for Substandard loans, 75 percent for Doubtful loans, and 100 

percent for Loss loans. 

 

Credits classified as Loss as of a quarterly reporting date can not be reflected on the bank’s 

balance sheet as of the next reporting date. In addition to the above instructions  for 

classification of credits, the National Bank of Moldova has issued the following guidelines:  

 credits which have been guaranteed by an unconditional and irrevocable Internal State 

Loan Guarantee, can not be classified more adversely than Substandard; 

 credits which have been rolled-over or renegotiated because of the failure to repay the 

principal or interest in a timely manner should be classified Under Supervision if all 

interest earned to the date of rollover has been paid to the bank, and otherwise the credit 

should be classified no better than Doubtful; 

 a credit extended to an enterprise under an agreement/memorandum with the Council of 

State Creditors should be classified Substandard for the entire effective period of the 
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agreement. 

 Credits for which no payment has been made for 60 days or more should be classified no 

better than Substandard. 

 Instalment credits shall be classified no better than substandard as of the date on which the 

credit becomes past due. 

 Any credit which is deliberately renegotiated or rolled-over to avoid adverse classification, 

and when the prospects for repayment have not improved, retains its previous 

classification. 

 

Collateral to loans is reviewed by the on-site inspectors during the examination. The value of 

collateral is not utilised to reduce the loan amount of a classified loan. 

 

Quarterly, in accordance with the instructions on the Preparation and Submission of Financial 

Reports by banks, the National Bank of Moldova receives data from the banks regarding the 

classification and the loan loss reserves of the credit portfolio. 

 

Within the framework of on-site inspections, based upon the Manual of On-Site Inspections 

that is not shared with the supervised banks, the National Bank of Moldova reviews banks’ 

policies and practices for classifying assets and for calculating provisions, and has the authority 

to require a bank to modify aspects of its policies and practices where the National Bank of 

Moldova considers it appropriate to do so. 

Assessment Largely compliant. 

Comments In most respects, the National Bank of Moldova has adopted comprehensive systems for 

encouraging banks to maintain prudent practices for the review of assets, classification of 

doubtful assets and determination of provisions. The guidelines in this area are conservative as 

to the percentage of reserves to be established for the categories Substandard, Doubtful and 

Loss, and provide a credible framework for a prudent classification of asset quality and 

determination of specific provisions. However, the classification system does not include 

instructions on the classification of the off balance sheet exposures and the instruction for the 

classification of renegotiated credits are considered liberal. Renegotiated credits should not be 

placed in the Under Supervision category just because the interest earned on the date of the 

rollover has been paid. 

 

Credit classification is based on the financial condition of the borrower. However, exceptions 

are made for credits extended to an enterprise under an agreement/memorandum with the 

Council of State Creditors. 

 

The National Bank of Moldova also monitors banks’ asset quality and provisioning on a regular 

basis through comprehensive reports received from the banks, requires banks to maintain 

effective internal audit systems, requires banks to be audited externally annually and conducts 

its own on-site examinations annually. The National Bank of Moldova has established an 

internal data base of risk credit information that is based on the monthly reports on the 

customers’ borrowings submitted by all the banks. Within the framework of the onsite 

inspection, the National Bank of Moldova bank supervisors evaluates the bank’s credit policies 

including credit classification. If a loan classification is not considered adequate, the National 

Bank of Moldova instructs management to increase the loan loss reserves in order to minimize 

credit-related risk. Based on our review of the loan analysis process in the report of inspection 

of various banks that were made available to the assessors, the on-site examination process in 

this area is adequate. 

 

However, as mentioned above the National Bank of Moldova should adopt a robust definition 

of problem loan restructuring and instructions should be issued to address the loan loss 

provisioning of some of the off balance sheet accounts. In addition, the National Bank of 

Moldova should strengthen the requirements for banks to operate under documented 

methodologies and require written policies to grade and estimate loss probability especially in 
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the Under Supervision category. 

Principle 9. Large Exposure Limits  

Banking supervisors must be satisfied that banks have management information systems that 

enable management to identify concentrations within the portfolio, and supervisors must set 

prudential limits to restrict bank exposures to single borrowers or groups of related borrowers. 

Description The Regulation on Large Credits first issued in December 1995, and last amended in January 

2003, establishes that net credit exposure of the bank to a person or group of interrelated 

persons shall not exceed 25 percent of the bank’s total regulatory capital, and that large credits 

must be approved in advance by a majority of the Council of the bank. 

 

Also, the Regulation stipulates that the sum of the net credit exposures for credit extensions to 

the largest ten borrowers, including groups of inter-related persons, shall not exceed 50 percent 

of the bank’s total credit portfolio, and the sum of all large credits shall not exceed five times 

the bank’s total Regulatory Capital 

 

In accordance with the Recommendations on Internal Control Systems, the bank must have in 

place procedures that ensure the transmittal of accurate information to bank management about 

the implementation of policies and procedures related to credit operations. 

Assessment Materially non-compliant. 

Comments In most respects, the National Bank of Moldova’s systems for ensuring that banks do not have 

excessive large exposures and maintain prudent systems for managing their large exposures are 

reasonably adequate and well applied. However, it is applied to data that does not take into 

consideration the lack of detailed information on the financial activities of a number of 

shareholders below the 10 percent threshold. The 25 percent limit on exposures to single 

borrowers or groups of closely related borrowers and the 500 percent limit on aggregate large 

exposures, defined as net debt for the loans granted to an individual, or a group that works 

together, above 10 percent of a bank’s capital, are not inconsistent with the respective EU-

Directive. The National Bank of Moldova has implemented informal requirements for banks to 

disclose economic, industry and geographic concentrations that exceed 40 percent of a bank’s 

capital. See CP 8 for a description of the internal credit register utilized by the National Bank of 

Moldova. 

 

The National Bank of Moldova has reporting arrangements with which to monitor banks’ 

compliance with these limits and its on-site examination process provides an adequate basis for 

evaluating banks’ systems for managing their large exposures. However, at times there is 

difficulty in ascertaining the nature of connections between borrowers, making it difficult to 

accurately determine the extent of banks’ exposures to closely related borrowers. 

 

Also, the National Bank of Moldova should consider establishing a limit on banks’ deposit 

exposures to other banks, where the deposit placement (due from placement) is over 15 days in 

maturity. This could possibly be linked to the credit rating of banks or other assessments of the 

credit standing of the bank counterparties. This practices exposes the banking system to inter-

bank contagion risk. 

Principle 10. Connected Lending  

In order to prevent abuses arising from connected lending, banking supervisors must have in 

place requirements that banks lend to related companies and individuals on an arm’s-length 

basis, that such extensions of credit are effectively monitored, and that other appropriate steps 

are taken to control or mitigate the risks. 

Description According to Article 3 Law on Financial Institutions and Regulation on Business transaction, 

including credit extension, with connected or related parties of commercial banks" an affiliate 

(connected or related party) is every person that has a special relationship with the bank. 

Banks are obliged to have adequate administrative procedures and internal control procedures 

which allow the supervision and management of the credit risk, as well as to scrutinize 

permanently loans granted to affiliates, own personnel, as well as to their families in the 

regulatory limits. In addition, the bank must keep records of the individuals affiliated with the 

bank and of the agreements with the individuals affiliated with the commercial bank. The 
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records must be kept for at least five years from the date that the individual ceases to be 

affiliated with the bank and/or owes no obligations to the bank. 

 

Article 31 of the Law on Financial Institutions and Regulation No. 1/09 on Agreements with 

Individuals Affiliated with Commercial Banks, Including Credit Issuance, prohibit providing 

services to affiliated individuals on preferential terms. 

In accordance with the above-mentioned regulation, any agreement with an affiliated individual 

must be previously approved by the majority of the members of the bank’s Board of Directors, 

and the affiliated individual must not vote directly or indirectly for the agreement in order to 

avoid a conflict of interest (in accordance with Article 24 of the Law on Financial Institutions). 

 

According to Article 28 of the Law on Financial Institutions and Regulation No. 1/09 on 

Agreements with Individuals Affiliated with Commercial Banks, Including Credit Issuance, the 

following maximum limits related to loan granting to affiliated individuals or a group of 

individuals who work with the affiliated individual are established: 

 the total debt for loans granted to an individual affiliated with the bank and/or a group of 

individuals working with the individual affiliated with the bank should not exceed 20 

percent of the bank’s total regulatory capital; 

 the total amount of the debts for loans granted to the individuals affiliated with the bank 

and/or the groups of individuals working with the individuals affiliated with the bank 

should not exceed the amount of the bank’s primary capital. 

 

Under Article 27 of the Law on Financial Institutions, bank managers are required to present to 

the bank’s Board of Directors a written notification that describes the conflicts of interest every 

year. 

 

In accordance with Article 31 of the Law on Financial Institutions, the National Bank of 

Moldova issued Regulation No. 33/09-01 on Extension of Credit to Bank Employees and 

established the following requirements regarding granting of loans by banks to their employees, 

except for individuals affiliated with the bank: 

 for essential needs – a maximum of 10 minimum wages from the date that the loan is 

granted, for 2 years at the most; 

 for real estate investments – a maximum of 100 minimum wages from the date that the 

loan is granted, for 20 years at the most; 

 the total debt for loans granted to bank employees should not exceed 10 percent of the total 

regulatory capital; 

 the bank will establish a regulation regarding the criteria for granting loans to its 

employees; 

 the bank must keep separate records for loans granted to employees. 

 

The Regulation on Business Transactions, including credit extension, with connected or related 

parties of Commercial Banks issued in November 1995 and last amended in February 2002, 

limits the total credit outstanding to any connected or related party to 20 percent of the bank’s 

total regulatory capital. When applying this limitation, credits made to the following entities are 

aggregated with credits made to the connected or related party: a) legal entities in which the 

affiliated person owns or controls ten percent or more of the capital, serves as an administrator, 

or is a subsidiary thereof; b) a legal entity that is under common control with a connected or 

related party of the bank: and c) a legal or natural person to whom a connected or related party 

issued a surety (warranty). In addition, the total amount of credits outstanding to all connected 

or related parties of the bank should not exceed the bank’s Tier One capital. 

 

Every month, in accordance with the Instructions on Preparation and Submission of Financial 

Reports by Banks, the banks provide the National Bank of Moldova information about loan 

granting to individuals affiliated with the bank and bank employees in compliance with the 

maximum limits required in this area. 
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Assessment Materially non-compliant. 

Comments The supervisor requires banks to have information systems to identify individual loans to 

connected and related parties as well as the total amount of such loans, and to monitor them 

through an independent credit administration process. The National Bank of Moldova is in the 

position to require the necessary information concerning to connected or related parties. 

However, the National Bank of Moldova does not receive all the necessary information to 

assess that banks monitoring concerning lending to connected and related parties is effectively 

to identify the beneficial borrower especially in the case were foreign shareholders with less 

than a 10 percent shareholding are involved. Banks track this information informally, rather 

than through more advanced management information systems. 

 

Laws or regulations do not require deducting of lending to connected or related parties from 

capital when assessing capital adequacy or to require collateralization of such loans. 

 

Principle 11. Country Risk  

Banking supervisors must be satisfied that banks have adequate policies and procedures for 

identifying, monitoring, and controlling country risk and transfer risk in their international 

lending and investment activities, and for maintaining appropriate reserves against such risks. 

Description The National Bank of Moldova has not prescribed for the financial institutions detailed policies 

or procedures for identifying monitoring and controlling country and transfer risk  entered into 

in  their international  activities. Country exposure limits have not been established. 

 

The National Bank of Moldova has issued Recommendations on Internal Control Systems in 

Minutes 330 of November 1998, and amended in  Decision 306 of December 2003, that specify 

that banks’ internal control systems should ensure that management has the capabilty to protect 

assets and control liabilities transactions, and ensure that measures are in place to to minimize 

the risk of losses. The recommendations specify that management of financial institution is 

responsible for revising, managing ad controlling on a regular basis the internal control systems,  

and that such function should be delegated to a section independent from daily activity and 

directly subordinated to the Council of the financial institution. However, these 

recommendations do not include measures to control country risk. The National Bank of 

Moldova examiners do not assess country risk. 

 

The Manual of On-Site Inspections of foreign exchange transactions indicates that the National 

Bank of Moldova inspectors during their onsite inspections should ensure that the policies, 

practices and procedures of risk assessement, which among other include country risk and 

transfer risk, are appropriate for making decisions to deposit funds in correspondent accounts of 

foreign banks. However, this manual is considered confidential by the National Bank of 

Moldova and is not made available to the banks. 

Assessment Materially non-compliant. 

Comments The assessment of materially non-compliant is due to the absence of an adequate reporting 

system for country/transfer risk, including a detailed breakdown of the exposures country by 

country. 

 

The National Bank of Moldova should issue a regulation or a recommnedation to specifically 

address country risk. Banks should be required to monitor and evaluate the developments in 

country and transfer risk and have contingency plans in place. The National Bank of Moldova 

should instruct the banks to develop their own internal country risk system.The onsite 

inspectors should verify that the banks conduct  an adequate analysis of the economic situation 

of a particular country prior to placing deposits with a bank in that country. Also the National 

Bank of Moldova should instruct the outside auditors to cov er this risk in the annual report. 

 

The National Bank of Moldova should seek the advice of  international Rating Agencies to 

arrive at a decision in  the area of country risk. Also, the international auditing firms conducting 

business in Moldova could be required to provide  recent ratings of countries. 
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The banks should be required to provide the National Bank of Moldova with periodic 

frequency, appropriate to the level of risk, information on their exposures to country risk. The 

banking supervisors should ensure that the local banks have full credit information on any 

foreign institution where correspondent  demand balances or tim deposits are held. 

Principle 12. Market Risks  

Banking supervisors must be satisfied that banks have in place systems that accurately 

measure, monitor, and adequately control market risks; supervisors should have powers to 

impose specific limits and/or a specific capital charge on market risk exposure, if warranted. 

Description Article 26 of the Law on Financial Institutions indicates that in order to be permitted to engage 

in foreign exchange transactions, provide financial and investement portfolio management 

services and enter in securities investments, banks must maintain a higher capital. The banks 

permitted to enter into these type of transaction are granted a B or C type license  and their 

capital is two or three times higher that  the minimum capital required  for the A type licensed 

banks. However, no capital charge that relates to market risk has been established, although 

limits are in place for foreign exchange positions. 

 

Article 28 of the Law on Financial Institutions and the Regulation on Bank’s foreign exchange 

positions establish limits on foreign exchange daily net open positions. 

 

The Regulation on Managing Interest Rate Risk issued September 1999, requires that each bank 

shall develop its policy on management of interest rate risk, and that such policy must include 

appropriate supervision by the bank’s council as well as establishing a system for evaluating 

and supervising the interest rate risk. The system estalished by the bank must include an 

analysis of maturity differences, and the analysis  should  include the “worst case” variants. 

 

Within the framework of the Onsite Inspection Manual the National Bank of Moldova 

inspectors determine the adequacy of the policies, practices, procedures and internal controls 

covering foreign exchange transactions. The supervisors reportedly verify that banks have 

established limits on their foreign exchange risk. The National Bank of Moldova has not 

establish a specific capital charge on market exposures since only B and C licensed banks are 

permitted to engage in this type of  activity. 

 

The banking supervisors indicate that the financial institutions are not using derivatives or other 

sophisticated financial instruments. 

Assessment Materially non-compliant. 

Comments The National Bank of Moldova has not issued regulations or recommendations  requiring banks 

to have in place systems that accurately measure and monitor equity risk. Also, according to 

SNC 30, banks must diclose the accurate value of its bonds and other assets. 

 

While it is recognized that the B and C license banks have a higher capital requirement than A 

license banks, it is recommended that a capital charge on market risk be established for the B 

and C banks. 

 

The banking supervisors, preferably with the assistance of a consultant, have to reach a level of 

understanding market risks and subsequently should issue comprehensive recommendations to 

banks on the measures required to monitor and manage market risks. These procedures should 

also include specific guidelines on internal controls. The onsite inspectors require additional 

training in order to analyze and montor the actual level of complexity in the market activities of 

the banks. 

Principle 13. Other Risks  

Banking supervisors must be satisfied that banks have in place a comprehensive risk 

management process (including appropriate board and senior management oversight) to 

identify, measure, monitor, and control all other material risks and, where appropriate, to hold 

capital against these risks. 

Description The National Bank of Moldova has issued a Recommendation on Internal Control Systems 
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within Banks of the Republic of Moldova containing comprehensive instructions that specify 

that  the financial institutions should establish internal control systems based upon their 

financial  activitities and the risks incurred. The internal control procedures should ensure the 

identification, assessment, monitoring and control of major risks for the bank. 

 

Article 18 of the Law on Financial Institutions requires that each bank shall be managed by the 

general meeting of shareholders, the Board of Directors, the executive body and the Audit 

Committee. This Article specifies that the Board of Directors is the administrative authority of 

the bank and that it shall carry out supervision functions and shall establish and ensure the 

bank’s policy operation. The Audit Committee is responsible for control of the bank’s activity. 

 

An information sytems specialist accompanies the on-site exainers in order to review the 

information systems of the banks. 

 

The National Bank of Moldova requires banks to maintain policies and practices for 

maintaining an adequate level of liquidity. In accordance with Article 28 of the Law on 

Financial Institutions, and the Regulation on Bank Liquidity, liquidity should not be less than 

20 percent of the bank’s total assets. Also, the amount of banks assets with a maturity period of 

over two years should not exceed the amount of its financial resources maturing in over two 

years. The liquidity requirements are monitored off-site by way of the banks’ monthly reports 

and are also assessed at the on-site inspection process. 

Assessment Largely compliant. 

Comments In most respects, the National Bank of Moldova has satisfactory systems in place to encourage 

banks to identify, monitor and control a wide range of their business risks. Its guidelines to 

banks are relatively comprehensive, it monitors a wide range of banks’ risks (mainly large 

exposures, liquidity risk and connected exposures) through off-site monitoring processes and it 

carries out comprehensive on-site examinations of banks’ risk management systems across a 

wide range of risks. 

 

However, guidance should be provided to banks in terms of the systems they need to maintain 

to identify, measure, monitor and control some elements of risk, such as reputation risk, risks 

associated with the acquisition of business entities (both credit institutions and other 

businesses). 

 

There might be value in requiring the members of each bank’s council and board to sign regular 

attestations, attesting to their satisfaction with their bank’s risk management systems in respect 

of an identified and wide ranGE OF RISKS. 

Principle 14. Internal Control and Audit  

Banking supervisors must determine that banks have in place internal controls that are 

adequate for the nature and scale of their business. These should include clear arrangements 

for delegating authority and responsibility; separation of the functions that involve 

committing the bank, paying away its funds, and accounting for its assets and liabilities; 

reconciliation of these processes; safeguarding its assets; and appropriate independent internal 

or external audit and compliance functions to test adherence to these controls, as well as 

applicable laws and regulations. 

Description The National Bank of Moldova has issued a Recommendation on Internal Control Systems in 

Minutes 330 of November 1998, and amended in Decision 306 of December 2003,  that detail 

the goals, scope and type of the internal control procedures, and management responsibility for 

control effectivness over the internal systems. The recommnedation include instructions as to 

the implementation of control systems with regard to Electronic Data Processing and Internal 

Audit. 

 

Article 18 of the Law on Financial Institutions indicates that each  bank is to be managed by the 

general meeting of sharholders, the Board of Directors, the executive body  and the Audit 

Committee. The Board of Directors is the administration authority of the bank, and each bank is 

to be overseen by an Audit Committee that is responsible for control of the bank’s activity. The 
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Audit committee monitors the internal audit, establishes contacts with the external auditors and 

provides information to the Board of Directors. 

 

The National Bank of Moldova Recommendation on Internal Control Sytems in paragraph 4.3 

specifies the responsibilities of the management of the financial institution over internal 

controls and internal audit and indicates that management’s performance shall be directly 

subordinated to the council of the financial institution. 

 

The minimum requirements for the internal control systems in banks include among other : the 

objectives of control procedures, the field of application and type of control procedures, control 

methods, organizational and administrative control, separation of obligations and competence, 

authorization and approval. The control systems for automated data processing include: 

objectives of internal control in the field of automtic data processing; description of risks and 

control and procedures of the electronic database processig systems. In the internal audit 

functions the requirements include: the creation and organization of internal audit, and 

objectives, functions and responsibilities of internal audit. 

 

The responsibilities of the Board of Directors and executive body are detailed in Articles 17, 18, 

19, 20, 25, 29 and 33 of the Law on Financial Institutions . The articles state,among other 

provisions, that the Board of Directors is the administration authority of the bank and that it 

shall carry out supervision functions and shall establish and ensure the bank’s policy operations. 

Each bank is to be overseen by an Audit Committee who is responsible for control of the bank’s 

activity. The Board of Directors is responsible for the aproval and yearly review of an adequate 

internal control system that ensures the operation of the institution in accordance with existing 

laws. 

 

National Bank of Moldova’s on-site examiners assess the internal control systems verify that 

banks have information systems, risk management systems and internal control systems. Also, 

supervisors have access to the internal audit reports and review compliance by banks with 

internal policies and procedures set up by the banks’ boards or managers, including the 

independent internal review by the internal auditors. In the course of on-site inspections, 

examiners review the banks’ policies and procedures regarding internal controls and check 

whether these are implemented. 

Assessment Largely compliant. 

Comments The National Bank of Moldova’s Recommendation on Internal Control Systems includes 

administrative controls that call for, among other, explicit procedures with regard to due 

diligence on shareholders, including data known by financial institutions about possible 

common activities of shareholders. However, inadequate information of the extent of the 

business connections of minority shareholders (less than 10 percent parent ownership) would 

affect the reputational risk of the banking institution. 

 

Controls must adapt to changing circumstances, especially in the capability to identify risks. 

The National Bank of Moldova has issued satisfactory recommendations to encourage banks to 

identify, monitor and control a wide range of their business risks that  are relatively 

comprehensive, but could usefully be extended to include other forms of risks, such as 

electronic banking. The National Bank of Moldova rely on the information presented by the 

bank and conduct test to verify its accuracy. The National Bank of Moldova could allow small 

banking entities to implement their controls in a less formalized and structured way. Under the 

law, the Board of Directors of a commercial bank is required to review the risks being taken by 

the bank, although in practice it is not clear how well these risks are understood. 

Principle 15. Money Laundering  

Banking supervisors must determine that banks have adequate policies, practices, and 

procedures in place, including strict “know-your-customer” rules, that promote high ethical 

and professional standards in the financial sector and prevent the bank being used, intentionally 

or unintentionally, by criminal elements. 
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Description Law No 633-XV  on Money Laundering Prevention and Combatting (Law on AML) dated 

Novemeber 2001, the Recommendations on Developing Money Laundering Prevention and 

Combat Programs by the Banks of the Republic of Moldova (Recommendations on AML)  

issued in April 2002 , and amended in June 2003, and Article 23 of the Law on Financial 

Institutions contain specific measures regarding the prevention of and efforts against money 

laundering activities in the banking system. 

 

The financial institution’s Board and its Executive Committee are responsible for the 

institution’s compliance with the provisions of the legislation. The obligations of top 

management includes the following: a) knowledge about the financial institution’s high risk 

customers circumstances; b) approval of significant transactions of high risk customers; c) 

determining financial sectors that may be subject to money laundering risk; d) ensuring the 

elimination of identified nonconformities in the field of money laundering prevention and 

combat. 

 

The financial institutions are required to develop and implement adequate programs which 

should include the following: a) policies and procedures on customer identification; b) setting 

up a system to ensure compliance with the program on money laundering prevention and 

combat; c) procedures on reporting suspicious operations. In addition, the financial institutions 

are required to develop “know your customer rules”, that include clear customer acceptance 

policies and procedures, including a description of the types of customers that are likely to pose 

a higher risk to the institution. Also, the financial institutions should have a systematic 

identification policy and procedure for new customers and for those acting on their behalf, and 

should not establish a banking relationship until the identity of the new customer is verified. 

 

The financial institutions are required to appoint a person with decision-making powers 

assigning him/her the responsibility to ensure that the policy and procedures of the financail 

institution are in compliance with the Recommendations and the Legal provisions of the AML. 

 

The financial institution is required to establish clear procedures stipulating that employes 

should report all suspicious transactions to a designated senior management person for data 

gathering and establishing anti money laundering measures. 

 

The financial institutions are required to report to the Center for Fighting Economic Crime and 

Corruption and to the National Bank of Moldova bank supervisors, suspicious activities or fraud 

cases that essentially affect the financial institution’s security, stability or reputation. 

 

Moldova is a member of the Council of Europe Select Committee Experts on the Evaluation of 

Anti Money Laundering Measures. 

 

Financial institutions are also requested to appoint a senior officer, responsible for the 

implementation of the system and for the centralization of all the information on money 

laundering activities, and ensure that their personnel is properly trained in this area. 

 

During the on-site bank supervision process, the implementation by credit institutions of their 

procedures regarding the Law on AML are evaluated by the inspectors. Also, the inspectors of 

the National Bank of Moldova review the adequacy of bank’s “know-your-customer” 

procedures, In case of violations of any laws or legal acts by the banks, the enforcement 

measures specified in Article 38 of the Law on Financial Institutions can be applied upon the 

decision of the National Bank of Moldova. 

Assessment Not applicable. 

Comments The National Bank of Moldova considers that a detailed description of the manner in which 

financial institutions should implement the Program on AML is not necessary and has permitted 

each bank to issue its own guidelines provided they are within the framework of the 

Recommendation on AML. 
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The AML legal framework established by Moldova is relatively comprehensive, and its focus is 

on the financial institution and not on the customers. 

 

The on-site inspectors are aware of the seriousness of money laundering and verify the accuracy 

of the registers prepared by the financial institutions covering the information on the 

transactions processed. A review of the comments of onsite inspection reports for various banks 

under Special Supervision, i.e. banks with a CAMELS rating of 3 or lower, indicates that in 

addition to the problems in the assets area which are mentioned to management, the National 

Bank of Moldova inspector brought to management’s attention shortcomings in the prevention 

and control of Money Laundering and requested that corrections be made. 

 

However, the National Bank of Moldova should consider to deepen the knowledge bank 

supervisors that would eventually become the specialists in AML procedures and would liaise 

with the Center for fighting Economic Crime and Corruption in the areas affecting the 

suspicious operations detected by the financial institutions. In addition the AML 

Recommendations should be updated in order to reflect the revised FATF 40+8 

Recommendations; also, emphasis should be placed in including short explanatory text on 

customer due diligence matters in the instruction to the financial institution. 

 

Currently an in-depth review of the anti money laundering process an procedures in Moldova is 

being conducted by a mission of the International Monetary Fund. Upon receipt of this 

evaluation this core principle will be assessed. 

Principle 16. On-Site and Off-Site Supervision  

An effective banking supervisory system should consist of some form of both on-site and off-

site supervision. 

Description The on-site supervision of the banking system is conducted by the Bank Control Unit and the 

Economic Analysis Unit which are part of the Bank Supervision and Control Division of the 

National Bank of Moldova whose responsibilities consist in supervising and controlling the 

activities of financial institutions, including their compliance with bank legislation's, conducting 

comprehensive inspections of financial institutions, issuing examination reports, and analyzing 

data on current operation of financial institutions. 

 

The Bank Control Unit consists of 16 inspectors which are primarily responsible to: a) conduct 

comprehensive annual inspections of bank activities and make recommendations based on the 

inspection results; b) control the banks for compliance with the Law on Financial Institutions, 

the Joint-Stock Companies Law, the Law on Prevention and Combating of Money Laundering, 

and bank supervision regulations; c) analyze inspection results and develop measures to 

eliminate the shortcomings in bank activities; d) prepare and submit to the Administrative 

Board of the National Bank of Moldova for review results of inspection of commercial banks 

and make the necessary recommendation for  supervisory actions; e) cooperate and exchange 

information  with bank supervisors of other countries based on formal bilateral agreements on 

cooperation in the supervision over financial institutions. 

 

The Economic Analysis Unit consists of 7 analysts and 2 vacant positions. The analysts are 

primarily responsible to: a) analyze negative trends in the indicators describing the performance 

of banks under special supervision, as well as their causes based on the onsite inspections and 

the periodic analytical tables received from the banks; b) develop proposals to impose penalties 

and/or remedial measures to improve the financial position of banks under special supervision 

and those which committed the infringements of Laws; c) develop draft resolutions of the 

Administrative Board of the National Bank of Moldova covering the elimination of negative 

trends in the financial position of commercial banks; d)monitor the activities of banks under 

special supervision; e) analyze the information provided by the commercial banks under special 

supervision with a view to implementing the remedial measures applied by the National Bank 

of Moldova; f) conduct target inspections regarding compliance of remedial measures imposed 

by the National Bank of Moldova and participate, as necessary, in the comprehensive 

inspections conducted by the Bank Control Unit; g) prepare and submit for review to the 
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Administrative Board of the National Bank of Moldova monthly information on the financial 

position of the banks under special supervision, i.e. weaker banks that have low CAMEL 

Ratings; h) cooperate, when necessary, with bank supervisors of other countries based on 

formal bilateral agreements on cooperation in the supervision over financial institutions. 

 

The offsite supervision is conducted by the Bank Regulation and Licensing Division, which, in 

its turn, is divided in three units: Reporting Unit, Bank Licensing Unit, and Methodology and 

Rating Unit. 

 

The functions of the Bank Regulation and Licensing Division consist in regulating banks’ 

activities in order to not allow excessive risk in the financial system and to promote a strong and 

competitive financial sector, analyzing and verifying statements of financial institutions and 

processing that information, issuing licenses to financial institutions, drafting and continuously 

refining bank supervision regulations, co-operating in the area of licensing and regulation with 

other countries pursuant to concluded agreements. 

 

The Reporting Unit, composed of 6 professional, reviews financial statements submitted by 

commercial banks and develops summary tables for the banking system on activities of 

commercial banks in the country and conducts financial analysis of banks and of the banking 

system. In addition, the Reporting Unit is responsible for: a) identify negative trends in the 

financial position of banks and their causes; b) prepare and submit to the Administrative Board 

of the National Bank of Moldova for review monthly information on financial position of the 

banking system; c) review and analyze reports on external audit of banks; d) study the influence 

of savings and borrowing associations on the banking system; e) develop proposals regarding 

the efficient operation of the banking system in a market economy; f) prepare and present 

information on banks’ activities to the management of the National Bank of Moldova, 

competent authorities, and mass media; g) cooperate with respective subdivisions with a view to 

creating a uniform information system to determine the form, format, and content of the 

documents received from the banks in order to fulfill their obligations regarding bank regulation 

and supervision. 

 

The Bank Licensing Unit, composed of 5inspectors, reviews and analyzes a) documents filed by 

the applicants to set up financial institutions with a view to issuing licenses for financial 

activities and analyze economic feasibility of a financial institution; b) documents filed by 

commercial banks with a view to issuing licenses for financial activities; c) documents filed by 

a person or group of persons acting jointly in order to issue a permit to hold a substantial share 

in a bank’s capital; d) documents filed to permit a bank to hold shares in the capital of economic 

entities; e) documents filed to confirm a bank manager; f) documents filed for a bank to open a 

branch or representative office; g) documents filed to permit a bank to accept deposits from the 

State Treasury or other public authorities; h) documents filed to obtain a permission to 

reorganize a bank. This unit also approves changes in the articles of incorporation of a financial 

institution, maintains the Registry of Licensed Banks and License Registry, and cooperates in 

bank supervision matter with other countries pursuant to concluded agreements. 

During the mission a review was made of the copious information provided to the National 

Bank of Moldova on one of the applications for the licensing of a bank. 

 

The Methodology and Rating Unit with 5 analysts is responsible to draft and or improve 

regulations, instructions, and other prudential regulations in the area of bank supervision, taking 

into consideration generally accepted practices. In addition, the Units functions include: a) 

cooperation with other departments with a view to creating bank supervision regulations; b) 

review and analyze international practices in the area of bank regulation; c) review and present 

objections and proposals regarding draft laws, regulations, and other normative acts drafted by 

other competent authorities in the area of banking; d) study the bank supervision 

recommendations of the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund and keep track of 

their timely fulfillment; e) provide consultation to the employees of the Department and 

commercial banks with regard to the implementation and application of approved regulations; 
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and f) cooperate with other departments of the National Bank of Moldova with a view to 

drafting norms and rules of operation of commercial banks. 

 

A comprehensive inspection manual customized for use in Moldova prepared by IMF 

consultants is utilized in the annual full scope inspections of the 16 commercial banks. The 

examination process focuses on the CAMELS (capital, assets, management, earnings, liquidity 

and systems and interest rate) rating. The inspectors produce an examination report in narrative 

form that this manual is considered a confidential document by the National Bank of Moldova. 

In order to improve the transparency of the on-site examination process, the NBM should make 

available to the financial institutions at a nominal cost the on-site inspection manuals. 

Assessment Largely compliant. 

Comments The National Bank of Moldova inspection process encompasses three defined areas of focus: 1) 

internal control (including review and assessment of all bank policies/procedures/requirements); 

2) assessment of quality of assets (classification, provisioning); and 3) financial analysis 

(analysis of capital, earnings, liquidity, etc.). Inspectors are able to comment upon weaknesses 

in policy, even if those weaknesses are not specifically defined through National Bank of 

Moldova-issued regulation. Inspectors may exercise judgment in determining the nature of 

weakness or exception in banks policies The onsite supervision process utilizes extensively the 

reports and analyses prepared by the offsite analysts. Inspectors and analysts should receive 

some additional training in the areas of market risk. 

 

Based on the financial reports presented, the National Bank of Moldova has implemented an up-

to-date informational system called BOSS (Remote Banking Supervision System). A significant 

feature in this computerized system is the National Bank of Moldova’s capacity to monitor the 

negative trends in bank activity in a timely manner. 

Principle 17. Bank Management Contact  

Banking supervisors must have regular contact with bank management and a thorough 

understanding of the institution’s operations. 

Description The National Bank of Moldova’s internal methodological recommendations defines the 

procedures of communication between inspectors and bank management. 

 

The Manual on Onsite Inspection requires that the inspector in charge of the inspection meet 

with the president of the bank at the beginning of the examination and upon transmittal of the 

inspection report. Also, upon receipt by the National Bank of Moldova of the objections to the 

report of examination, representatives of the National Bank of Moldova, including the Director 

of Bank Supervision, meet with each bank’s administrative Council. 

Assessment Largely compliant. 

Comments The National Bank of Moldova inspectors have frequent formal and informal contact with each 

institution’s middle management during the onsite examinations process in order to have a 

better understanding of the bank’s practices or to better understand problems in individual 

situations. In addition, as part of the licensing process the supervisors consider the quality of 

management. Also, trough a combination of onsite inspections and off site surveillance the 

supervisors have a good understanding of the activities of all institutions in the banking system 

meetings with the bank’s Board and/or management are a part of the supervisory process. In 

addition the National Bank of Moldova has one annual official meeting with the Bankers 

Association. 

 

The supervisors should increase their contacts with bank management outside of the inspection 

environment and be in more frequent contact with senior management and the Board of 

Directors in order to be informed of any material developments that may affect the financial 

condition, performance, or prospects of the institutions they supervise. 

Principle 18. Off-Site Supervision  

Banking supervisors must have a means of collecting, reviewing, and analyzing prudential 

reports and statistical returns from banks on a solo and consolidated basis. 

Description Article 37 of the Law on Financial Institutions specifies that banks must furnish to the National 
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Bank of Moldova reports covering management, operations, capital adequacy and earnings. The 

National Bank of Moldova has issued Instructions on the Preparation and Submission of 

Financial Reports by Banks that specify the reports that need to be prepared. On a periodic 

basis, (monthly, quarterly, half yearly) the commercial banks submit 19 financial reports which 

include extensive financial information that among other includes assets, capital, contingent 

accounts and off balance sheet items, profit and loss, capital adequacy, operations, liquidity, 

solvency, risk exposure, credit classification and loan loss provisions. This information is used 

to monitor the performance and status of the banks and to determine the scope the length of 

time and resources required for on-site inspections. In addition, based on the reports, 

supervision monitors progress, or the absence of progress, in the problem areas that were 

identified at on-site inspections. 

 

Based on the financial reports submitted by the banks, the National Bank of Moldova, with the 

joint assistance of consultants from the USAID and Barents Group, has implemented an up-to 

date electronic informational system known as BOSS. The BOSS system permits the National 

Bank of Moldova to monitor the performance of each bank in a timely manner, comparing it 

with the performance of a group or system, as well as to analyze negative trends in the activity 

of the bank. Bank supervisors perform a monthly review of the data in the reports that complete 

the on-site inspection process. In addition, the analysts prepare a report regarding the financial 

status of the banking system that monitors the trends and events that took place in a certain 

period for each bank as well as for the banking system and which is submitted monthly to the 

National Bank of Moldova Board of Directors. 

Assessment Largely compliant. 

Comments The overall reporting system allows the National Bank of Moldova, supervisors to promptly 

identify potential problems and risks assumed by the banks and to take corrective measures in a 

timely manner for the individual banks. 

 

National Standards for Accounting (SNC) No 27 “Consolidated Financial Statements and 

Accounting for Investments in Associates” issued by the Department of Finance in January 

1999, and SNCs No 28 and No 29, establish the procedures and information to be included in 

the financial reports on a consolidated basis. However, the National Bank of Moldova 

supervisors are of the opinion that there are no financial groups in Moldova that may require 

consolidated reporting. Nevertheless, a number of banks have an equity investment in insurance 

companies, and in one instance the ownership in the insurance company represents a majority 

interest and financial statements should be prepared on a consolidated basis. 

Principle 19. 
 

Validation of Supervisory Information  

Banking supervisors must have a means of independent validation of supervisory information 

either through on-site examinations or use of external auditors. 

Description Article 44 of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova and Article 37 of the Law on Financial 

Institutions authorize the National Bank of Moldova to conduct inspections, of supervised 

institutions as deemed necessary, including general revisions, special revisions, and preventive 

audits. The National Bank of Moldova has the right to request during the on-site inspection all 

documents and information related to the financial situation of the credit institution or its 

subsidiary. 

 

Full scope, on-site annual examinations are planned, taking into account the information 

provided by the external audit reports, and revised as warranted to take into consideration recent 

developments at the banks. The off-site supervisory process is also taken into account when it 

renders relevant information that warrants an on site target examination. 

 

Article 34 of the Law on Financial Institutions, and last amended in March 1999, require that 

the banks annually execute an agreement with an independent external audit company, accepted 

by the National Bank of Moldova. 

 

The obligations of the audit company are stipulated in Article. 34 (1) of the Law on Financial 

Institutions and include to prepare an annual report together with an opinion as to whether the 
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financial statements present a full and fair view of the financial condition of the bank, and to 

review the adequacy of internal audit and control practices and procedures. In addition, the 

external auditors are required to inform the National Bank of Moldova about any fraudulent act 

committed by a bank employee and any irregularity or deficiency in the administration or 

operation of the bank that could result in a material loss to the bank. 

 

In accordance with the Law on Audit Activity and Regulation No. 34/09-01 on the Issuance of 

Competence Certificates for Bank Auditors, the National Bank of Moldova certifies the auditor 

is entitled to conduct audit in commercial banks based upon the testing of external auditors 

regarding their knowledge in the field of auditing. 

 

In accordance with the Regulation on the Procedures for the Preparation and Submission of 

Audit Reports, after conducting an audit in the bank, the external auditors are required to 

present an audit report and a management letter by April 30 of each year to be submitted 

simultaneously to the bank’s council and to the National Bank of Moldova. Based on internal 

procedures regarding the monitoring of reports and letters to management of external audit, the 

National Bank of Moldova supervisor's review the report, audit notification and letter to 

management, submitted by the independent auditing company. 

 

The bank supervisors require that the management letter, at a minimum would provide: a) 

comments and observations on the accounting records, operating systems and internal controls 

that were examined during he audit; b) identify specific deficiencies and areas of weakness in 

operating systems and internal controls and make recommendations for improvement; c) 

communicate matters that might have a significant impact on the operation of a bank. When 

required, the National Bank of Moldova informs the external audit about any objections found 

upon reviewing the report, and requests an explanation of the violations committed during the 

audit and their correction. 

Assessment Compliant. 

Comments On a regular basis, National Bank of Moldova organized meetings with the auditors of the audit 

companies that focused on the role of the external auditor in the development of the banking 

system and on various aspects of the National Bank of Moldova requirements for the conduct of 

auditing in commercial banks, the reporting methods of external auditors to National Bank of 

Moldova as well as the issues that auditors face during auditing. 

 

The National Bank of Moldova has effective systems for validating the information submitted 

by the financial institutions through the on-site examination process and the use of external 

auditors. 

Principle 20. 
 

Consolidated Supervision  

An essential element of banking supervision is the ability of the supervisors to supervise the 

banking group on a consolidated basis. 

Description Article 33 Paragraph (3) of the Law on Financial Institutions requires that the accounts, records 

and financial institution’s statements shall also reflect the operations and financial condition of 

its subsidiaries and branch offices, both on an individual and on a consolidated basis. 

Article 37 Paragraph (1) of the Law on Financial Institutions specifies that each bank shall 

prepare and submit to the National Bank of Moldova reports concerning its administration and 

operations, liquidity, solvency and profitability, and those of its subsidiaries, for an assessment 

of the financial condition of the bank and each of its subsidiaries on an individual and on a 

consolidated basis. 

 

The supervisors have the authority to request information from the banks on all related parties, 

however they do not have the authority to conduct onsite examinations of the records of related 

parties. 

 

The Law on the National Bank of Moldova does not make reference to consolidated 

supervision. 

Assessment Materially non-compliant. 
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Comments The National Bank of Moldova has not issued specific instructions addressing accounting 

consolidation of subsidiaries and there is no evidence that the bank supervisors utilize a group 

wide approach to supervision whereby the risk incurred by a banking group in the areas of 

insurance and leasing are taken in account when the assessment of the bank is made. 

 

The National Bank of Moldova does not regularly receive consolidated financial information on 

each banking organization. The National Bank of Moldova bank supervisors are aware of the 

risks posed by investments in non banking related companies, however they indicated that 

according to the Law, the bank is only liable for the specific amount of the investment in the 

capital of the affiliate or subsidiary. In all instances this amount is minor. The supervisory 

framework does not encompass the information necessary to complete a full evaluation of the 

potential impact of non-banking activities.  

 

As indicated in CP 18, a number of banks have an equity investment in insurance companies, 

and in one instance the ownership in the insurance company represents a majority interest and 

the risk to the bank of this investment should be evaluated and financial statements should be 

prepared on a consolidated basis. In addition, the National Bank of Moldova should determine 

if the investments in non financial companies comply with the provision of the Law of Financial 

Institutions Article 28 (6) that indicates the following: "No financial institution may engage 

directly in enterprise activity, or services other than financial services.” 

Principle 21. Accounting Standards  

Banking supervisors must be satisfied that each bank maintains adequate records drawn up in 

accordance with consistent accounting policies and practices that enable the supervisor to 

obtain a true and fair view of the financial condition of the bank and the profitability of its 

business, and that the bank publishes on a regular basis financial statements that fairly reflect 

its condition. 

Description Articles 25 and 29 of the Law on Financial Institutions contain specific instructions covering 

the requirements for sound accounting procedures and for maintaining financial records. Article 

33 of the Law on Financial Institutions specifies that banks must always keep accounts and 

records and prepare periodic financial statements to reflect their operations and financial 

condition in accordance with consistently maintained sound accounting principles. 

 

The National Bank of Moldova’s, accounting regulations were adapted to IAS as of January 1, 

1998. 

 

The National Bank of Moldova required the banks to run a parallel accounting system using 

both International Accounting Standards (IAS) and the previous Accounting Standards during 

the year 1997, while training was being conducted and the changeover to IAS-compliant 

national standards was being implemented. Starting as from 31.12.1997 commercial banks were 

required by NBM instructions to prepare their financial statements in accordance with National 

Accounting Standards (NAS) which at that time were fully compliant with IAS. However, since 

1998 IAS have been substantially updated and the modifications need to be reflected in 

revisions to NAS as described in the work of the World Bank team which prepared the 

Accounting and Auditing ROSC. 

 

The National Bank of Moldova has established standards that clearly define the accounting 

requirements that need to be taken into consideration in drawing up financial reports which are 

submitted to the National Bank of Moldova, which include among others the  following: 

a) the chart of accounts included in bank and financial institution accounting based on 

international standards, regulations and accounting experience; b) accounting procedures in 

some fields of activity of the bank; c) the Instructions on the Preparation and Submission of 

Financial Reports by Banks was established based upon the stipulations of the chart of accounts 

of bank and financial institutions accounting; d) the Department of Finance together with the 

National Bank of Moldova established the National Accounting Standard 30 “Disclosures in the 

Financial Reports of Banks and Financial Institutions.” The objective of this standard is to 

accurately determine the mandatory disclosures in the financial reports of the banks; e) the 
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Regulation on the Accounting Structure of Banks of the Republic of Moldova, which regulates 

the organization of bank accounting; its objective is to provide a clear image of the asset base 

status and the financial year result that are based upon accounting standards, methods and 

procedures stipulated in the Accounting Policy established in accordance with the existing laws 

and general accounting principles and agreements; and f) the Recommendations on Internal 

Control Systems in Banks of the Republic of Moldova, which include stipulations regarding the 

control of the procedures established by the bank in the field of accounting. 

Assessment Largely compliant. 

Comments Reports submitted by banks must be in compliance with IAS and Law on Principles of 

Accounting, which indicates that financial institutions are to comply with IAS. Subsidiaries of 

banks are also required to comply with IAS. 

 

Areas for further improvement include increasing the duties of bank directors for signing 

disclosure statements and holding them legally liable for false or misleading disclosures, 

increasing the amount of prudential information disclosed by banks. 

 

An assessment of this area was recently conducted by a World Bank mission which prepared a 

Report on the Observance of Standards and Codes (ROSC). The results of the assessment will 

be taken in consideration.  

Principle 22. Remedial Measures  

Banking supervisors must have at their disposal adequate supervisory measures to bring about 

timely corrective action when banks fail to meet prudential requirements (such as minimum 

capital adequacy ratios), when there are regulatory violations, or where depositors are 

threatened in any other way. In extreme circumstances, this should include the ability to 

revoke the banking license or recommend its revocation. 

Description Article 75 of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova and Article 38 of the Law for Financial 

Institutions provide the required powers to the National Bank of Moldova for taking an 

appropriate range of remedial actions against banks depending on the severity of a situation. 

These remedial actions are used to address such problems as failure to meet prudential 

requirements and violations of regulations or become engaged in risky or dubious operations 

etc. They range from informal oral or written communication with bank management to actions 

that involve the revocation of the banking license. In addition to the items mentioned above, the 

National Bank of Moldova has under the Banking Act a broad range of possible actions, 

including the following: 

 Enforce penalties prescribed under Article 38 of the Law on Financial Institutions. 

 Restrict or suspend the activity of the bank (financial institution) and to withdraw the 

confirmation given to the managers of the banks (financial institutions). 

 Issue an order to end violations, implement remedial measures, and apply sanctions. 

 Limit or suspend the activity of the bank (financial institution). 

 Replace the license based upon the value of the minimum capital required in accordance 

with Article 26, paragraph (2). 

 

The National Bank of Moldova ensures that remedial actions are taken in a timely manner. 

After a visit/examination of a bank takes place a report is prepared. This report is approved by 

management and then sent to the Deputy Governor. The report details when any corrective 

action has to be carried out by the National Bank of Moldova. It is the responsibility of the 

examiner to check that any required remedial action has been carried out in a timely manner. 

 

The National Bank of Moldova applies penalties and sanctions not only to the bank, but, when 

and if necessary, also to the administrators of the bank. According to Article 38 of the Law on 

Financial Institutions, Administrators shall be responsible, each within his own jurisdictions, for 

any contravention of the Law on Financial Institutions or the decisions and rules issued for its 

execution. 

 

In the event that the bank is unable to pay debts or has too many debts, or the minimum capital 
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required by the National Bank of Moldova is less than two-thirds of the required minimum 

capital and the bank risk to become unable to pay debts, besides the implementation of the 

above-mentioned measures and sanctions, the National Bank of Moldova will revoke the license 

and will notify the competent court to initiate an insolvency lawsuit. In accordance with this 

paragraph “unable to pay debts” means that 10 percent of the current obligations were not paid 

by the bank in a timely manner. 

 

A section of Economic Analysis was established as part of the Department for Banking 

Regulation and Supervision, in order to work with banks under special supervision, in 

accordance with the Internal Regulation of the Department for Banking Regulation and 

Supervision of December 24, 2003, as follows: 

 reviews the negative trends in the dynamics of indices, which characterize the activity of 

banks under special supervision, as well as their causes on the basis of inspections and 

analytical tables; 

 makes proposals regarding the implementation of sanctions and/or remedial measures for 

the financial status of the banks under special supervision and the banks that committed the 

violations specified in Article 38, paragraph (1) of the Law on Financial Institutions; 

 establishes drafts of decisions of the Board of Directors of the National Bank of Moldova 

related to the removal of negative trends from the dynamics of the financial status of the 

commercial banks; 

 monitors the activity of the banks under special supervision; 

 reviews the information provided by commercial banks under special supervision for the 

implementation of remedial measures imposed by the National Bank of Moldova; 

 conducts specific inspections regarding the implementation of remedial measures imposed 

by National Bank of Moldova and participates, whenever it is required, in the complex 

inspections conducted by the Service of Banking Supervision; 

 prepares and submits for review monthly information regarding the financial status of 

banks under special supervision to the Board of Directors of the National Bank; 

 cooperates with supervisory bodies of other states for mutual information in accordance 

with the bilateral agreements regarding cooperation in the supervision of financial 

institutions activities. 

 

The measures and sanctions implemented by the National Bank of Moldova may be attacked in 

a competent court. In the event that the court admits that the actions imposed by the National 

Bank of Moldova to a bank are unfounded, the National Bank of Moldova will reimburse 

property damages, but will not suspend or annul the actions imposed by the National Bank of 

Moldova. 

 

In accordance with the Manual on On-site Inspections (internal procedure approved on 

February 12, 1999) and the regulation on remedial action, which is used as a internal procedure, 

the reports of banks that were awarded a CAMELS rating of 4 and 5 (and if required, banks 

with a 3 rating) must be presented immediately to the section of Economic Analysis to 

implement a remedial action. 

 

In accordance with the remedial documents, the commercial banks submit to the National Bank 

of Moldova special reports for the implementation of remedial measures. The section of 

Economic Analysis together with the respective section responsible for on-site supervision 

conducts specific inspections at the banks that must implement remedial measures. In the event 

that, during the on-site inspection or through remote financial supervision, it has been agreed 

that the bank has violated the stipulations of the remedial document, the Service for Economic 

Review shall establish proposals to stop violations. 

 

The measures taken by the NBM are not published. Management of the NBM believes that 

public disclosure of violations could create uncertainty in the financial sector. 

Assessment Largely compliant. 
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Comments Adequate enforcement powers are at the National Bank of Moldova’s disposal and are close to 

the respective Basel recommendation on taking remedial measures. Since 1996, at an increasing 

rate, National Bank of Moldova’s actions regarding problem institutions have taken advantage 

of these powers. The broad reference to “unsafe and unsound operations” as one of the premises 

for taking enforcement is a very strong power. 

 

Concerning application of its enforcement powers, the National Bank of Moldova has had to 

creatively design methods to achieve certain results. For example, the Law provides the 

authority to remove commercial bank administrators from their position. However, conflicting 

language in the Labor Law makes such action problematic. National Bank of Moldova has 

worked around this obstacle by “revoking its prior authorization” for an individual to serve in a 

particular position. This has the same impact as “removing” the individual from their position, 

as provided for by the Law on Financial Institutions. The NBM has closed 3 banks in the last 5 

years. 

 

One of the sanctions available to the National Bank of Moldova is imposition of monetary 

penalties. On the surface, power seems sufficient. The limitations on how to quantify the 

amount of the penalty (which is only guided by the Law on Financial Institutions itself, not by 

an implementing regulation) makes application in many cases (for example, penalties for false 

regulatory reporting) impractical. However, the National Bank of Moldova can impose any 

penalty on a case by case basis. 

 

The National Bank of Moldova should clarify in which problem case the use of a specific 

measure is adequate. 

Principle 23. Globally Consolidated Supervision  

Banking supervisors must practice global consolidated supervision over their internationally 

active banking organizations, adequately monitoring and applying appropriate prudential 

norms to all aspects of the business conducted by these banking organizations worldwide, 

primarily at their foreign branches, joint ventures, and subsidiaries. 

Description Article 33 par. 3 of the Law on Financial Institutions provides the National Bank of Moldova 

with the means to conduct the supervision of banks on a consolidated basis. Under Article 37 of 

the Law on Financial Institutions, the bank will establish and present its financial reports and 

the financial reports of its banking subsidiaries, both individually and consolidated to the 

National Bank of Moldova in accordance with its regulations in order to assess the financial 

status of the bank and of each banking subsidiary. In addition, the bank and its banking 

subsidiaries will provide access to National Bank of Moldova inspectors, chartered and 

authorized accountants and will cooperate with them. Currently, there exists no banking group 

that may require consolidated reporting by banks of its banking entities. The current regulatory 

and supervisory framework does not have specific provisions relating to global consolidated 

supervision . For example, which require access for on-site inspectors of the National Bank of 

Moldova to the foreign entities of Moldovan banks. However, Article 44 of the Law on the 

National Bank of Moldova gives the National bank of Moldova the power to regulate 

commercial banks as may be found appropriate. 

 

Banks organized under the Law on Financial Institutions Law shall, according to Article 13 par 

4 of the Law on Financial Institutions, notify the National Bank of Moldova for approval before 

they establish a subsidiary or branch outside Moldova on the conditions established in standards 

adopted by the National Bank of Moldova. Although being responsible for granting permission 

for Moldovan banking institutions to operate branches outside the country, the National Bank of 

Moldova does not have direct authority to supervise the overseas branches of locally 

incorporated banking institutions, for example, through undertaking direct inspections or 

require additional reporting.  

 

The National Bank of Moldova can prohibit the foundation of new banking entities but cannot 

demand the closing of existing ones: Where the bank has adopted a policy which the National 

Bank of Moldova believes may threaten the solvency or liquidity of the bank, the Law on 
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Financial Institutions affords the National Bank of Moldova the power to require a bank to take 

any steps it deems necessary. In this regard, the Law on Financial Institutions does not require 

that the scope of the bank’s foreign operations and their geographic terms shall correspond to its 

financial resources and administrative organization. Under Article 7 par. 6c "the National Bank 

determines that the foreign bank is adequately supervised on a consolidated basis...". 

Assessment Not applicable. 

Comments While currently CP 23 is not relevant in practice, as currently no cross border operations of 

Moldovan banks exist. However, this situation can change rapidly and the National Bank of 

Moldova should be given more authority to control foreign expansion. The National Bank of 

Moldova has limited legal authority and, in the opinion of the mission team, restricted resources 

to take regulatory steps to address this situation. If such activity grows, the National Bank of 

Moldova should have the power carry out necessary on site examinations that adequately 

review the overseas activities of banks. Specific policies on when and how often overseas 

examinations should be conducted should be considered. In addition, the National Bank of 

Moldova should have a process in place and should have the power to require the closing of a 

foreign bank entity if the National Bank of Moldova determines that the host country 

supervision is inadequate. 

Principle 24. Host Country Supervision  

A key component of consolidated supervision is establishing contact and information 

exchange with the various other supervisors involved primarily host country supervisory 

authorities. 

Description Pursuant to Article 13 of the Law on Financial Institutions, the banks of the Republic of 

Moldova may open subsidiaries and branches in other countries only upon prior approval by the 

National Bank of Moldova on the conditions established in standards adopted by the National 

Bank of Moldova. 

 

The National Bank of Moldova has executed agreements for cooperation in banking supervision 

with the National Bank of Romania, the Central Bank of Russian Federation, the National Bank 

of Belarus, which were established on the basis of the Basel Committee document “Essential 

elements of a cooperation agreement between banking supervisors.” In addition, such an 

agreement with the Ukraine will be concluded in July 2004. An exchange of "letter of intent" is 

agreed with the National Bank of Kazakhstan. 

 

Pursuant to Article 36 of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova, the National Bank of 

Moldova may provide the information collected during banking supervision at the request of 

foreign supervisory authorities of the financial institution (even information governed by the 

Commercial Secrecy Law). The National Bank of Moldova does not consult with supervisors – 

who provide the information on which any action is based – before actually taking action. This 

matter would be dealt on a case-by-case basis. 

Assessment Largely compliant. 

Comments Until now CP 24 not relevant in practice, given absence of cross-border activities of Moldovan 

banks. The National Bank of Moldova has limited authority over the establishment of foreign 

branches if the application information is provided. The National Bank of Moldova should be 

given more authority to control foreign expansion. 

 

The National Bank of Moldova has not had to address the question concerning countries where 

secrecy or other laws prohibit the free flow of information. It appears that the National Bank of 

Moldova does not have the authority to prohibit banks from operating in these geographies. 

Principle 25. Supervision Over Foreign Banks’ Establishments  

Banking supervisors must require the local operations of foreign banks to be conducted with 

the same high standards as are required of domestic institutions and must have powers to 

share information needed by the home country supervisors of those banks for the purpose of 

carrying out consolidated supervision. 

Description To open a branch or a subsidiary of a foreign bank in Moldova, the National Bank of Moldova 

requires prior approval for a license. Pursuant to article 12 of the law on financial institutions, a 
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foreign bank may directly carry out financial activities in the Republic of Moldova only through 

branches and subsidiaries for which the National Bank of Moldova has issued a license. The 

foreign bank may open subsidiaries in the republic of Moldova only upon notification of 

national bank of Moldova in accordance with National Bank of Moldova standards. In addition, 

representative offices of foreign banks will restrict their activity to information, connection or 

representation and will not carry out any of the activities specified in Article 26 of the Law on 

Financial Institutions. These institutions are subject to the same regulatory requirements 

applicable to all other Moldovan banks. 

Article 6 (3) of the Law on Financial Institutions specifies that a foreign bank branch will be 

subject to the licensing conditions laid down by the Regulation on Licensing of Banks. The 

licensing process for foreign bank subsidiaries requires procedures similar to those which apply 

to domestic banks. Pursuant to Article 7(6) of the Law on Financial Institutions, the foreign 

banks are issued licenses for branches and subsidiaries in the event that 

 in the country of origin, the foreign bank is authorized to attract deposits or other 

reimbursable funds; 

 the competent authorities of the country of origin that supervise the financial activity of the 

foreign bank at its head office have approved in writing the issuance of such a license; 

 the National Bank acknowledges that the foreign bank is appropriately supervised, on a 

consolidated basis, by competent authorities in the country of origin. 

 

Under the foreign investment law, branches of foreign banks are required to obtain a full bank 

license to carry out banking business in Moldova. No foreign bank has branches in Moldova. 

The current legal provisions give the National Bank of Moldova powers to access any 

information of a subsidiary of a foreign banking institution as necessary. 

Furthermore, the National Bank of Moldova may permit foreign financial supervisory 

authorities to carry out inspections at Moldovan establishments of foreign banks. There is no 

specific provision in the banking control law that gives the National Bank of Moldova the 

power to advise the home country supervisor of any material remedial action it takes. However, 

the National Bank of Moldova provides this information informally on a case-by-case basis. 

The National Bank of Moldova does not consult with supervisors – who provide the 

information on which any action is based – before actually taking action. This matter would be 

dealt on a case-by-case basis. In general, information-sharing agreements, formal and informal 

provide for such action. But practice by the National Bank of Moldova is to deal directly with 

the administration of the bank licensed in Moldova, allowing for the bank’s administration to 

decide what information to share with its parent, or home country supervisor. Vice versa, there 

is no process in place for the National Bank of Moldova to formally obtain information on the 

foreign parent organizations. 

Assessment Largely compliant. 

Comments Subsidiaries of foreign banks are subject to the same prudential, inspection and regulatory 

reporting requirements as domestic banks. There do not appear to be any barriers to entry of 

foreign owned institutions through the licensing or acquisition of a resident bank. 

 

Supervisors should ensure that they receive the necessary information from the parent bank and 

the host supervisor of a Moldovan foreign bank entity to carry out consolidated supervision if 

this case would be arise in the future. 
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Table 2. Summary Compliance of the Basel Core Principles 
 

Core Principle C
1/

 LC
2/

 MNC
3/

 NC
4/

 NA
5/

 

1. Objectives, Autonomy, Powers, and Resources  X    

1.1 Objectives X     

1.2 Independence  X    

1.3 Legal framework X     

1.4 Enforcement powers X     

1.5 Legal protection    X  

1.6 Information sharing   X   

2. Permissible Activities X     

3. Licensing Criteria  X    

4. Ownership   X   

5. Investment Criteria X     

6. Capital Adequacy  X    

7. Credit Policies   X    

8. Loan Evaluation and Loan-Loss Provisioning  X    

9. Large Exposure Limits   X   

10. Connected Lending   X   

11. Country Risk   X   

12. Market Risks   X   

13. Other Risks  X    

14. Internal Control and Audit  X    

15. Money Laundering     X 

16. On-Site and Off-Site Supervision  X    

17. Bank Management Contact  X    

18. Off-Site Supervision  X    

19. Validation of Supervisory Information X     

20. Consolidated Supervision   X   

21. Accounting Standards  X    

22. Remedial Measures  X    

23. Globally Consolidated Supervision     X 

24. Host Country Supervision  X    

25. Supervision Over Foreign Banks’ 

Establishments 
 X    

 

1/
 C: Compliant.  

2/
 LC: Largely compliant.  

3/
 MNC: Materially non-compliant. 

4/
 NC: Non-compliant. 

5/
 NA: Not applicable. 
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Recommended action plan and authorities’ response to the assessment 

Recommended action plan 

 

Table 3. Recommended Action Plan to Improve Compliance of the Basel Core 

Principles 
 

Reference Principle Recommended Action 

1.2 Independence According to article 8 (2b) Law on the National 

Bank of Moldova the attendance of ministers 

responsible for economic and financial matters in the 

meetings of the Council of Administration of the 

National Bank to should be restricted to related 

matters. 

The budget of the Department of Banking 

Regulation and Supervision should be separated from 

the overall budget of the National Bank of Moldova. 

1.5 Legal protection Amendment of the Law on the National Bank of 

Moldova to include legal protection for supervisors. 

1.6 Information sharing Implementation of a defined process of 

cooperation or agreement or legal authorization 

between the Department of Banking Regulation and 

Supervision of the National Bank of Moldova and the 

National Securities Commission and the responsible 

authority for insurance supervision. 

Clarification of the legal gateways for an exchange 

of confidential information and implementation of 

necessary provisions for the restrictions on the usage 

of this confidential information. 

3. Licensing Criteria To obtain transparency on the suitability of major 

shareholders, the ownership structure and the source of 

initial capital. 

4. Ownership Decrease the limit of a significant ownership or 

controlling interest from 10 percent to 5 percent.  

5. Investment Criteria Law and respective regulation should specifically 

require banks to notify the National Bank of Moldova 

of certain levels of equity investment (those that do not 

meet the limitations defined in the regulation). The 

National Bank of Moldova should develop procedures 

for banks to notify investments in non-bank entities 

that do not meet the thresholds defined by the 

Regulation. 

6. Capital Adequacy Amend the Law and respective regulation to 

implement a capital charge for market risk and country 

risk. 

8. Loan Evaluation and Loan-Loss Provisioning Adopt a robust definition of problem loan 

restructuring. Issue instructions to address the loan loss 

provisioning for some of the off balance sheet 

accounts. Require written bank’s policies to grade and 

estimate loan loss probability especially in the Under 

Supervision category. 
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Reference Principle Recommended Action 

9. Large Exposure Limits Increase supervisory efforts to encourage banks to 

fully ascertain the nature of connections between 

borrowers and stockholders. Absence of this 

information obstructs the analysis to determine the 

extent of banks’ exposures to closely related 

borrowers. 

Establish a limit on banks’ deposit exposures to 

other banks. 

10. Connected Lending Regulations should require the deduction of 

lending to connected or related parties from capital or 

should require the collateralization of such loans. 

Please refer to CP 9. 

11. Country Risk With assistance from international consultants, 

issue a Regulation or a Recommendation to 

specifically address country risk and design a  

reporting system  for country/transfer risk 

12. Market Risks Issue regulations or recommendations requiring 

banks to have in place systems that accurately measure 

and monitor market risk. With assistance from 

consultants provide additional training to analysts and 

inspectors to enable them to analyze and monitor the 

actual level of complexity in the market activities of 

the banks. 

13. Other Risks Provide guidance to banks to identify, measure, 

monitor and control reputation risk and risks 

associated with the acquisition of business entities 

(both credit institutions and other businesses). 

15. Money Laundering Appoint bank supervisors to become specialists in 

AML procedures and liaise with the Center for fighting 

Economic Crime and Corruption. 

20. Consolidated Supervision Issue specific instructions addressing accounting 

consolidation of affiliates and subsidiaries, and instruct  

banks to prepare, where required, consolidated 

financial reports. 

22. Remedial Measures Such regulation should indicate the specific 

measures used to address particular problems. 

23. Globally Consolidated Supervision Amend the Law on Financial Institutions to give 

the National Bank of Moldova the power to carry out 

necessary on site examinations at overseas entities of 

Moldovan banks. Specific policies on when and how 

often overseas examinations should be conducted 

should be considered. 

24. Host Country Supervision Clarify if National Bank of Moldova authority to 

prohibit banks from operating in countries where 

secrecy or other laws prohibit the free flow of 

information. 

Amend Laws to ensure possibility of sharing of 

information on a reciprocity basis with other 

supervisors. 

25. Supervision Over Foreign Banks’ Establishments Please refer to CP 24. 
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Authorities’ response to the assessment 

The National Bank of Moldova kindly provided detailed comments on earlier drafts of 

this detailed assessment in their letters of June 2004 and October 2004 addressed to the 

FSAP team. All comments received have been carefully considered and are fully 

reflected in this final version of the Basel Core Principles Assessment dated December 

2004. 
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II. DETAILED ASSESSMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH IMF’S MFP TRANSPARENCY 

CODE—TRANSPARENCY OF BANKING SUPERVISION 

General 

37.      This section assesses the transparency of the arrangements for the supervision of 

banks by the Banking Supervision and Control Department of the National Bank of 

Moldova. The objective of the assessment was to measure Moldova's banking 

supervision transparency practice against the IMF Transparency Code. The assessment 

was carried out by an assessor from the World Bank and an assessor from the Deutsche 

Bundesbank in May 2004. 

38.      The assessment was based on the laws and regulations relating to banking 

supervision, particularly the Law of the National Bank of Moldova and the Law on 

Financial Institutions. Reference was also made to regulations and recommendations 

issued by the National Bank of Moldova. The assessors read the National Bank of 

Moldova's annual report and various press releases and other documentation. The 

assessors had conversations with the Banking Supervision and Control Department of the 

National Bank of Moldova and his staff who had produced a self-assessment provided to 

the mission. In addition, the assessors met with officials of the commercial banks 

supervised by the National Bank of Moldova and external auditors. 

Institutional and Market Structure overview 

39.      The National Bank of Moldova is responsible for the regulation and supervision 

of the banking sector. The institutional framework is set out in the Law on the National 

Bank of Moldova and the Law on Financial Institutions and relevant Regulations. The 

acts and regulations provide guidance on the purposes of supervision and the objectives 

of the National Bank of Moldova. The supervisory function of the National Bank of 

Moldova is vested in the Law of the National Bank of Moldova. 

40.      The financial system is largely dominated by the banking sector, which represents 

almost 36 percent of GDP in terms of total assets, and by two non-bank financial 

institutions providing small lending and banking services in the rural areas. The two-tier 

system, created in 1993, comprises the National Bank of Moldova and 16 commercial 

banks. The banks operate out of 16 head offices and 161 branches. The banking sector is 

mostly privately owned, with only one state-owned bank.
6
 

41.      There are few banks with foreign participation (and none with majority strategic 

foreign ownership typical of more advanced transition economies), most of which are 

from neighboring countries. International financial institutions are also present in the 

capital of five of the banks operating in the country. 

                       
6
 Banca de Economii is the only state-owned bank in the country. Its assets represent about 

7 percent of total banking sector assets.  
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Information and Methodology Used for Assessment 

42.      The assessment of observance with each practice of the Transparency Code is 

made on a qualitative basis based on existing laws and regulations, and practices. A five-

part assessment system is used: observed; broadly observed; partly observed; not 

observed; and not applicable: observed, implying full observance or with insignificant 

shortcomings; broadly observed, where minor weaknesses exist and these are not seen 

as being of a significant nature so as to raise serious doubts about the authority’s ability 

to achieve the objective of that practice; partly observed, where shortcoming are 

sufficient to raise doubts about the authority’s ability to achieve observance and which 

could affect the operational process and effectiveness of monetary and financial policies; 

non-observed, where the practice is not being observed and no substantive progress has 

been recorded toward achieving the objectives of the practice; and not applicable, where 

due to country circumstances and institutional and legal framework, the transparency 

practice is not applicable.  

Practice-by-practice assessment 

 

Table 4. Detailed Assessment of Observance of IMF’s MFP Transparency 

CodeBanking Supervision 
 

V. CLARITY OF ROLES, RESPONSIBILITIES, AND OBJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL AGENCIES RESPONSIBLE FOR  

FINANCIAL POLICIES 

5.1 The broad objective(s) and institutional framework of financial agencies should be 

clearly defined, preferably in relevant legislation or regulation. 

Description The institutional framework is set out in the Law on the National Bank of Moldova and the 

Law on Financial Institutions and relevant Regulations. The acts and regulations provide 

guidance on the purposes of supervision and the objectives of the National Bank of Moldova. 

 

The objective of banking supervision of the National Bank of Moldova is defined in Article 5 

(d) of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova: …"to license, supervise and regulate the 

activities of financial institutions...". In addition Article. 44 Of the Law on the National Bank 

of Moldova states: 

"The National Bank is exclusively responsible for the licensing, supervision, and regulation of 

financial institutions‘ activity. To that end, the National Bank is empowered: 

 to issue necessary regulations and to take actions in order to execute its powers and duties 

under this Law, through proper licensing and supervision standards and to establish the 

procedure of application of regulations and actions mentioned above; 

 to cause an inspection to be made, at its discretion, by any of its officers or by any other 

qualified person appointed to that effect, of any financial institution and to examine its 

books, documents and accounts, the conditions of its affairs and whether it is in 

compliance with the Law and regulations; 

 to require any officer or employee of the financial institution to furnish to the National 

Bank such information as requested for the purpose of enabling the National Bank to 

supervise and regulate financial institutions; 

1. to cause any financial institution to take remedial actions or to enforce penalties 

provided in the Law on Financial Institutions if the financial institution or its 

employees: 

- have violated the provision of the Law on Financial Institutions or a 

regulation of the National Bank; - have violated a fiduciary duty; 

- have begun the unsafe or unsound operations of the financial institution or 
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any of its subsidiaries. 

 

The National Bank of Moldova has operational independence from the government. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments  

5.1.1 The broad objective(s) of financial agencies should be publicly disclosed and explained. 

Description In addition to the information presented in paragraph 5.1, this principle is realized through: 

 the annual report that contains a chapter on supervision and regulation of activities of the 

bank that published on the website of the National Bank of Moldova and is preliminary 

version is published in quarterly; 

 the policy of the National Bank of Moldova on consolidation of the banking system of the 

Republic of Moldova and methods of its implementation (forwarded to the Banking 

Association of Moldova in letter and presented in the public information on 4.10.2001 in 

“Moldova Suverana” newspaper. 

 monetary and foreign exchange policy of the National Bank of Moldova for 2003 

determined priority directions of activity of the National Bank of Moldova, including or 

the supervisory body (published on the website of the National Bank of Moldova, in the 

Official Monitor of the Republic of Moldova and in the “Nezavisimaya Moldova 

(Independent Moldova) newspaper on April 18, 2003, “State Strategy in 2003”). 

 

Monetary and foreign exchange policy of the National Bank of Moldova for 2004 and 2005-

2006 determines priority directions of activity of the National Bank of Moldova, including of 

the supervisory body and is published on the website of published on the website of the 

National Bank of Moldova and in quarterly bulletin Nr.1. 

Assessment Broadly observed. 

Comments The explanation of the broad objective(s) of financial agencies should be more 

specifically addressed. 

5.1.2 The responsibilities of the financial agencies and the authority to conduct financial policies 

should be publicly disclosed. 

Description The Law on the National Bank of Moldova and the Law on Financial Institutions and relevant 

Regulations clearly defines its responsibilities to conduct financial policies. Authorities and 

obligations of the supervisory body are also disclosed through: 

 articles 5, 8 and chapters VI, VII, art. 72, 74, 75, 76 of the Law on the National Bank of 

Moldova, the Law on Financial Institutions published on the website of the National Bank 

of Moldova and in the Official Monitor of the Republic of Moldova. 

 The policy of the National Bank of Moldova on consolidation of the banking system of 

the Republic of Moldova and methods of its implementation (forwarded to the Banking 

Association of Moldova and presented in the public information in “Moldova Suverana” 

newspaper); 

 Monetary and foreign exchange policies of the National Bank of Moldova for 2003, 2004, 

2005-2006 determine priority directions of activity of the National Bank of Moldova, 

including that of the supervisory body and are published on the website of the National 

Bank of Moldova and in the Official Monitor of the Republic of Moldova. 

 all regulations adopted by the National Bank of Moldova are published on the website of 

the National Bank of Moldova, and upon enactment of each regulation the public is 

familiarized with it through mass media. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments The responsibility of the National Bank of Moldova is clearly stated. There is an ongoing 

process in place, which involves non-governmental bodies e.g. consulting the bankers 

association or specific banks in issuing rules and regulation. 

5.1.3 Where applicable, the broad modalities of accountability for financial agencies should be 

publicly disclosed. 

Description The annual report and monthly statements of the National Bank of Moldova are submitted to 

the Parliament and the Government as stipulated in Articles 13 and 69 of the of the Law on the 

National Bank of Moldova The statements are published on the website of the National Bank 
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of Moldova and in the Official Monitor of the Republic of Moldova. The statements are also 

published in the quarterly bulletin.  

Assessment Observed. 

Comments The Governor or the Council of Administration of the National Bank of Moldova is acting in 

plenary sessions of the parliament. 

5.1.4 Where applicable, the procedures for appointment, terms of office, and any general criteria for 

removal of the heads and members of the governing bodies of financial agencies should be 

publicly disclosed. 

Description The procedures for appointment, terms of office, and any general criteria for removal of the 

heads and members of the governing body are envisioned in Chapter IV “Organization and 

Administration” of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova published on the website of the 

National Bank of Moldova and in the Official Monitor of the Republic of Moldova. 

 Decision of the legislative body on appointment of the members of the Administrative 

Council of the National Bank of Moldova shall be published in the Official Monitor of the 

Republic of Moldova. 

 The organigram of the National Bank of Moldova describing the organizational structure 

of the National Bank of Moldova with indication of the names of the heads of each 

division is placed on the on website of the National Bank of Moldova. 

Assessment Broadly observed. 

Comments The Head of the Banking Supervision and Control Department of the Nation Bank of Moldova 

is appointed by the Administrative Council of the National Bank of Moldova. 

 

The reasons for the removal of the Governor or the other members of the Administrative 

Council are described in detail under Article 27 of the Law of the National Bank of Moldova. 

The reasons for the removal are not publicly disclosed. 

5.2 The relationship between financial agencies should be publicly disclosed. 

Description Articles 6 and 8 of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova set forth the principles of 

cooperation with government bodies and describe relations with the public, the Government 

and the Parliament. Chapter V of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova envisions 

financial relations with the state bodies (periodical publications, as for example the article 

“The National Bank shall not refuse credits to the government” published in the newspaper 

“Kishinevskyi obozrevateli”. 

Assessment Broadly observed. 

Comments There is no system of cooperation and information sharing between all domestic agencies with 

responsibility for the soundness of the financial system in place. 

5.3 The role of oversight agencies with regard to payment systems should be publicly 

disclosed. 

Description Not applicable in the context of banking supervision. Although the payment system is 

managed by the NBM, the Supervision Department does not have this function. 

Assessment Not applicable. 

Comments  

5.3.1 The agencies overseeing payment systems should promote the timely public disclosure of 

general policy principles (including risk management policies) that affect the robustness of 

systemically important payment systems. 

Description Not applicable in the context of banking supervision. 

Assessment Not applicable. 

Comments  

5.4 Where financial agencies have oversight responsibilities for self-regulatory organizations 

(e.g., payment systems), the relationship between them should be publicly disclosed. 

Description Not applicable. Self-regulatory organizations do not exist in Moldova. 

Assessment Not applicable. 

Comments  

5.5 Where self-regulatory organizations are authorized to perform part of the regulatory 

and supervisory process, they should be guided by the same good transparency practices 



 - 54 - 

specified for financial agencies.  

Description Not applicable. Self-regulatory organizations do not exist in Moldova. 

Assessment Not applicable. 

Comments  

VI. OPEN PROCESS FOR FORMULATING AND REPORTING OF FINANCIAL POLICIES 

6.1 The conduct of policies by financial agencies should be transparent, compatible with 

confidentiality considerations and the need to preserve the effectiveness of actions by 

regulatory and oversight agencies. 

Description The functions of the National Bank of Moldova are laid down in Article 4 and5 and covering 

banking supervision in Article 44 of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova. Article11 of 

the Law on the National Bank of Moldova envisions compulsory publication of National Bank 

of Moldova regulations in the Official Monitor of the Republic of Moldova, including the acts 

on banking regulation and supervision. 

 

The staff of the National Bank of Moldova is subject to the confidentiality provisions of 

Article 36 of the Law of the National Bank of Moldova. This article forbids the staff of the 

National Bank of Moldova to disclose or to publish the information that they obtained in the 

performance of their duties except for the cases of consent of the person about whom the 

information relates and in performance of a duty to the public to make disclosure. 

Assessment Broadly observed. 

Comments The NBM staff is aware of the confidentiality provisions of Article 36 of the  NBM Law 

  

6.1.1 The regulatory framework and operating procedures governing the conduct of financial 

policies should be publicly disclosed and explained. 

Description The Regulatory framework is clearly laid out in the Law of the National Bank of Moldova, the 

Law on Financial Institutions, regulations and recommendations. Regulations issued by the 

National Bank of Moldova are published in the Official Monitor of the Republic of Moldova. 

In addition the National Bank of Moldova discloses its activities through its annual reports and 

other publications. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments  

6.1.2 The regulations for financial reporting by financial institutions to financial agencies should be 

publicly disclosed. 

Description Article. 44, 47, 52 of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova and article 33, 37 of the Law 

on Financial Institutions detail requirements for reports and financial statement to be presented 

to the National Bank of Moldova. Under these laws banks are required to report regularly to 

the National Bank of Moldova: 

 the procedure and frequency of the submission of  financial statements are presented in 

the Instruction on the procedure of drawing up and submission by the banks of their 

financial statements that was published in the Official Monitor of the Republic of 

Moldova and placed on the website of the National Bank of Moldova; 

 amendments to the aforementioned Instruction were published in the Official Monitor 

of the Republic of Moldova and placed on the website of the National Bank of 

Moldova; 

 the annual report of the National Bank of Moldova contains information on 

modification of reporting requirements; 

 procedure and frequency of publication of information (including on the posters in the 

premises of the banks, on the websites of the banks and in mass-media) that shall be 

disclosed to the public by banks is specified in the Regulation of the National Bank of 

Moldova on disclosure by commercial banks of the Republic of Moldova of the 

information on their financial activity that was published in the Official Monitor of the 

Republic of Moldova and placed on the website of the National Bank of Moldova. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments  
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6.1.3 The regulations for the operation of organized financial markets (including those for issuers of 

traded financial instruments) should be publicly disclosed. 

Description Does not refer to the competence of the National Bank of Moldova. 

Assessment Not applicable. 

Comments  

6.1.4 Where financial agencies charge fees to financial institutions, the structure of such fees should 

be publicly disclosed. 

Description Article 18 of the Law on Licensing of certain types of Economic Activity governs fees that 

shall be paid for licensing (published in the Official Monitor on 30.07.2001). Thus, for the 

purpose of receiving a license for the activity of a financial institution the fee amounts for 

1800 Moldovan lei, the fee for issuance of the copy of this license amounts for 10 percent of 

the licensing fee, and issuance of a duplicate of the license costs 50 percent of the licensing 

fee. Licensing fees are transferred to the state budget as detailed in the Regulation on the 

procedure for calculation and payment for the settlement services provided by the National 

Bank of Moldova. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments  

6.1.5 Where applicable, formal procedures for information sharing and consultation between 

financial agencies (including central banks), domestic and international should be publicly 

disclosed.  

Description Articles 6, 8 of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova published in the Official Monitor of 

the Republic of Moldova and placed on the website of the National Bank of Moldova sets 

forth the principles of cooperation with the state bodies and with public, Government and the 

Parliament. There are currently no formal procedures for the sharing of information and 

consultation between local financial agencies in place. The Republic of Moldova concluded 

arrangements on the cooperation in the area of the supervision of financial institutions with 

foreign supervisory entities. However, there is  insufficient public disclosure of the existence 

of procedures of such arrangements  

Assessment Partly observed. 

Comments Additional disclosure on information about arrangements between domestic and international 

financial agencies (including central banks) could be made available to the public. 

6.2 Significant changes in financial policies should be publicly announced and explained in a 

timely manner. 

Description All changes in the prudential regulations are initially discussed with the banking community 

and after their enactment are forwarded to the commercial banks, and at the same time they 

are published in the Official Monitor of the Republic of Moldova and placed on the website of 

the National Bank of Moldova The National Bank of Moldova issues frequent press releases. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments  

6.3 Financial agencies should issue periodic public reports on how their overall policy 

objectives are being pursued. 

Description Information on how the financial policy objectives are pursued is disclosed in the annual 

report published on the website of the National Bank of Moldova and in the quarterly 

bulletins. Officials of the Bank periodically provide information in the mass media on 

implementation of the financial policy of the National Bank of Moldova. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments  

6.4 For proposed substantive technical changes to the structure of financial regulations, 

there should be a presumption in favor of public consultations, within an appropriate 

period. 

Description The policy of the National Bank of Moldova on the consolidation of the banking system of the 

Republic of Moldova and methods of its implementation (forwarded to the Banking 

Association of Moldova and information published on 4.10.2001 in “Moldova Suverana”) 

indicates that the National Bank of Moldova will request review by the banks and the bankers 
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association of the new draft regulations with regard thereto (9.1). Drafts of all regulations are 

initially discussed with the banking community and to a certain extent with the bankers 

association. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments  

VII. PUBLIC AVAILABILITY OF INFORMATION ON FINANCIAL POLICIES 

7.1 Financial agencies should issue a periodic public report on the major developments of 

the sector(s) of the financial system for which they carry designated responsibility. 

Description The National Bank of Moldova publishes an Annual Report on the economic situation of the 

Republic of Moldova, activity of the National Bank of Moldova. The annual report contains a 

chapter on supervision and regulation of the banking activity, including financial indices of 

the banking system. This information is also available on the website of the National Bank of 

Moldova in the state language and in English. Also quarterly bulletins are published. Article 

13 of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova requires publication of this report and 

specifies that the National Bank of Moldova shall deliver to Parliament and to Government an 

assessment of the economic and financial conditions of the Republic. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments The National Bank of Moldova follows the recommendations on transparency specified 

throughout the 82 pages of the IMF’s manual on transparency issued in 1999.  

7.2 Financial agencies should seek to ensure that, consistent with confidentiality 

requirements, there is public reporting of aggregate data related to their jurisdictional 

responsibilities on a timely and regular basis. 

Description The Annual Report includes a chapter that discloses information on assets, capital, liabilities, 

liquidity, profit and expenditures of the banking sector. As indicated previously the 

information is available on the on the website of the National Bank of Moldova in the state 

language and in English. Article 13 of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova requires 

publication of this report. 

 

On a quarterly basis, information on financial indices of the banking system is published in 

mass media newspapers that include the “Moldavskie Vedomosti” or the “Moldova 

Suverana”. The quarterly bulletins contain information on the developments in the banking 

system of the Republic of Moldova registered during the precedent quarter and are also 

available on the website of the National Bank of Moldova. 

 

On a monthly basis, information on the assets, capital, liabilities, as well as financial indices of 

the banking system of the Republic of Moldova is published on the website of the National 

Bank of Moldova. Also, on a monthly basis, mass media publish information on the activity of 

commercial banks. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments  

7.3 Where applicable, financial agencies should publicly disclose their balance sheets on a 

preannounced schedule and, after a predetermined interval, publicly disclose 

information on aggregate market transactions. 

Description In conformity with Article 13 of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova annually, no later 

than February 1st, the National Bank delivers to the Parliament and to the Government and 

publishes a statement that describes monetary and foreign exchange policy that the National 

Bank of Moldova proposes for the next year, as well as an assessment of the monetary and 

foreign exchange policy carried out during the previous year. Also in conformity with Article 

69 of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova, the National Bank of Moldova within four 

months after the close of each of its financial years, submits to the Parliament a copy of its 

financial statements, a report of its operations and affairs during that year and publishes on the 

website of the National Bank of Moldova in the state language and in English the financial 

statement of the National Bank that is part of the annual report and quarterly bulletins that 

contain information about the developments in the banking system of the Republic of 

Moldova registered in the previous quarter.  
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Assessment Observed. 

Comments Although there is no pre-announced publication date, public is aware of the publication in the 

middle of each month from the National Bank of Moldova’s practice, and it can be considered 

to be “observed.” 

7.3.1 Consistent with confidentiality and privacy of information on individual firms, aggregate 

information on emergency financial support by financial agencies should be publicly disclosed 

through an appropriate statement when such disclosure will not be disruptive to financial 

stability. 

Description Information on open market operations, on deposit auctions, overnight credits and financial 

markets is published on a monthly basis on the website of the National Bank of Moldova in 

the state language and in English and in monthly issues. 

 

The website in 2003 contained information that in order to obtain liquidity for a short period 

of time commercial banks used Lombard facility and overnight credits provided by the 

National Bank of Moldova in the amount of 541.1 million lei. 

Assessment Partly observed. 

Comments In the past, emergency liquidity assistance was made available to the banks, however, 

information was not publicly disclosed  

7.4 Financial agencies should establish and maintain public information services. 

Description The National Bank of Moldova has its own website where it publishes banking legislation, 

regulations of the National Bank, monthly reports, annual reports, monetary policy. On the 

website information is available in Rumanian and in English). The information is updated 

upon modification of the regulations. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments  

7.4.1 Financial agencies should have a publications program, including a periodic public report on 

their principal activities issued at least annually. 

Description As indicated in 7.3 the National Bank of Moldova, in conformity with Article 13 of the Law 

on the National Bank of Moldova annually, no later than February 1st, makes this information 

available in print and on its website. The information includes a statement that describes 

monetary and foreign exchange policy that the National Bank of Moldova proposes for the 

next year, as well as an assessment of the monetary and foreign exchange policy carried out 

during the previous year. 

 

Also in conformity with Article 69 of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova, the National 

Bank of Moldova within four months after the close of each of its financial year, submit to the 

Parliament a copy of its financial statements, a report of its operations and affairs during that 

year and makes available this information on its website. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments  

7.4.2 Senior financial agency officials should be ready to explain their institution’s objective(s) and 

performance to the public, and have a presumption in favor of releasing the text of their 

statements to the public. 

Description Senior officials, including the governor, vice-governors, and heads of the divisions 

periodically inform the public in mass-media publications and the radio about the activity of 

the National Bank of Moldova. However, they could also consider publishing the texts of their 

speeches or their interviews. 

 

Assessment Broadly observed. 

Comments A number of newspaper articles were reviewed. Also, tapes of Radio Moldova 1 covering an 

interview on “Guarantying the deposits of individuals in the banking system" are available. 

7.5 Texts of regulations and any other generally applicable directives and guidelines issued by 

financial agencies should be readily available to the public. 

Description All regulations of the National Bank of Moldova are published in the Official 
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Monitor of the Republic of Moldova and placed on the website of the National Bank of 

Moldova in the state language and in English. Following the enactment of the regulation the 

full text of the regulation is published in mass media. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments  

7.6 Where there are deposit insurance guarantees, policyholder guarantees, and any other 

client asset protection schemes, information on the nature and form of such protections, 

the operating procedures, how the guarantee is financed, and the performance of the 

arrangement should be publicly disclosed. 

Description On 13.02.2004 the Law on Guarantying the deposits of physical persons in the banking system 

was promulgated by the Decree of the President of the Republic of Moldova, and published in 

the Official Monitor of the republic of Moldova. This law takes effect on July 1, 2004. 

The draft of the law was previously discussed with the banking community; the public was 

informed through mass-media and through a Radio Moldova 1 interview with senior managers 

of the National Bank of Moldova of physical persons in the banking system. 

All publications of the press-center of the National Bank of Moldova are available on the 

website of the National Bank of Moldova in the state language and in English. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments  

7.7 Where financial agencies oversee consumer protection arrangements (such as dispute 

settlement processes), information on such arrangements should be publicly disclosed. 

Description The National Bank of Moldova does not oversee consumer protection arrangements 

which are outside its jurisdiction. 

 

Dispute settlements are reviewed in judicial bodies. The Law on Financial Institutions, art. 43 

specifies that conflicts between banks, banks and other persons, National Bank of Moldova 

and banks shall be settled in competent judicial bodies in conformity with the procedure 

envisioned in legislation. 

Assessment Not applicable. 

Comments  

VIII. ACCOUNTABILITY AND ASSURANCES OF INTEGRITY BY FINANCIAL AGENCIES 

8.1 Officials of financial agencies should be available to appear before a designated public 

authority to report on the conduct of financial policies, explain the policy objective(s) of their 

institution, describe their performance in pursuing their objective(s), and, as appropriate, 

exchange views on the state of the financial system. 

Description Officials of the National Bank of Moldova appear before the relevant Parliamentary 

committee. Annually the Governor of the National Bank of Moldova addresses the Parliament 

on the performance of the National Bank of Moldova and answers questions from the 

Parliament members. Also, Article 8 (3) of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova 

stipulates that the Governor of the National Bank or members of the Council of 

Administration shall appear before the Parliament or standing committees thereof to explain 

the policies of the National Bank or to comment on proposed legislation, at the request of the 

Parliament. 

 

Also, Article 13 (1) of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova stipulates that annually, no 

later than February 1st, the National Bank shall deliver and publish to the Parliament and to 

the Government a statement that includes: 

 an assessment of the economic and financial conditions of the Republic and a 

description and an explanation of the reasons therefore, the monetary and foreign 

exchange policies that the National Bank intends to follow during the next year and for 

such longer period of time as the National Bank may decide; and 

 a review and assessment of the monetary and foreign exchange policies during the 

previous year. In conformity with Article 69 of the National Bank of Moldova Law, the 

National Bank of Moldova submits to the Parliament a report on its activities. The 

Report is available on the website of the National Bank of Moldova. 
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Assessment Observed. 

Comments  

8.2 Where applicable, financial agencies should publicly disclose audited financial 

statements of their operations on a pre-announced schedule. 

Description Article 69 of the of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova requires the National Bank of 

Moldova to submit to Parliament within four months after the close of each of its financial 

year appropriate financial statements certified by its auditors. This information is contained in 

the National Bank of Moldova’s Annual report, which is published. The annual financial 

statements certified by National Bank of Moldova’s auditors, is on the website of the National 

Bank of Moldovan. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments The annual report is comprehensive and is over 85 pages long. Although there is no pre-

announced publication date, public is aware of the publication in the middle of each month 

from the National Bank of Moldova’s practice, and it can be considered to be “observed.” 

8.2.1 Financial statements, if any, should be audited by an independent auditor. Information on 

accounting policies and any qualification to the statements should be an integral part of the 

publicly disclosed financial statements. 

Description Article 68 (External audit accounts) of the of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova 

stipulates that the statements, accounts and records of the National Bank may be audited by 

authorized auditors appointed by the National Bank and by officials of Court of Accounts. 

Decisions of the Courts of Accounts are published in the official Monitor of the Republic of 

Moldova. 

 

Annually the activity of the National Bank of Moldova is inspected by external auditors of 

PricewaterhouseCoopers, the conclusions are published as part of the National Bank of 

Moldova’s annual report. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments The English version of the 2003 Annual Report not yet available. In the 2002 Annual Report, 

PriceWaterhouseCoopers, indicated that without qualifying their opinion, they were drawing 

attention to the fact that at the time of the preparation of the report, there was uncertainty in 

the Republic of Moldova surrounding the likely future direction of domestic economic policy, 

regulatory policy and political developments. 

8.2.2 Internal governance procedures necessary to ensure the integrity of operations, including 

internal audit arrangements, should be publicly disclosed. 

Description The National Bank of Moldova has an internal audit function. In accordance with the 

requirements of Article 33 of the Law on the National Bank, the National Bank of Moldova 

has established an internal Audit Department. Article 33 of the Law on the National Bank 

describes the procedure for appointment of the Comptroller General, as well as his main 

functions. The article describes authorities and duties of the general controller’s service. The 

Law on the National bank of Moldova and the organizational structure of the Bank are 

published on the website of the National Bank of Moldova. The annual financial statements of 

the National Bank of Moldova are inspected by the General Controlling Service. 

Assessment Partly observed. 

Comments Internal governance procedures are in place, but should be publicly disclosed. 

8.3 Where applicable, information on the operating expenses and revenues of financial agencies 

should be publicly disclosed annually. 

Description The Annual report submitted to the Parliament in conformity with Article 69 of the Law on 

the National Bank presents information on profit and expenditures covering the activity of the 

National Bank of Moldova. The break down of the expenditures is not very detailed. 

Assessment Broadly observed. 

Comments A separate report on the budget of the Bank Supervision Department is not available. 

However, since the National Bank of Moldova is also the Bank Supervisor, the expenses 

associated with bank supervision and regulation activities are included within the other 

expenses and revenues of the National Bank of Moldova and are disclosed in the Annual 

Report to Parliament. 
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8.4 Standards for the conduct of personal financial affairs of officials and staff of financial 

agencies and rules to prevent exploitation of conflicts of interest, including any general 

fiduciary obligation, should be publicly disclosed. 

Description The standards for the conduct of personal financial affairs and conflicts of interest are 

addressed in Article 32 of the Law on the National Bank of Moldova that indicates that upon 

joining the Council of Administration and annually thereafter, members of the Council of 

Administration shall disclose to the Council in full their significant pecuniary interests that 

they or members of their household may have, directly or indirectly; such disclosures shall 

comply with guidelines adopted by the Council. 

 

Article 35 of the same law mandates that no member of the Council of Administration or staff 

of the National Bank shall act as a delegate of any commercial, financial or other business 

interest, or otherwise put himself in a position where his personal interest conflicts with his 

duties to the National Bank. 

 

In conformity with article 34 of the same law no member of the staff of the National Bank 

shall simultaneously have other employment and shall not accept any remuneration from 

natural or legal persons (except honors for publications and payments for lecturing at 

educational institutions). Any credit, other than from the National Bank, received by National 

Bank staff shall be reported by the staff member to the Audit Department, which shall 

maintain a record thereof. 

 

The manual on on-site inspections requires that the staff of the Banking Supervision 

Department inform the Head of the department about their kinship or marriage relations with 

the staff or administration of the banks. Also, an employee that has a relative with a bank that 

is subject to an inspection shall not be appointed to carry out this inspection. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments  
8.4.1 Information about legal protections for officials and staff of financial agencies in the conduct 

of their official duties should be publicly disclosed. 

Description The legal protection for supervisors is currently not addressed. No law provides for legal 

protection to the supervisory agency and its staff for actions taken while discharging their 

duties in good faith. There is no formal National Bank of Moldova indemnification policy 

protecting employees against the costs of defending their actions while discharging their 

duties. 

Assessment None Observed. 

Comments The official opinion of the National Bank of Moldova is that such provisions are not 

necessary, as according to Article 38 (7) banks may only complain against the National Bank 

of Moldova. 
 

Table 5. Summary Observance of IMF’s MFP Transparency CodeBanking 

Supervision 
 

Assessment 

Grade 

Practices Grouped by Assessment Grade 

Count List 

Observed 21 5.1, 5.1.2, 5.1.3, 6.1.1, 6.1.2, 6.1.4, 6.2, 6.3, 6.4, 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 7.4.1, 

7.4.2, 7.5, 7.6, 8.1, 8.2, 8.2.1, 8.4 

Broadly observed 5 5.1.1, 5.1.4, 5.2, 6.1, 8.3 

Partly observed 3 6.1.5, 7.3.1, 8.2.2, 

Non-observed 1 8.4.1 

Not applicable 6 5.3, 5.3.1, 5.4, 5.5, 6.1.3, 7.7 
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Recommended action plan 

 

Table 6. Recommended Action Plan to Improve Observance of IMF’s MFP 

Transparency Code PracticesBanking Supervision 
 

Reference Practice Recommended Action 

V. Clarity of Roles, 

Responsibilities, and Objectives of 

Financial Agencies Responsible for 

Financial Policies 

The relationship between financial agencies should be publicly 

disclosed. 

VI. Open Process for Formulating 

and Reporting of Financial Policies 

Additional information should be made available on the bilateral 

arrangements between domestic and international financial agencies 

(including central banks). 

VII. Public Availability of 

Information on Financial Policies 

A Consumer Protection Bank Supervision Group could be created 

within the National Bank of Moldova. This group would be responsible to 

handle the public’s complaints about the Banking System. 

 

The National Bank of Moldova should decide as to the best 

timeframe in which to publicly disclose information on emergency 

liquidity assistance. 

VIII. Accountability and 

Assurance of Integrity by Financial 

Agencies 

A law should be enacted to provide for legal protection to the 

supervisory agency and its staff for actions taken while discharging their 

duties in good faith. 

 

Internal governance procedures should be publicly disclosed. 

 

Authorities’ response to the assessment 

 

 
The National Bank of Moldova kindly provided detailed comments on earlier drafts of this 

detailed assessment in their letters of June 2004 and October 2004 addressed to the FSAP team. 

All comments received have been carefully considered and are fully reflected in this final version 

of the assessment dated December 2004. 
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III. DETAILED ASSESSMENT OF OBSERVANCE OF THE IMF CODE OF GOOD 

PRACTICES ON TRANSPARENCY IN MONETARY AND FINANCIAL 

POLICIESMONETARY POLICY 
 

Transparency of Monetary Policy 

General 

43. This assessment examines the observance by the National Bank of Moldova 

(NBM) of the IMF’s Code of Good Practices on Transparency in Monetary and 

Financial Policies (MFP Transparency Code) for monetary policy. It was conducted as 

part of the joint IMF/World Bank Financial Sector Assessment Program (FSAP). The 

assessment was based on a review of relevant laws, regulations, and policies; 

documentation provided on the NBM web-site and in a variety of official NBM 

publications; and discussions with various departments of the NBM. The assessment was 

based on the MFP Transparency Code, and has taken into account the implementation 

issues mentioned in the Supporting Document to the MFP Transparency Code.  
 

44. The legal documents that were reviewed include the Law on the National Bank of 

Moldova, the Law on Financial Institutions, the Law on Public Debt and State 

Guaranties, the Foreign Exchange Regulations in the Territory of the Republic of 

Moldova, Regulations on Open Market Operations of the NBM, and the Law on the 

Procedure for Publication and Enactment of the Official Acts. Most of these documents 

can be retrieved from the websites of the NBM (http://www.bnm.org). 

 

45. The Moldovan authorities cooperated fully with the assessment and provided all 

of the necessary information and documentation 
 

Institutional Structure – Overview  

46. The Law on the National Bank of Moldova was adopted in 1995 with Technical 

Assistances from the IMF, with some subsequent revisions. It defines the primary 

objective of the NBM as the maintenance of stability of its national currency. It is 

stipulated in the same law that “the NBM in cooperation with the Government shall 

formulate and implement monetary and foreign exchange policy ... taking into account 

the prevailing economic and financial conditions of the Republic.” It also guarantees the 

operational independence of the NBM with respect to the government and its 

administrative bodies in pursuing these objectives. The Finance Minister is allowed to 

attend the meetings of the central bank but does not have voting power. 

 

47. The responsibilities of the NBM cover, among others, the design and conduct of 

monetary policy, the issuance of licenses to financial institutions and the supervision of 

their activities, the management of foreign exchange reserves and the conduct of foreign 

exchange policy, the conduct of payment operations, and the issuance of banknotes and 

coins. The NBM has developed a range of monetary policy instruments (open market 

operations, overnight credits and deposits, deposit auctions, the Lombard facility, and 

reserve requirements) but relies mostly on reserve requirements.  

http://www.bnm.org/
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48. The institutional relationship between monetary and fiscal operations is defined in 

the Law on the NBM. Direct purchasing of government securities in the Primary market is 

prohibited. However, lending to the government is permitted by the law. The NBM 

assumes a number of agency roles on behalf of the government, including foreign 

exchange reserves management, representation in the international financial institutions, 

international payment operations, and certain banking operations on account of the 

government. 

 

49. The NBM is governed by the Council of Administration, which consists of five 

members, including the Governor as chairman and four Vice-Governors. The current 

legislation stipulates that all members of the Council are appointed by Parliament, upon 

proposal of the NBM. The terms of appointment are seven years, with the possibility of 

renewal. Members of the Council can be dismissed by the Parliament in the event of 

specific acts of criminal behavior, bankruptcy, and incapacity due to personal 

misconduct, with the vote of two third of the total number of deputies for the Governor, 

and with the simple majority of votes of the total number of deputies for other members. 
 

50. Disclosure on the NBM’s activities is achieved through a variety of means. 

Monetary policy decisions are announced on the same day through press releases and on 

the NBM’s web-site. The NBM publishes Annual Reports, Quarterly Bulletins, and 

Monthly Monetary syntheses, and various announcements on the web-site through which 

it discloses the framework, instruments, and targets of monetary policy; monetary policy 

decisions; data reporting requirements for financial institutions; and, the rules and 

regulations governing various aspects of its operations with the financial and non-

financial public. Further, the financial accounts of the central bank are audited annually 

by an independent auditor, whose findings are disclosed in the Annual Report.  

 

Principle-by-Principle Assessment 

51. The assessment of observance with each practice of the MFP Transparency Code 

is made qualitatively, based on existing laws, regulations, and practices. A five-part 

assessment system is used: observed, implying full observance or with insignificant 

shortcomings; broadly observed, where minor weaknesses exist and these are not seen as 

being of a significant nature so as to raise serious doubts about the NBM’s ability to 

achieve the objective of that practice; partly observed, where shortcomings are sufficient 

to raise doubts about the NBM’s ability to achieve observance and which could affect the 

operational process and effectiveness of monetary policy; not observed, where the 

practice is not being observed and no substantive progress has been recorded toward 

achieving the objectives of the practice; and not applicable, where, due to the institutional 

and legal framework, the transparency practice is not relevant. 
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Table 7. Detailed  Assessment of Observance of IMF’s MFP Transparency Code  

-  Monetary Policy 

 
I. CLARITY OF ROLES, RESPONSIBILITIES AND OBJECTIVES OF CENTRAL BANKS FOR MONETARY POLICY 

1.1 The ultimate objective(s) and institutional framework of monetary policy should be 

clearly defined in relevant legislation or regulation, including, where appropriate, a 

central bank law. 

Description The Law on the National Bank (published—as all other laws and regulations— in the 

Official Monitor and various computerized data bases, such as “SupeLex”, “MolLex”, 

“Juristul”, etc.), in its Article 4 describes the main objectives as follows: “The main 

objective of the National Bank is to achieve and maintain the stability of the national 

currency. In order to achieve this objective the National Bank establishes and maintains 

monetary, credit and exchange market conditions conducive to the orderly, balanced and 

sustained economic development of the Republic and especially of the market-based 

financial and foreign exchange system.” 

Assessment Broadly observed. 
Comments The NBM’s objectives are defined in the central bank law but only in very general terms 

that leave substantial scope for interpretation. The stability of the national currency can be 

interpreted both as fighting inflation and keeping the stability of foreign exchange rate, 

which have contradictory policy implications at a time when the local currency is 

appreciating. Improvements could be attained by specifying what is meant by the stability 

of the national currency. 

1.1.1 The ultimate objective(s) of monetary policy should be specified in legislation and publicly 

disclosed and explained. 

Description See 1.1 for the ultimate objective. 

Furthermore, the NBM’s ultimate policy objective for the year is explained in the 

“Monetary and Foreign Exchange Policy of the National Bank of Moldova” for each year 

(the annual action plan), and is publicly disclosed on the NBM’s web-site in early months 

of the year. 

Assessment Broadly observed. 

Comments The ultimate objective of the NBM, as laid down in legislation, is not clear enough, but the 

annual action plan that is posted on the website has a satisfactory description of the current 

policy objectives of the NBM. 

1.1.2 The responsibilities of the central bank should be specified in legislation. 

Description Article 5. of the Law on the NBM envisions the following: 

The National Bank shall have the following general functions: 

a. to formulate and to promote the state monetary and foreign exchange policy; 

b. to act as banker and fiscal agent of the Republic; 

c. to conduct economic and monetary analysis and submit proposals to the Government on 

the basis of such analysis, and publish the results of such analysis; 

d. to license, supervise and regulate the activity of financial institutions; 

e. to provide credit facilities to banks and the state. 

f. to supervise the system of payments of the Republic and to facilitate efficient functioning 

of the inter-bank system of payments. 

g. to act as the sole issuer of domestic currency in the Republic; 

h. to hold and manage foreign exchange reserves of the Republic; 

i. to undertake, in the name of the Republic, responsibilities and perform transactions 

resulting from the participation of the Republic of Moldova in the activity of 

international public institutions in the banking, credit and monetary spheres pursuant to 

conditions of international agreements; 

j. to settle the balance of payments of the Republic. 

Assessment Observed. 
Comments       
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1.1.3 The legislation establishing the central bank should specify that the central bank has the 

authority to utilize monetary policy instruments to attain the policy objective(s). 

Description Article 14 of the Law on the NBM envisions the following: 

“In implementation of its monetary and foreign exchange policy responsibilities, the 

National Bank shall employ measures including those described in this Chapter.” 

Articles 15 through 18 of the law give detailed description on the NBM’s activities 

regarding, open market operation, foreign exchange, required reserves, and credits to 

banks, respectively. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments       

1.1.4 Institutional responsibility for foreign exchange policy should be publicly disclosed. 

Description The NBM’s responsibility for foreign exchange policy is stipulated in the Law on the NBM 

and explained in detail in the Foreign Exchange Regulations in the Territory of the 

Republic of Moldova. 

Article 12 of the Law on the NBM envisions the following:  

“The National Bank in cooperation with the Government shall formulate and implement 

monetary and foreign exchange policy ..., taking into account the prevailing economic and 

financial conditions of the Republic.” 

Furthermore, Article 51 states: 

“The National Bank shall have the power (pursuant to foreign exchange regulation), to: 

a) issue rules and regulations on foreign exchange transactions of individuals and legal 

entities, including financial institutions and Government agencies; 

b) license, revoke the licenses of, supervise and regulate foreign exchange dealers, 

including banks; 

c) set limits on foreign exchange positions of foreign exchange dealers, including banks; 

d) establish the method for determining the value of Moldovan Leu in relation to other 

currencies.” 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments  

1.1.5 The broad modalities of accountability for the conduct of monetary policy and for any 

other responsibilities assigned to the central bank should be specified in legislation. 

Description In conformity with Article 5 of the Law on the NBM, the NBM shall carry out economic 

and monetary analysis and on the basis of the results of such analysis present proposals to 

the Government and inform the public about the results of such analysis. 

Article 8 envisions that the Governor of the NBM or the members of Council of 

Administration shall appear before the Parliament or its standing committees thereof to 

explain the policies of the NBM.  

Article 13 prescribes the modality and the content of annual report of the NBM 

Article 53 prescribes that if the international reserves have declined or, in the opinion of the 

NBM, are in danger of declining to such an extent as to jeopardize the execution of the 

monetary or foreign exchange policies or achievement of the international transactions in 

time, the NBM shall submit to the Parliament and Government a report on the international 

reserve position and the causes which have led or may lead to such a decline.  

And, in conformity with Article 69, the NBM has to submit to the Parliament  a copy of its 

financial statements certified by its auditors;  a report of its operations and affairs during 

that year; and a report on the situation of the state economy. Concomitantly, the NBM has 

to submit to the Parliament and the Government, a summary financial statement for the 

previous month, by the 25th day of each following month. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments       

1.1.6 If, in exceptional circumstances, the government has the authority to override central bank 

policy decisions, the conditions under which this authority may be invoked and the manner 

in which it is publicly disclosed should be specified in legislation. 

Description Legislation ensures that the NBM is an independent entity and the government cannot 



 - 66 - 

   

override its decision. 

Assessment Not applicable. 

Comments As the NBM’s lending to the government is authorized by the legislations without any 

clear prudential criteria and limits to be applied with, interference from the government 

cannot be precluded, but is difficult to prove. 

1.1.7 The procedures for appointment, terms of office, and any general criteria for removal of the 

heads and members of the governing body of the central bank should be specified in 

legislation. 

Description The Council of Administration is the governing body of the NBM. Article 23 of the Law 

on the NBM clearly lays down all procedures for appointment, terms of office, and any 

general criteria for removal of the heads and members of the Council of Administration. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments       

1.2 The institutional relationship between monetary and fiscal operations should be 

clearly defined. 

Description The Law on the NBM defines the institutional relationship between monetary and fiscal 

operations in the following way: 

 The NBM is the banker and fiscal agent of the government (Article 37). 

 Consultation with the Ministry of Finance (MOF) and reporting to the Parliament 

by the NBM on public sector borrowing (Article 38). 

 The NBM to act as depository and cashier for the government (Article 39). 

 The NBM may extend credit to the state (Article 41). 

The NBM may purchase government securities on the secondary market (Article 42). 

Assessment Partly observed. 

Comments The NBM’s lending to the Republic is problematic in terms of clear division of monetary 

and fiscal operations, especially because these credits are in practice automatically rolled 

over at maturity. There should be more specified criteria and limitation on financing terms. 

1.2.1 If credits, advances, or overdrafts to the government by the central bank are permitted, the 

conditions when they are permitted, and any limits thereof, should be publicly disclosed.  

Description The NBM extends credits to the state in conformity with Article 41 of the Law on the 

NBM (that sets forth conditions for extension of credits certified by negotiable debt 

securities that bear market interest rates); the Annual Law on Budget, and the Monetary 

and Foreign Exchange Policy of the NBM for the respective year (that sets forth limits and 

destination of credits); Article 12 of the Law on Public Debt and State Guaranties (that 

determines the designation) and the Regulation of the NBM on the principles of crediting 

of the MOF. 

The aforementioned laws and regulations, as well as information with regard to public debt 

to the NBM are published periodically in mass media. 

Assessment Partly observed. 

Comments Although the Law on the NBM lists some conditions for extending credit to the 

government, these are focusing more on procedure and do not provide prudential 

limitation. Furthermore, despite the maturity limitation on T-Bills holdings under the Law 

on the NBM, in practice these debts are customarily rolled over at maturity which is 

contrary to the spirit of the legislation. 

1.2.2 The amounts and terms of credits, advances, or overdrafts to the government by the central 

bank and those of deposits of the government with the central bank should be publicly 

disclosed. 

Description The balance of the debt of the state to the NBM including borrowings of the state and 

government securities in the portfolio of the NBM as a result of securitization of the debts 

previously extended to the state, as well as the average interest rates are published in mass 

media and on the NBM website. Information on the new credits extended to the state are 

published no later than one month following the extension thereof. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments       
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1.2.3 The procedures for direct central bank participation in the primary markets for government 

securities, where permitted, and in the secondary markets, should be publicly disclosed. 

Description The Law on the NBM (article 42) envisions the right to purchase, in open market 

operations, publicly issued government securities. Open market operations executed by the 

NBM in the secondary market are governed by the Regulation of the NBM “On Open 

Market Operations of the NBM” that is published in Official Monitor of the Republic of 

Moldova and on the website of the NBM. 

The Law on the NBM does not envision the right of direct participation of the NBM in the 

primary market of government securities, and the NBM does not execute such transactions. 

However, the NBM holds a portfolio of government securities acquired as a result of 

conversion of loans contracted by the Government in previous years. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments Legislation prohibits the NBM’s participation in the primary market. However, the NBM 

holds state securities not purchased through the secondary market trading, but as a result of 

securitization of its credits to the governments in the previous years. The principle has been 

deemed to be observed, because the securitization cannot be deemed “primary market,” 

although its macroeconomic effects are identical. 

1.2.4 Central bank involvement in the rest of the economy (e.g., through equity ownership, 

membership on governing boards, procurement, or provision of services for fee) should be 

conducted in an open and public manner on the basis of clear principles and procedures. 

Description Article 71 of the Law on the NBM stipulates prohibited activities of the National Bank, 

including granting any financial assistance, and engaging in commerce. The same article 

also clearly states what is permitted to be done on what conditions. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments       

1.2.5 The manner in which central bank profits are allocated and how capital is maintained 

should be publicly disclosed. 

Description Article 19 of the Law on the NBM, stipulates the capital of the central bank and envisions 

that  

“(2) No reduction of capital shall be effected except by amending this Law. 

(3) If on the balance sheet of the National Bank the value of its assets falls relative to its 

liabilities or capital, the Ministry of Finance shall transfer within 60 days of publication of 

such balance sheet to the National Bank, as a capital contribution, negotiable government 

securities bearing market interest rate in such amounts as is necessary to remedy the 

deficiency.” 

Article 20 of the same law describes in detail the allocation of central bank income, while 

Article 21 its budget. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments  

1.3 Agency roles performed by the central bank on behalf of the government should be 

clearly defined. 

Description See 1.3.1 and 1.3.2. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments       

1.3.1 Responsibilities, if any, of the central bank in (i) the management of domestic and external 

public debt and foreign exchange reserves, (ii) as banker to the government, (iii) as fiscal 

agent of the government, and (iv) as advisor on economic and financial policies and in the 

field of international cooperation, should be publicly disclosed.  

Description The Law on the NBM envisions the following: 

 “Each year, the Government shall consult the National Bank on its objectives for 

domestic and external public sector borrowing for the next financial year, 

including the amounts to be contracted and the terms and conditions of such 

borrowing” (Article 38).  

 “The National Bank, on such terms and conditions as it shall agree upon with the 

Government, shall act as a fiscal agent of the state in servicing dematerialized 
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government securities” (Article 40). 

The responsibilities of the central bank in the management of external public debt and 

foreign exchange reserves, responsibilities as advisor on economic and financial policies 

and in the field of international cooperation are envisioned in the following legal acts: Law 

Nr. 943-XIII of 18.07.1996 on public debt and state guaranties, Law on the National Bank 

of Moldova and the Regulation on Foreign Exchange operations in the Republic of 

Moldova. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments       

1.3.2 The allocation of responsibilities among the central bank, the MoF, or a separate public 

agency, for the primary debt issues, secondary market arrangements, depository facilities, 

and clearing and settlement arrangements for trade in government securities, should be 

publicly disclosed. 

Description The Law on the NBM (article 40) and the Law on the State Debt and State Guaranties 

(Chapter II) envisions the following functions of the NBM as the fiscal agent of the state 

with regard to the dematerialized government securities of the state: 

 organization of primary and secondary market of the government securities; 

 accounting for and confirmation of the ownership rights in the state securities 

through registration in the system of entries in the accounts.  

 marketing of debt securities issued by the state and its bodies; 

 payment of principal of, and interest and other charges on, such securities. 

 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments       

II. OPEN PROCESS FOR FORMULATING AND REPORTING MONETARY POLICY DECISIONS 

2.1 The framework, instruments, and any targets that are used to pursue the objectives of 

monetary policy should be publicly disclosed and explained. 

Description See 1.1 and 2.1.1 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments       

2.1.1 The procedures and practices governing monetary policy instruments and operations should 

be publicly disclosed and explained. 

Description Monetary policy instruments of the NBM are developed in conformity with the decisions of 

the Council of Administration Council of the NBM and regulations of the NBM on the 

procedures of application of the monetary policy instruments: 

 Regulation on the open market operations of the NBM, Nr. 57 of  11.09.1997; 

  Regulation on overnight deposits accepted by the National Bank of Moldova from 

the banks, approved by the Decision of the Council of Administration of the NBM 

Nr. 65 of 27.03.2003; 

 Regulation on the procedure for execution by the National Bank of Moldova of 

deposit operations in Moldovan lei  with authorized banks, adopted by the Decision 

of the Council of Administration of the NBM Nr.424 of 28.12.2000; 

 Regulation on the procedure for provision by the National Bank of Moldova of 

overnight credits adopted by the Decision of the Council of Administration of the 

NBM Nr.423 of 28.12.2000; 

 Regulation on Lombard facilities between the National Bank of Moldova and 

commercial banks adopted by the Council of Administration of the NBM, protocol 

Nr. 28 of 18.10.1995; 

Regulation on the procedure for formation and maintenance of obligatory reserves by 

commercial banks of the Republic of Moldova, Nr. 5\08 of 26.12.1995. 

Assessment Broadly observed. 

Comments The procedures and practices governing monetary policy instruments and operations are 

publicly disclosed and explained. It would be desirable, however, to have a deeper 

explanation of the overall picture of the policy instruments and operation, with clearer 
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descriptions of the relations between each instrument. Furthermore, it is confusing to have 

the long term interest rate listed together with policy rates, without any concrete explanation 

for what purpose it is used and how it is decided. 

2.1.2 The rules and procedures for the central bank’s relationships and transactions with counter 

parties in its monetary operations and in the markets where it operates should be publicly 

disclosed. 

Description Rules and procedures regulating relations between the NBM and its partners in the monetary 

operations are described in the regulations of the NBM. Only commercial banks that are 

primary dealers in the government securities market, selected in conformity with established 

criteria, are admitted to the open-market operations of the NBM (sale/purchase of 

government securities, repo operations in the government securities). Criteria for selection 

of banks as primary dealers in the government securities market and continuously updated 

list of primary dealers are also published at the website of the NBM. All commercial banks 

are admitted to the permanent facilities (overnight deposits/credits and Lombard facilities). 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments       

2.2 Where a permanent monetary policy making body meets to assess underlying 

economic developments, monitor progress toward achieving its monetary policy 

objective(s), and formulate policy for the period ahead, information on the 

composition, structure, and functions of that body should be publicly disclosed. 

Description The Council of Administration is the governing body of the NBM that establishes its 

operations. Its function, composition, and structure are clearly stipulated in the Law on the 

NBM (Articles 23-26). 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments       

2.2.1 If the policy making body has regularly scheduled meetings to assess underlying economic 

developments, monitor progress toward achieving its monetary policy objective(s), and 

formulate policy for the period ahead, the advance meeting schedule should be publicly 

disclosed. 

Description The Law on the NBM stipulates that the Council of Administration shall be convened by the 

governor not less frequently than once each month. Furthermore, it may also be convened at 

the written requests of three members of the Council. 

Assessment Partly observed. 

Comments Although it is clearly mentioned that the meetings would be held at least monthly, there is 

no specific advance meeting schedule disclosed. It is recommended that the meeting 

schedule be published in advance. 

2.3 Changes in the setting of monetary policy instruments (other than fine-tuning 

measures) should be publicly announced and explained in a timely manner. 

Description Decisions of the Council of Administration of the NBM on the interest rates of the monetary 

instruments of the NBM are examined and adopted in the last month of the quarter, as well 

as in the event that they are not modified, and if necessary more frequently and is published 

in mass-media with 7 days delay and a press-release is placed on the official web-site of the 

NBM of the date of adoption. All amendments to the regulations on the monetary policy 

instruments are coordinated in advance with the commercial banks and are brought to the 

notice of the banks the next day after their approval by the Council of Administration of the 

NBM, published in the Official Monitor of the Republic of Moldova, posted on the official 

website of the NBM seven days later, and explained and commented in mass media. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments       

2.3.1 The central bank should publicly disclose, with a pre-announced maximum delay, the main 

considerations underlying its monetary policy decisions. 

Description See 2.3. 

Assessment Broadly observed. 

Comments The periodic publications illustrate the macroeconomic and market surroundings, and 

provide background considerations or underlying arguments on the NBM’s monetary policy 
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decisions. However, currently, minutes of the board discussion are treated as classified, and 

there is no way for the public to know what was discussed at the board meetings. It is 

recommended that the NBM consider their disclosure after a certain period (e.g. 90 days), to 

enhance the transparency of the monetary policy decision making process. 

2.4 The central bank should issue periodic public statements on progress toward achieving 

its monetary policy objective(s) as well as prospects for achieving them. The 

arrangements could differ depending on the monetary policy framework, including the 

exchange rate regime. 

Description The Council of Administration Council adopts on a monthly basis the Monetary Synthesis 

of the NBM, which is afterwards published in hard copy and on the website of the bank. 

On a quarterly basis the Council of Administration discusses implementation of the 

monetary policy and the monetary program for the respective quarter and publishes it in the 

Quarterly Bulletin of the NBM as well as on the official website of the bank. 

The Annual Report is also approved by the Council of Administration, after which it is 

presented to the Parliament of the Republic of Moldova and is published both in hard copy 

and on the official website of the bank. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments       

2.4.1 The central bank should periodically present its monetary policy objectives to the public, 

specifying, inter alia, their rationale, quantitative targets and instruments where applicable, 

and the key underlying assumptions. 

Description See 2.4. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments       

2.4.2 The central bank should present to the public on a specified schedule a report on the 

evolving macroeconomic situation, and their implications for its monetary policy 

objective(s). 

Description See 2.4. 

The monthly, quarterly, and annual publications explain the evolving macroeconomic 

situation, and the Annual Report gives detailed analysis on their implications for the NBM’s 

monetary policy objectives. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments Although there is no pre-announced publication date, public is aware of the timing of 

publication of periodicals from the NBM’s practice, and it can be considered to be 

“observed.” 

2.5 For proposed substantive technical changes to the structure of monetary regulations, 

there should be a presumption in favor of public consultations, within an appropriate 

period. 

Description All amendments to the regulations are coordinated in advance with the commercial banks by 

providing the draft versions for any comments. The public consultation period is usually 2 

to 3 weeks. Commercial banks found that their comments are being considered and were 

generally satisfied with current NBM’s public consultation. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments       

2.6 The regulations on data reporting by financial institutions to the central bank for 

monetary policy purposes should be publicly disclosed. 

Description The Law on the procedure for publication and enactment of the official acts Nr. 173-XIII of 

06.07.1994, envisions in its article 1, 5, and 10, that regulations should be published in the 

Official Monitor that is published periodically, at least once per week, and distributed either 

through subscription or in free sale. In addition, the NBM posts the regulation on data 

reporting on its web-site. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments       
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III. PUBLIC AVAILABILITY OF INFORMATION ON MONETARY POLICY 

3.1 Presentations and releases of central bank data should meet the standards related to 

coverage, periodicity, timeliness of data and access by the public that are consistent 

with the International Monetary Fund’s data dissemination standards. 

Description Currently Moldova subscribes to the General Data Dissemination System (GDDS), and they 

meet all of the required criteria. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments       

3.2 The central bank should publicly disclose its balance sheet on a pre-announced 

schedule and, after a predetermined interval, publicly disclose selected information on 

its aggregate market transactions. 

Description Based on the Article 13 of the NBM Law, the central bank’s Annual Statement is prepared 

and submitted to the Parliament and the government. In addition, Article 69 of the same law 

stipulates that “(1) The National Bank shall, within four months after the close of each of its 

financial years, submit to the Parliament: a) a copy of its financial statements certified by its 

auditors; b) a report of its operations and affairs during that year; c) a report on the situation 

of the state economy. (2) The National Bank shall submit to the Parliament and the 

Government, a summary financial statement for the previous month, by the 25th day of each 

following month. (3) The National Bank shall publish the financial statements and reports 

referred to in paragraphs (1) and (2), as well as any other financial and economic reports and 

studies.” 

The National Bank publishes its balance sheet and income statement in the Annual Report. 

And the operations of the NBM at the monetary market are described on the website of the 

NBM on a monthly basis within 15 days in conformity with established practice. Amounts 

of open-market operations and refinancing/sterilization transactions with other instruments 

shall be published in aggregate form in monthly Monetary Synthesis, Quarterly Bulletin and 

in Annual Report  of the NBM.. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments Although there is no pre-announced publication date, public is aware of the timing of 

publication of balance sheet information and of aggregated market transaction information 

from the NBM’s practice, and it can be considered to be “observed.” 

3.2.1 Summary central bank balance sheets should be publicly disclosed on a frequent and pre-

announced schedule. Detailed central bank balance sheets prepared according to appropriate 

and publicly documented accounting standards should be publicly disclosed at least 

annually by the central bank. 

Description See 3.2. 

Assessment Partly observed. 

Comments The NBM publishes a detailed balance sheet and income statement in its annual report, but 

the summary financial statements are currently not published. 

3.2.2 Information on the central bank’s monetary operations, including aggregate amounts and 

terms of refinance or other facilities (subject to the maintenance of commercial 

confidentiality) should be publicly disclosed on a pre-announced schedule. 

Description See 3.2. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments Although there is no pre-announced publication date, public is aware of the publication in 

the middle of each month from the NBM’s practice, and it can be considered to be 

“observed.” 

3.2.3 Consistent with confidentiality and privacy of information on individual firms, aggregate 

information on emergency financial support by the central bank should be publicly disclosed 

through an appropriate central bank statement when such disclosure will not be disruptive to 

financial stability. 

Description The Law on the NBM stipulates in article 18 (3), that the NBM may extend unsecured 

credits, but only in exceptional cases, when such extension is necessary in order to protect 

the integrity of the banking system. Information about emergency support has also been 
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published in the NBMs’ quarterly and annual reports. 

Such credits are usually extended under a decision of the Parliament of the Republic of 

Moldova published in the Official Monitor. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments  

3.2.4 Information about the country’s foreign exchange reserve assets, liabilities and 

commitments by the monetary authorities should be publicly disclosed on a pre-announced 

schedule, consistent with the International Monetary Fund’s Special Data Dissemination 

Standards. 

Description In conformity with articles 5 and 8 of the Law on the NBM, the NBM periodically informs 

the public about the situation in the foreign exchange market of the Republic. 

Information on the official reserve assets and liabilities is publicly disclosed in monthly 

publications on the official website of the NBM until the 15
th

 day of the next month in 

conformity with the IMF's Data Dissemination Standards the NBM subscribed to in 1998.  

Assessment Observed. 

Comments Although there is no pre-announced publication date, public is aware of the publication in 

the middle of each month from the NBM’s practice, and it can be considered to be 

“observed.”  

3.3 The central bank should establish and maintain public information services. 

Description The NBM has a press-center that prepares and disseminates among mass-media information 

on the activity of the NBM and the banking system of the Republic of Moldova. The NBM 

also maintains a web-site. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments       

3.3.1 The central bank should have a publications program, including an Annual Report. 

Description The NBM publishes “Annual Report” in both Romanian and English language, once in three 

months it publishes Quarterly Bulletins in Romanian language, and monthly “Monetary 

Synthesis” in both Romanian and English language. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments       

3.3.2 Senior central bank officials should be ready to explain their institution’s objective(s) and 

performance to the public, and have a presumption in favor of releasing the text of their 

statements to the public. 

Description Article 8 of the Law on the NBM envisions that the Governor or members of the Council of 

Administration should appear before the Parliament or its standing committees to explain 

the policies of the National Bank or to comment on proposed legislation, at the request of 

the Parliament. 

Officials of the National Bank of Moldova periodically present explanatory information to 

the representatives of mass media at their request. 

Assessment Broadly observed. 

Comments The management of the NBM is effective in explaining the NBM’s objectives and 

performance to the public. Nevertheless, they could also consider to publish the text of their 

speeches or interviews to the public. 

3.4 Texts of regulations issued by the central bank should be readily available to the 

public. 

Description Texts of regulations issued by the NBM are published in the Official Monitor of the 

Republic of Moldova and Quarterly Bulletins of the NBM. Periodical publications placed on 

the official website of the NBM. In addition, texts are available to the public through 

computerized databases, such as Superlex and MolLex. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments       
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IV. ACCOUNTABILITY AND ASSURANCES OF INTEGRITY BY THE CENTRAL BANK 

4.1 Officials of the central bank should be available to appear before a designated public 

authority to report on the conduct of monetary policy, explain the policy objective(s) of 

their institution, describe their performance in achieving their objective(s), and, as 

appropriate, exchange views on the state of the economy and the financial system. 

Description The Annual Report of the National Bank of Moldova is presented by the Governor of the 

NBM or members of the Council of Administration of the NBM and is discussed at the 

Parliamentary Committee on Budget and Finances and at the session of the Parliament of the 

Republic of Moldova. 

The Governor of the NBM or members of the Council of Administration participate at the 

plenary sessions of the Parliament or of the respective parliamentary Committee on the issues 

related to the activity of the NBM and other economic, financial and budgetary issues. 

The Governor of the NBM also participates and reports at the sessions of the Ministers and 

the Government on the financial and budgetary issues and respective interventions are 

included into the minutes of the session. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments       

4.2 The central bank should publicly disclose audited financial statements of its operations 

on a pre-announced schedule. 

Description Article 69 of the Law on the NBM prescribes that audited financial statements should be 

disclosed to the Parliament and the government annually. These statements are also to be 

published in the NBM’s Annual report. 

Assessment Observed. 
Comments Although there is no pre-announced publication date, public is aware of the timing of 

publication of audited financial statements of NBM’s operations from the NBM’s practice, 

and it can be considered to be “observed.” 

4.2.1 The financial statements should be audited by an independent auditor. Information on 

accounting policies and any qualification to the statements should be an integral part of the 

publicly disclosed financial statements. 

Description Article 67 of the Law on the NBM prescribes that: 

“The National Bank shall prepare financial statements at the end of each financial year which 

shall include a balance sheet, a profit and loss statement, and related statements.” 

“The statements, accounts and records of the National Bank may be audited by 

authorized auditors appointed by the National Bank and by officials of Court of 

Accounts.” (Article 68). 

Financial statements of the NBM undergo annual external auditing by an independent 

international auditing company, presently  Pricewaterhouse Coopers. Information on 

accounting policies is included into the explanatory notes to the financial statements. 

Financial statements included into the Annual Report of the NBM are annually placed on the 

official website of the NBM, as well as published in the Annual Report of the NBM. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments       

4.2.2 Internal governance procedures necessary to ensure the integrity of operations, including 

internal audit arrangements, should be publicly disclosed. 

Description Integrity of operations is ensured by implementation of the Internal Control System in the 

organizational structure of the NBM in conformity with the requirements of the Regulation 

on the internal control system of the NBM.  

The Law on the NBM is disclosed publicly, but the Regulation on the internal control system 

of the NBM, Regulation on internal control (auditing) in the NBM, and the Regulation on the 

General Control System are not disclosed publicly since provisions of Article 11 of the Law 

on the NBM envision that only normative acts of the NBM that are obligatory for financial 

institutions and other natural and legal persons shall be published. The aforementioned 

regulations are placed on the internal website of the NBM and can be accessed only by the 

staff of the NBM. 
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Assessment Partly observed. 

Comments Although Article 33 of the Law on the NBM stipulates general logistical procedures, the 

specific regulations related to the internal control system of the NBM are not disclosed to the 

public. 

4.3 Information on the expenses and revenues in operating the central bank should be 

publicly disclosed annually. 

Description The financial statements of the NBM reported in the annual report contain information on the 

operating expense and revenues of the NBM. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments       

4.4 Standards for the conduct of personal financial affairs of officials and staff of the 

central bank and rules to prevent exploitation of conflicts of interest, including any 

general fiduciary obligation, should be publicly disclosed. 

Description The Law on the NBM stipulates in article 32 that upon joining the Council of Administration 

and annually thereafter, members of the Council of Administration shall disclose to the 

Council in full their significant pecuniary interests that they or members of their household 

may have, directly or indirectly; such disclosures shall comply with guidelines adopted by the 

Council. The same Law in article 35 envisions that no member of the Council of 

Administration or staff of the National Bank shall act as a delegate of any commercial, 

financial or other business interest, or otherwise put himself in a position where his personal 

interest conflicts with his duties to the NBM. 

In conformity with article 34 of this law no member of the staff of the NBM shall 

simultaneously have other employment and shall not accept any remuneration from natural or 

legal persons (except honors for publications and payments for lecturing at educational 

institutions). Any credit, other than from the NBM, received by NBM staff shall be reported 

by the staff member to the Audit Department, which shall maintain a record thereof. 

Assessment Observed. 

Comments       

4.4.1 Information about legal protections for officials and staff of the central bank in the conduct of 

their official duties should be publicly disclosed.  

Description Current legislation is not clear about the protection of the staff (except the Governor) in the 

course of implementation of their functions, as they do not act as separate entities, but as 

representatives of the NBM. 

Assessment Partly observed. 

Comments Legislation should clarify whether, in addition to the Governor, other staff of the NBM are 

also explicitly protected. 

 

Table 8. Summary Observance of IMF’s MFP Transparency CodeMonetary 

Policy 
 

Assessment 

Grade 

Practices Grouped by Assessment Grade 

Count List 

Observed 34 1.1.2, 1.1.3, 1.1.4,1.1.5, 1.1.7, 1.2.2, 1.2.3, 1.2.4, 1.2.5, 1.3, 1.3.1, 1.3.2, 

2.1, 2.1.2, 2.2, 2.3, 2.4, 2.4.1, 2.4.2, 2.5, 2.6, 

3.1, 3.2, 3.2.2, 3.2.3, 3.2.4, 3.3, 3.3.1, 3.4, 

4.1, 4.2, 4.2.1, 4.3, 4.4.  

Broadly observed 5 1.1, 1.1.1, 

2.1.1, 2.3.1,  

3.3.2.  

Partly observed 6 1.2, 1.2.1, 

2.2.1, 

3.2.1, 

4.2.2, 4.4.1.  

Not observed 0  
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Not applicable 1 1.1.6.  
 

Recommended action plan 

52. In general, the NBM practices a fairly high degree of transparency in most aspects 

of its operations. There are some areas where further progress would contribute to 

improving transparency, and thus, to an enhanced functioning of monetary policy, as 

discussed below. 

53. To further improve the clarity of the roles, responsibilities and objectives for 

monetary policy, the NBM could further enhance it by considering to (i) specify what is 

meant by stability of national currency; and (ii) give clearer conditions and limitations on 

NBM’s financing of the government. 

54. While the open process for formulating and reporting monetary policy decisions 

meets high degree of observance, the NBM could consider to (i) give clearer explanations 

about the role of each monetary instrument and their inter-relation, (ii) publish a more 

precise advance meeting schedule for the Council of Administration and publication 

schedule for periodicals, (iii) disclose the minutes of the Council of Administration, that 

is currently treated as classified, after certain period. 

55. In terms of public availability of information on monetary policy, the NBM 

maintains an active publication program in general, including an informative web-site. 

Some specific suggestions aimed to attain further improvement in this aspect include (i) 

publishing summary balance sheet of the NBM more frequently, and (ii) publishing the 

text of the speeches of NBM senior officials. 

56. With regard to enhancing the accountability and assurances of integrity by the 

central bank, the NBM could consider to (i) disclose its internal governance procedures; 

and (ii) give greater clarify on information on the legal protection for NBM officials.  
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Table 9. Recommended Action Plan to Improve Observance of IMF’s MFP 

Transparency Code PracticesMonetary Policy 
 

Reference Practice Recommended Action 

I. Clarity of Roles, Responsibilities and Objectives of Central Banks for Monetary Policy 

1.1 The ultimate objective(s) and 

institutional framework of monetary 

policy should be clearly defined in 

relevant legislation or regulation, 

including, where appropriate, a 

central bank law. 

The NBM’s objectives are defined in the central bank law but only 

in very general terms that leave substantial scope for interpretation. 

The stability of the national currency can be interpreted both as 

fighting inflation and keeping the stability of foreign exchange rate, 

which have opposite policy implications. Improvements could be 

attained by specifying what is meant by the stability of the national 

currency. 

1.1.1 The ultimate objective(s) of 

monetary policy should be specified 

in legislation and publicly disclosed 

and explained. 

The ultimate objective of the NBM, as laid down in legislation, is 

not clear enough, but the annual action plan that is posted on the 

website has a satisfactory description of the current policy objectives 

of the NBM. 

1.2 The institutional relationship 

between monetary and fiscal 

operations should be clearly defined. 

The NBM’s lending to the Republic is problematic in terms of clear 

division of monetary and fiscal operations, especially because these 

credits are in practice automatically rolled over at maturity. There 

should be more specified criteria and limitation on financing terms. 

1.2.1 If credits, advances, or 

overdrafts to the government by the 

central bank are permitted, the 

conditions when they are permitted, 

and any limits thereof, should be 

publicly disclosed. 

Although the Law on the NBM lists some conditions for extending 

credit to the government, these are focusing more on procedure and 

do not provide prudential limitation. Furthermore, despite the 

maturity limitation on T-Bills holdings under the Law on the NBM, 

in practice these debts are customarily rolled over at maturity which 

is contrary to the spirit of the legislation. 

II. Open Process for Formulating and Reporting Monetary Policy Decisions 

2.1.1 The procedures and practices 

governing monetary policy 

instruments and operations should be 

publicly disclosed and explained. 

It would be desirable to have a deeper explanation of the overall 

picture of the policy instruments and operation, with clearer 

descriptions of the relations between each instrument. Furthermore, 

it is confusing to have the long-term interest rate listed together with 

policy rates, without any concrete explanation for what purpose it is 

used and how it is decided. 

2.2.1 If the policy making body has 

regularly scheduled meetings to 

assess underlying economic 

developments, monitor progress 

toward achieving its monetary policy 

objective(s), and formulate policy for 

the period ahead, the advance 

meeting schedule should be publicly 

disclosed. 

Although it is clearly mentioned that the meetings would be held at 

least monthly, there is no specific advance meeting schedule 

disclosed. 

2.3.1 The central bank should 

publicly disclose, with a pre-

announced maximum delay, the main 

considerations underlying its 

monetary policy decisions. 

The periodic publications illustrate the macroeconomic and market 

surroundings, and provide background considerations or underlying 

arguments on the NBM’s monetary policy decisions. However, 

currently, minutes of the board discussion are treated as classified, 

and there is no way for the public to know what was discussed at the 

board meetings. It is recommended that the NBM consider their 

disclosure after a certain period (e.g. 90 days), to enhance the 

transparency of the monetary policy decision making process. 
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III. Public Availability of Information on Monetary Policy 

3.2.1 Summary central bank balance 

sheets should be publicly disclosed 

on a frequent and pre-announced 

schedule. Detailed central bank 

balance sheets prepared according to 

appropriate and publicly documented 

accounting standards should be 

publicly disclosed at least annually 

by the central bank. 

The NBM publishes a detailed balance sheet and income statement 

in its annual report, but the summary financial statements are 

currently not published. The NBM should consider publishing their 

summary balance sheet on a frequent (e.g. quarterly) and pre-

announced schedule.  

3.3.2 Senior central bank officials 

should be ready to explain their 

institution’s objective(s) and 

performance to the public, and have a 

presumption in favor of releasing the 

text of their statements to the public. 

The management of the NBM is effective in explaining the NBM’s 

objectives and performance to the public. Nevertheless, they could 

also consider to publish the text of their speeches or interviews to 

the public. 

IV. Accountability and Assurances of Integrity by the Central Bank 

4.2.2 Internal governance procedures 

necessary to ensure the integrity of 

operations, including internal audit 

arrangements, should be publicly 

disclosed. 

Although Article 33 of the Law on the NBM stipulates general 

logistical procedures, the specific regulations related to the internal 

control system of the NBM are not disclosed to the public. The 

NBM should consider to publish them. 

4.4.1 Information about legal 

protections for officials and staff of 

the central bank in the conduct of 

their official duties should be 

publicly disclosed. 

The absence of legal protection of the central bank staff may lead to 

a situation in which staff would be sued (e.g., after leaving office). 

To ensure the proper functioning of regulatory activities of the 

NBM, individual rights of NBM officials should be clearly 

stipulated by legislation. 

 

Authorities’ response 

The NBM was in general agreement with most of the assessments, and provided 

some additional clarifying information that was taken into account in this document. 

Meanwhile, the following comments were presented for consideration for some items that 

the mission had advised for further improvements. (i) the ultimate objective of the 

monetary policy cannot be specified given the Moldovan macroeconomic environment, 

but the concrete policy objectives for each year are clearly explained in the annually 

published statement on review and assessment of the monetary policy and foreign 

exchange policy, even though they are not legal document as the assessment requests; (ii) 

the conditions for lending to the government are already set forth in the Law on the 

NBM, and are usefully sufficient; (iii) even though there is no practice to regularly 

disclose minutes of the meetings of Council of Administration, public have access to the 

information on the meetings when  the Council decides to do so; (iv) the internal auditing 

process is not usually disclosed in many other countries as well; and (v) although there is 

no clear protection to the individual staff, the NBM is the legal person that would be 

responsible for any possible legal actions. 
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IV. REPORT ON THE OBSERVANCE OF STANDARDS AND CODES (ROSC) FOR 

ACCOUNTING AND AUDITING  
 

June 28, 2004 
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Executive Summary 

 

Financial reporting and auditing practices in Moldova’s corporate sector are currently in a period of transition 

from providing for tax calculation and statistical needs to convergence with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) and International Standards on Auditing (ISA). This report draws upon recent international 

experience in developed economies and EU accession countries as well as expected amendments to EU 

Directives. 

The National Accounting Standards (NAS) were developed on the basis of International Accounting Standards 

(IAS) from 19964 to 1998 for the most part, but they are substantially incomplete and out of date vis-à-vis 

IFRS (which incorporate IAS). Accordingly, the standard-setting process should be streamlined so as to allow 

the prompt adoption of the numerous existing IASs not yet reflected in the NAS. The National Standards of 

Auditing were developed recently and mirror ISA. 

The existing Accounting Law and certain aspects of the Joint Stock Companies Law are unduly onerous and 

restrictive in that they demand bookkeeping and other administrative procedures not normally required in 

market economy systems. These conflict with mandated accounting standards, confuse the preparers of 

financial statements and are detrimental to the quality of the financial information. A new Accounting Law 

should be passed with simplified requirements and incorporating key elements of the NAS and relevant EU 

Directives on that matter. 

There is a lack of transparency in the reporting systems, which do not have a registry to allow interested 

parties to view the companies’ financial statements.  

Strengthening financial reporting will also require improving education and training in the field of accounting 

and auditing. It will also depend on active enforcement on the part of regulatory agencies. In that regard, the 

review found that, except in the banking sector, the current level of compliance with financial reporting 

obligations is inadequate, and that the quality of the financial reporting is low. In that context, the report 

recommends the following actions: (i) the capacity of regulatory agencies for enforcing accounting standards 

and financial reporting requirements to all entities of public interestincluding large state-owned 

enterprisesshould be increased; (ii) a public registry should be set-up for all public-interest companies to file 

their financial statements; and (iii) an independent oversight board of auditors should be established under the 

soon-to-be-issued new Audit Law, with the function to qualify statutory auditors, adopt auditing standards and 

develop guidelines, and monitor auditors compliance with NSA and independence requirements.  

A table summarizing the policy recommendations arising from this ROSC is provided hereafter.  



 

 

CURRENCY: MOLDOVAN LEI (MDL) 

1 US$ = 12 MDL as of May 31, 2004 

 

 

 

MAIN ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS 

 

ACAP Association of Professional Accountants and Auditors 

AFAM Association of Audit Firms of Moldova 

CIS Commonwealth of Independent States 

CFAA  Country Financial Accountability Assessment 

CNVM National Securities Commission 

FDI Foreign Direct Investment  

GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

GAAS Generally Accepted Auditing Standards 

GDP Gross Domestic Product 

IAASB International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board 

IAS International Accounting Standards 

IASB International Accounting Standards Board 

IASC International Accounting Standards Committee 

IES International Education Standards for Professional Accountants 

IFAC International Federation of Accountants 

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards 

IMF International Monetary Fund 

 ISA International Standards on Auditing 

JSC Joint-Stock Company 

LFI Law on Financial Institutions 

MoF Ministry of Finance 

MSE Moldova Stock Exchange 

NAS National Accounting Standards 

NBM National Bank of Moldova 

NSA National Standards on Auditing 

ROSC   Reports on the Observance of Standards and Codes 

SME   Small and Medium Enterprises 

SIIS   State Inspectorate on Insurance Supervision 

SOE   State-Owned Enterprises  

USAID   United States Agency for International Development 
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Summary of Policy Recommendations 

Action Responsibility Timing 

Short-term 

(less than 1 year) 
Medium-term 

(1 to 3 years) 
Long-term 

(3 to 5 years) 

 The Accounting Law should be thoroughly revised MoF  x  

 Adopt available Romanian and Russian translations of the 

all IFRS standards that have not yet been reflected into 

NAS and revise existing NAS for better alignment with 

IFRS 

MoF x   

 Amend NAS 4, Accounting for Small Business Entities, to 

provide SMEs with a comprehensive reporting framework 

MoF x   

 Require public-interest entities to file their annual 

financial statements with a public registry of companies, 

to be established possibly under the National Securities 

Commission (CNVM) 

MoF / CNVM  x 

 

 

 The JSC Law, State Enterprise Law and Law on 

Enterprises should be amended to require statutory 

financial statement audits in all public interest entities 

MoF / CNVM  x  

 Clarify the role of the Censors’ Committee with respect to 

the financial reporting process and restrict the obligation 

to have Censors to entities not subject to statutory audits 

MoF / CNVM  x  

 CNVM’s and SIIS’s powers and capacity for enforcing 

accounting standards and financial reporting requirements 

should be strengthened 

CNVM and SIIS  

(in their respective 

areas of purview) 

x   

 Finalize the draft of a new Auditing Law MoF x   

 Establish an independent Audit Oversight Council MoF, NBM, CNVM  x  

 Academic curricula in the field of accounting and 

auditing, as well as professional education and training 

should be strengthened. 

MoF, Ministry of 

Education 

 x  
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Background 

57. This assessment of accounting and auditing practices in Moldova is a part of a 

joint initiative of the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund (IMF) to prepare 

Reports on the Observance of Standards and Codes (ROSC). The assessment focuses on 

the strengths and weaknesses of the accounting and auditing environment that influence 

the quality of corporate financial reporting. International Financial Reporting Standards
7
 

(IFRS) and International Standards of Auditing
8
 (ISA) have served as benchmarks for the 

assessment, which involved a review of both mandatory requirements and actual practice 

and drew on relevant international practices in the field of accounting and auditing 

regulation. 

 

58. With a gross domestic product (GDP) per capita of approximately US$ 460, 

Moldova is one of the poorest countries in Europe. Moldova’s population is 4.3 

million. A significant number of citizens live abroad, mainly in the European Union 

(EU), and their remittances represent a substantial source of revenue for the economy.
 9

 

The country is heavily indebted and its economic development has been hampered over 

the recent years by an unstable political environment. Agriculture is still the dominant 

sector, accounting for about 30% of GDP. Inflation, which used to be high, diminished 

dramatically from 39% in 1999 to 4.4% by the end of 2002; since then, it has risen to 

15.7% in 2003 and latest forecasts point to a stabilization in 2004 around 8%. State-

owned enterprises (SOE) play an important part in the economy, covering various sectors 

including agriculture (tobacco, wine), utilities and infrastructure (water, 

telecommunications), and various manufacturing and services industries (air 

transportation, electronic printing, etc.). The country’ three largest enterprises are state-

controlled. Transparency in, and oversight of, the SOE sector has been traditionally a 

concern in Moldova as in other transition economies. 

 

59. Moldova’s financial system is dominated by the banking sector, with capital 

markets still at an early stage of development and playing a marginal role in the 

economy at present. There are currently 25 companies listed on the Moldova Stock 

Exchange (MSE), with very low levels of trading.
10

 Only two listed companies are 

                       
7 IFRS correspond to the pronouncements issued by the International Accounting Standards 

Board (IASB) and International Accounting Standards (IAS) issued by its predecessor, the 

International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC), as well as related official 

interpretations. 
8
  Issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) within the 

International Federation of Accountants (IFAC). 

9
  The average annual yearly remittance flow from citizens working abroad is estimated to be 

between US$460 million and 1 billion depending on the sources of information. 

10
 Total market capitalization is estimated at MLD 800 million (equivalent to US$ 70 million, or 

3.5% of GDP) approximately (this data may not be fully meaningful as the majority of listed 

companies have not been traded for a long period of time, sometimes for several years; 

nonetheless the fact remains that the local stock market is of marginal importance). 
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represented among the top 100 companies in the country. The MSE was established 

primarily to enable trading in the shares of privatized companies that, following the mass 

privatization program, were partially privatized to Moldovan citizens.
11

 Although the size 

of the stock market is currently quite small and trading is still relatively low, the role of 

the stock market can be important for the consolidation of ownership in the private 

sector, which in turn can help support the country’s economic development. The banking 

sector is made up of 16 financial institutions, a majority of which have foreign 

shareholders, owning reported total assets of MLD 10 billion (equivalent to US$ 800 

million). The insurance sector is relatively small, comprising 50 companies with earned 

gross premium of MLD 290 million in 2003 and total assets of approximately MLD 200 

million (US$ 17 million) at the end of that year. 

 

60. The recent years have witnessed Moldova’s growing integration with western 

and central European countries and with Romanian, which makes the EU economic 

and legal models all the more relevant to Moldova. Since its independence in 1992, the 

Republic of Moldova has sought to develop relationships with its neighboring countries 

to the west, while keeping strong ties with fellow members of the Commonwealth of 

Independent States (CIS). Although most of Moldova’s foreign trade is with other CIS 

countries,
12

 the influence of Romania, with which Moldova shares the same language
13

 is 

growing, especially in light of Romania’s accelerated integration with the EU which is 

expected to culminate with accession in 2007. As for Moldova itself, while there is no 

consensus at present on EU membership as an objective for the country, there is a clear 

sense among the leadership of the economic benefits of aligning the country’s regulations 

and standards with those of current or future EU countries. 
 

                       
11

 There are also over 1,000 joint-stock companies that are registered and available for trading on 

an off-the-exchange section of the securities market (equivalent to a sort of over-the-counter 

(OTC) section of the stock market). These companies are not listed and are subject to less 

strict requirements than those of listed companies. They were created through the issuance of 

privatization vouchers to the public. However, this off-the-exchange market currently involves 

very small transactions and does not appear to have any significant impact on the economy. 

12
 In 2003, the CIS accounted for 52% of exports (of which 39% for Russia alone), while the 

shares of Romania and EU countries (including recent members) in Moldova’s exports were 

respectively 11% and 25%. 

13
  Romanian is the official language of the Republic of Moldova together with Russian. A 

majority of citizens use the Romanian language. Most practicing accountants use Russian as 

working language however. 
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Institutional Framework 

(i)            Statutory Framework 

 

61. The legal framework for corporate
14

 accounting, financial reporting and 

auditing is provided in three main pieces of legislation that are largely outdated.
15

 

The law is fully documented and tends to be prescriptive by setting out methodologies for 

conducting business. The three critical laws governing accounting, reporting, and 

auditing are (a) the Joint-Stock Company (JSC) Law; (b) the Accounting Law which 

dictates accounting policies and methods for maintaining the books of accounts; and (c) 

the Auditing Law which deals with auditing standards, qualification and licensing. In 

addition to this main body of legislation, banks, insurance companies, and listed 

companies are subject to specific requirements set out in the Securities Market Law, the 

Law on Financial Institutions (LFI), the Insurance Law, and the National Securities 

Commission Law, respectively.  

 

62. The JSC Law of 1996,
16

 sets the requirements for the preparation, 

examination, approval, filing and publication of annual financial statements in 

joint-stock companies. There are approximately 3,600 joint-stock companies, which 

account for the highest number of large-to-medium-sized business entities in Moldova. 

Joint-stock companies may either be “open” or “closed”, depending on the number of 

shareholders and the existence of restrictions on stockholders’ right to dispose of their 

shares. Year-end financial statements must be “checked and confirmed” by a Censors’ 

Committee, and then must be submitted for review and approval, together with the 

Censors’ report to the shareholders no later than 10 days before the annual general 

meeting (Articles 50, 56, 71 and 87). JSCs are no longer required to have their annual 

accounts audited. Shareholders owning 10% or more of the shares may request an audit, 

which they have to pay for.  

                       
14

 By corporate entities it is referred to enterprises of any size, owned either by the state or by 

private interests, and that do not belong to the financial sector (e.g., banking, insurance, 

brokerage, and investment management). 

15
 It is difficult to identify the "legal tradition" to which Moldova belongs, mainly because 

Moldova was part of Romania before its incorporation into the Soviet Union in 1945, and 

shared the Roman Law based statutes and legal traditions that Romania still has. The 

authorities of Moldova have chosen not to hinge on those prior statutes and tradition, and 

instead to draw upon a broad set of references from other jurisdiction (including the EU and 

the US) in developing new acts of law covering accounting and auditing matters. Consistent 

with that approach, this report attempts to develop recommendations taking into account the 

experience in that field of other countriesincluding some whose economy is in transition, 

e.g., Romania, the most recent EU members, etc.insofar as it is deemed relevant to the 

characteristics and development objectives of Moldova. 

16
  Law no. 910-XIII of July 1996 as amended in 2000 and 2002. Chapter 16 of the JSC Law (Art. 

87-88) specifically deals with Accounting and Reporting and Chapter 17 (Art. 89-90) provides 

for External Control. 
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63. The Censors’ Committee examination mandated by the JSC Law cannot be 

construed as an independent audit. Article 71 prescribes that the Censors’ Committee 

should “exercise control over financial and economic activities of the company”. Details 

of how censors are appointed and how they should operate are to be defined in the 

company By-laws. Censors, who are designated by the shareholders for periods of two-

to-five years, can be company employees as long as they have non-executive functions 

and do not work in the accounting department. They must be qualified in the field of 

accounting, finance or economics. Article 72 of the JSC Law provides details on the 

activities of Censors but nonetheless their role is far less strictly defined than that of 

auditors, especially in the absence of detailed terms of operations comparable to auditing 

standards, and in effect this control mechanism does not provide similar assurance on the 

accuracy and reliability of the financial statement as an external audit.  

 

64. The Law on Accounting of 1995
17

 sets detailed instructions on how 

enterprises are to keep books of accounts, and places little emphasis on the 

objectives and content of financial reporting. The Law has 57 articles, most of which 

deal with how the accounting process should be organized and documented, and the 

forms to be prepared for reporting purposes. Article 15 addresses some of the basic 

principles of accounting, including the accrual basis of accounting (although the cash 

basis is permitted for small entities), and “stability of accounting policies”, but is silent 

on most of the fundamental assertions and principles that govern financial reporting 

under IFRS, such as occurrence and existence, completeness, disclosure, matching of 

revenues and costs, prudence, etc. Article 45 of the Law requires that all business entities 

use the calendar year as their fiscal year. These detailed and prescriptive requirements 

reflect a primary strong focus on tax collection and the production of statistics as the 

main an objectives of accountingand indeed this objective is explicitly set forth in 

Article 3 4 of the Law. The Law gives enterprises little flexibility on the way to set-up the 

accounting and reporting process, accounting policies in a manner that would best fit 

their needs for business management purposes and reporting to shareholders, bankers, 

etc. It also provides for undue interference with management decisions on setting 

company accounting policies: “Both accounting policy and amendments to accounting 

policy shall be authorized by an order instruction indicating the date of effectiveness” 

(Article 15 (3)). Finally, in addition, the law does not allow the use of IFRS for preparing 

company financial statements. 

 

65. Small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) are subject to simplified 

accounting requirements. Under Article 14 of the Accounting Law, business entities 

“can use simplified double entry accounting if the average annual number of employees, 

the annual values of net sales and the total balance sheet value do not exceed limits set by 

the Government”.
18

  

                       
17

  Law no. 426-XIII of April 1995. The law has not been substantially amended since it was first 

passed almost a decade ago. 

18
 Accounting Law, Article 14, paragraph 3. Government Decision no. 1476 of November 2002 

set the following thresholds: 30 employees; MLD 3 million (US$ 250,000) of annual net 



 - 85 - 

  

 

66. All corporate entities must apply the National Accounting Standards (NAS) 

issued by the Ministry of Finance (MoF) under Articles 9 and 14 of the Accounting 

Law. Specific standards have been issued for use by small business entities (NAS 4 and 

NAS 62), or so-called “savings and credit associations” (NAS 63). A description of the 

standards and their degree of alignment with IFRS is discussed in section III of this 

report. 
 

67. Requirements for financial reporting by banks and other financial 

institutions are set-out in the Law on Financial Institutions (LFI) of 1995, related 

regulations issued by the National Bank of Moldova (NBM), and NAS 30, 

Disclosures in Financial Statements of Banks and Other Financial Institutions. Under 

the LFI and related regulations, financial institutions must issue and submit financial 

statements to the NBM, within four months after year-end (i.e., by April 30). If the 

institution’s assets exceed MLD 20 million (equivalent to US$1.7 million), those 

financial statements must be subject to an external audit.
19

 They must also publish an 

abridged version of their balance sheet in a newspaper and make the financial statements 

available free of charge to the public upon request.
20

 Moreover, they are subject to 

quarterly financial reporting and public disclosure, including on their financial 

statements, detailed information on loans and deposits and various financial ratios.
21

. 

Financial institutions must apply the chart of accounts and accounting standards 

developed and approved by the NBM in coordination with the MoF, in accordance with 

Article 10 of the Law on Accounting. In preparing their annual accounts, financial 

institutions must comply with NAS, including NAS 30, Disclosures in Financial 

Statements of Banks and Other Financial Institutions (paragraph 36). 

 

68. Companies available for trading on the stock market and other open JSCs 

are required to issue an annual report under the Securities Market Law of 1995, 

although in fact such annual report the same as the financial statements required by 

the JSC law. Under Regulation no. 18-5 of the National Securities Commission (CNVM) 

issued in 1995, the annual report merely contains a balance sheet and income statement, 

                                                                   

revenues and MLD 3 million of total assets. Paragraph 2 allows the use of single-entry 

accounting for businesses that employ only family members or whose turnover and total assets 

do not reach minima set by the Government. 

19
 Other banks are subject to verification by either an accounting professional or a bank 

accountant authorized by the NBM. According to the NBM, all banks in Moldova are 

currently above the MDL 20 million limit and are therefore subject to external audit. 

20
 LFI, Article 35 and NBM’s Regulation on Procedures for the Preparation and Submission of 

Audit Reports – October 1997. 

21
 NBM’s Regulation on Publishing Information on Financial Activity by Commercial Banks – 

December 2000. It should be noted that NBM’s regulations appropriately set forth the 

“Qualitative Characteristics of Transparent Information” (Section IV of the Regulation on 

Publishing) 
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which are already required by the JSC law, together with miscellaneous information on 

the shareholding structure and material events.  

 

69. Companies listed on the Moldova Stock Exchange (MSE) may be subject to 

auditing and publication requirements under stock exchange regulations. MSE 

Regulations set out the structure of the exchange into three tiers: (i) companies with a 

share capital in excess of MLD 4 million (approximately US$300,000) and with 1,000 or 

more shareholders, which are required to have their annual financial statements audited 

by an international firm; (ii) companies whose share capital and number of shareholders 

are less than MLD 4 million and 1000, and in excess of MLD 2 million (approximately 

US$150,000) and 500 respectively, which must have their financial statements audited; 

and (iii) the remainder of listed companies. Since most of the tier-one and tier-two 

companies are banks, which are already required to have their financial statements 

audited under the LFI, the MSE regulation does not have much impact. As a result, the 

financial statements of most enterprises in Moldova are not required to be audited under 

the current legislation.
22

 The stock exchange imposes no specific requirement for audit 

other than that required by the Joint Stock Companies Law. It states that it makes no 

monitoring of the financial statements other than to ensure that they are received on time 

and have an audit report if required. 

 

70. Under the Law on Insurance of 1993, the State Inspectorate on Insurance 

Supervision (SIIS, a semi-autonomous entity under the MoF) and the Department of 

Statistics are responsible for establishing rules on how insurance companies should 

record their transactions and report on their activities.
23

 The insurance law requires 

companies to present their balance sheet and profit and loss statement within six months 

after year-end, “after confirmation of their authenticity through an audit inspection”.
24

 

Yet there is no explicit requirement for an external audit. The SIIS has made adaptations 

to the general, MoF-issued chart of accounts and has developed a standard reporting 

procedure that requires insurance companies to report their activities, including 

reinsurance, long-term premium reserves by insurance type, and calculation of solvency 

ratios. There is also a procedure of quarterly reports to be submitted to the SIIS.  

 

71. State-owned enterprises (SOEs) are not subject to any particular accounting, 

financial reporting and auditing requirements. SOEs can be legally incorporated as 

JSCs or as “state enterprises” (when they are 100% controlled). The Law on State 

Enterprises is silent on the issue of financial reporting and auditing. No information is 

publicly available on SOEs’ financial position and performance. 

                       
22

 Listing requires the filing of the last three years financial statements with the level of auditing 

requirement depending on the tier. No prospectus is required for initial or secondary public 

offerings. 

23
  Law no. 1508-XII of June 1993 – Article 52. 

24
  The language used in the law (“inspection”) reflects a focus on formal compliance and the fact 

that there was no clear definition of financial audit is at the time the insurance act was passed 

in 1993. 
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72. “Professional participants” on the stock exchange are subject to financial 

reporting and auditing obligations set in CNVM regulations. The CNVM’s regulation 

and supervision is mostly geared toward so-called professional participants, who include 

brokerage firms, mutual funds, fiduciary company and auditors, all of whom must be 

properly licensed.
25

 They must submit audited annual financial statements, in addition to 

periodic reporting on their operations and on their financial position and performance to 

the CNVM. Specific forms for financial reporting by investment funds and fiduciary 

companies have been set by the CNVM is 1995; these include compulsory disclosures on 

investment portfolio, remuneration, etc. The CNVM has licensed seven auditors to audit 

professional participants. 

 

73. Audit practice is governed by the Law on Audit Activities of 1996 which is in 

the process of being rewritten. The law is comprehensive in its coverage, dealing with 

the objectives, scope and content of audits, the conditions for individuals or firms to 

qualify as auditors, the responsibilities of auditors, etc. A license is required to conduct 

audit activities in Moldova. Auditor licenses are awarded by the Licensing Chamber, on 

the basis of a certificate issued by the Qualification Commissions of either the MoF (for 

enterprises and insurance companies, the NBM (for banks), or the CNVM (for 

professional participants in the securities market).
26

 A new auditing law is being prepared 

by the MoF on the basis of the recommendations of the World Bank’s Country Financial 

Accountability Assessment (CFAA) released in September of 2003. The shortcomings of 

current legislation that the new law would have to address include the following main 

points (see also Box 1 on a proposed new Auditing Law): 

 The fundamental objectives of an audit of financial statements and the 

corresponding basic concepts as set in the existing law are not in line with 

ISA, EU legislation or other best practicesfor instance, the very definition 

of an audit does not include the notions of reasonable assurance, true and fair 

view and responsibility of management 

 Articles 4 and 6 of the Law deals with auditors’ independence, professional 

conduct and conflicts of interest, but the requirements it sets on these issues 

are either too restrictive or too general. For instance, if Article 6 prohibits an 

audit firm from “performing any activities other than auditing” which is 

meant to proscribe audit firms from engaging in business activities that do not 

relate to accounting, it is much more restrictive than existing legislation. 

Conversely, on the issues of incompatibilities and conflicts of interest, Article 

4 lists various types of activities that an audit firm is authorized to 

undertake,
27

 yet it does not set forth the underlying principles to be followed 

                       
25

 According to the CNVM, there are currently 109 professional participants. 

26
  See also paragraph 27. 

27
  Services that an audit firm is authorized to provide are as follows: “assistance related to the 

organization, restoring and maintenance of accounting procedures, formulation of financial 

reports, fiscal declarations, estimation of financial situation, assessment of economic and 
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by auditors under any circumstance,
28

 and is too general and imprecise on 

issues of financial interests in audited companies (it only forbids auditors from 

being owners of the company, which does not prevent them from having a 

significant interest in it). 

 The principles for qualifying auditors are not set forth in the law; these would 

include the need for adequate academic background, minimum practical 

experience and a due process of qualification in accordance with the standards 

issued by IFAC, including a professional examination that would allow to test 

an auditor-trainee’ competence and ability to exercise professional 

judgment.
29

 The MoF regulations partly address these issues (see paragraph 

27), but given their importance they should be dealt with in the new draft of 

the Law. 

 The Law sets auditors’ obligations but does not provide for a mechanism to 

monitor auditors’ compliance with these statutory obligations. 
 

74. A professional ethics code has been developed on the basis of IFAC’s Code of 

Ethics for Professional Accountants. Through Order no. 29 of March 2001, the MoF 

has issued the Code of Professional Conduct for Auditors and Accountants of Republic of 

Moldova which became effective on January 1
st
, 2002. It is based on IFAC’s code as 

amended in 2000, which was translated into Romanian with the assistance of the one of 

the local professional bodies, Association of Professional Accountants and Auditors  

(ACAP – see paragraph 21 hereafter) and the U.S. Agency for International Development 

(USAID). 

 

75. Audits of banks and other financial institutions are regulated by the LFI and 

NBM’s specific rules.
30

 Banks can only appoint an auditor firm holding a license to audit 

financial institutions and whose staff that haves been awarded an auditing certificate by 

the NBM’s Qualification Commission.
31

 Audits must be carried-out in accordance with 

                                                                   

financial activity, organizing computerized accounting systems, evaluation of assets, taxation 

and management, as well as legal assistance in economic and financial activities”. 

28
  Article 6, paragraph 2, prohibits audit being performed by individuals who have a family or 

business relationship with owners or members of management, or who provide certain services 

deemed incompatible (“assistance in organizing and maintenance of accounting, as well as in 

formulation of financial reports”this definition is actually too narrow and should also 

include tax, human resource, and payroll advisory as well as any form of consulting services). 

29
  International Education Standards for Professional Accountants (IES) no. 1 to 6 issued in 

2003. 

30
  NBM Regulations on Procedures for the Preparation and Submission of Audit Reports (see 

above) and on Issuing Certificate for Qualification of Bank Auditor (no. 34/09-01).  

31
  NBM’s requirements to obtain an auditor certificate include: (i) having a university or college 

degree in the economic field; (ii) minimum experience working as auditor, accountant, 

supervisor, or professor in the banking field three years of experience over the last five) 

years for university graduates and five years of experience over the last ten years for college 
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ISA and an engagement letter must be signed between the auditor and the bank. The 

NBM is entitled to remove the auditors and/or to repeal their auditing certificate when it 

considers that they do not comply with their statutory obligations.  

 

76. The current legislation and regulation do not provide for the availability of 

enterprises’ financial statements to shareholders, creditors or other interested 

parties. The Department of Statistics receives copies of all financial statements from 

JSCs and other business entities, for compilation of national statistics but is prohibited by 

law from disclosing the content of individual statements. Consequently, there is little 

transparency in the corporate sector, hence investors and bankers cannot obtain 

information on individual companies which they do not interact with. Comparative 

financial analysis which is a key element of credit assessment and investment decisions is 

therefore made difficult. Ultimately, this lack of information constitutes an impediment to 

the development of investing, lending and possibly commercial activities in the corporate 

sector, and contributes to increasing the cost of capital for enterprises. 
 

(ii) The Accounting Profession 

 

77. The public accounting profession in Moldova is still at an early stage of 

development and the audit practice still needs strengthening. Audit activities have 

only been introduced and developed recently in Moldovaessentially in the second half 

of the 1990s. Moreover, because of the narrow scope of statutory audit requirement 

(paragraph 6) and the modest inflow of foreign investment, demand for audit and related 

services is relatively low. The Association of Professional Accountants and Auditors 

(ACAP), a not-for-profit organization established in 1996, is the profession’s most 

representative body, with a membership of approximately 500mainly individual 

accountants in small practice. Another professional organization, the Association of 

Auditing Firms of Moldova (AFAM) has a membership of some 30 local firms. ACAP 

and AFAM do not cooperate with each other, nor are they actively involved in the 

accounting and auditing standard-setting process and in the supervision of the profession.  

 

78. The market for the provision of audit services is split between two clearly 

distinct segments, one for statutory audits by local firms and the other for audits of 

banks, listed companies or enterprises with foreign shareholders provided by local 

affiliates of the “Big-4” international networks. There are currently 117 audit firms or 

individual auditors authorized to conduct activities in Moldova, with some 500 

employees. The six largest firms in the country by number of licensed staff account for 

approximately one-fourth of the workforce and number of licensed individuals. The 

majority of the Big-4 local affiliates only carry-out audits of banks or local subsidiaries or 

investees of international groups.
32

 There does not appear to be a shortage of auditors at 

                                                                   

graduates; and (iii) obtaining at least 7 grades out of 10 before an ad-hoc qualification 

commission appointed by the Board of the NBM (Decision of the NBM Board, October 1996). 

32
  It is worth noting that those local Big-4 affiliates are managed by partners who are located 

outside of Moldova, mainly in Bucharest. 
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present. However, should the authorities decide to extend the statutory audit requirement 

to a wider array of entities as suggested hereafter (see paragraph 54), the supply of 

adequately skilled and trained auditors would have to be increased. 

 

79. ACAP has made commendable efforts to foster quality audit practice by 

encouraging members to seek certification from recognized international 

organizations and mandating such certification for its members who are auditors. 

Upon its creation, ACAP admitted some 2,000 accountants as temporary members who 

had to subsequently pass an examination to obtain permanent membership.
33

 ACAP 

requires its members to have three years of professional experience and to pass a written 

technical examination whose syllabus is based on a model developed at the level of the 

Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS). ACAP members are encouraged to seek 

certification by the Certified International Professional Accountant (CIPA) Program, a 

program established in 2001 by the USAID in cooperation with international standard-

setters and various accounting organization from English-speaking countries.
34

 

According to ACAP, CIPA certification is a requirement for all members who are 

practicing auditors. ACAP, while not being a party to the accounting and auditing 

standard-setting process, contributes to the dissemination of the standards by proposing 

courses to its members. Also, in 1998, it released an English translation of NAS and the 

MoF-issued chart of accounts, and assisted in the translation of IFAC’s code of ethics. 

ACAP has been an associate member of IFAC since 1998. These achievements have only 

been made possible by the financial support from international aid organizations, which 

is expected to diminish in the near future. 

 

80. AFAM is an organization of licensed audit firms acting as a trade association. 

Under Article 9 of the current Auditing Law, AFAM is recognized as the body with wide 

responsibilities including coordinating the activity of audit firms, representing their 

professional interests, collaborating with counterpart foreign organizations, and 

developing auditing standards and qualification and examination programs to be 

approved by the MoF and submitting requests for the withdrawal of auditor certificates. 

In practice, these functions have not been effectively exercised. None of the local Big-4 

member firms are members of AFAM.  

 

81. Various factors constrain auditors’ accountability toward stakeholders. First 

of all, audited information is seldom available to the public, which has the effect of 

reducing auditors’ exposure to the consequences of possible non-compliance with 

auditing standards and professional obligations. In addition, auditors are not required to 

take out professional indemnity insurance, which are meant to facilitate financial 

                       
33

 Until 2003, a large number of ACAP members did not actively participate to the association 

and did not pay their annual membership fees. The decision was then taken at ACAP’s annual 

general meeting in 2003 to expel those inactive members, thereby reducing the total 

membership to 500 approximately. 

34
  Details on the CIPA Program are available on its website at 

http://www.capcipa.biz/icaicp_eng/htm. Moldovan candidates take examinations in Ukraine. 

http://www.capcipa.biz/icaicp_eng/htm
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statements users’ recourse against errant auditors.
35

 Furthermore, audit committees, 

whose role is to monitor external auditors’ performance in fulfilling their duties to deliver 

an audit of quality, are infrequent among Moldovan companies. Added to the absence of 

enforcement of auditors’ obligations by authorities or professional bodies, these factors 

create an environment of limited accountability that is not conducive to an audit practice 

of high quality. 

(iii) Professional Education and Training 

 

82. Accounting education in Moldova needs strengthening. The Academy of 

Economic Studies of Moldova is the main institution providing higher education in 

accounting. The “Accounting and Auditing” curriculum is comprehensive, including 

courses on NAS, international standards and sector-specific aspects. Yet, the audit 

content of the curriculum is quite limited (only two courses deal with audit), and some 

important courses especially in the context of Moldova are only optional, including 

Accounting in small and medium enterprises and Formulation and presentation of 

financial statements. A review of the syllabus of some of the courses indicates that they 

are adequate in terms of issues covered. The university experiences difficulty in 

improving the course contents and keeping syllabi up-to-date with international best 

practices and IFAC’s education standards due to lack of resources, which limit its 

capacity to purchase and translate relevant material. Moreover, the accounting curriculum 

does not contemplate apprenticeships within an accounting firm allowing students to 

apply their knowledge in actual situations and develop basic professional skills. 

Representatives of the leading accounting firms indicated in interviews that, while they 

recognized the quality of the Academy of Economic Studies’ graduates, they had 

difficulties in finding recruits with adequate skills and, for some of them, preferred hiring 

graduates from foreign universities. In any case, local member firms of the international 

audit networks require their staff to pass the certification examination issued by the 

ACCA (a professional accounting body based in the United Kingdom), and accordingly 

provide them substantial in-house training to prepare the exams. 

 

83. The professional examination required for the issuance of the auditor 

certificate does not comply in various aspects with related IFAC education 

standard. The examination is conducted by a Qualification Commission appointed by 

the MoF. The one-day exam consists of either written or oral questions, at the choice of 

the candidates; on average, 70% of the candidates take oral questions. Questions can 

cover various subjects including legislative and normative acts, accounting and reporting, 

audit, taxation, and financial analysis. Based on interviews with auditors, the examination 

focuses more on academic and knowledge-related aspects than on issues involving the 

auditing practice and the judgment to be exercised by auditors in real-life circumstances. 

These arrangements conflict with IFAC’s International Education Standard (IES) 6, 

Assessment of Professional Capabilities and Competence which states, inter alia, that 

the examination should “require a significant portion of the candidate’s responses to be in 

recorded form” and “cover a sufficient amount of the whole range of professional 
                       
35

 Auditors are subject to civil and criminal liabilities under the law (Civil Code, Law on 

Auditing, etc.), although there have been no legal cases brought against auditors. 
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knowledge, professional skills, and professional values and the attitudes (…).”The 

examination results do not provide sufficient guarantees that the persons to whom the 

certificate is awarded have demonstrated adequate professional skills and values to carry-

out the functions of independent auditor. 

 

84. Professional continuing education is not mandatory to retain a certificate of 

auditor and is only carried-out by audit firms whose internal policies set such 

requirements. IES 7, Continuing Professional Development (…) prescribes that all 

members of the accounting profession should receive continuing education in order for 

them to be able to provide “high-quality services to meet the needs of the public”. Indeed 

continuing education is especially needed for auditors to keep their knowledge of 

applicable legislation and accounting and auditing standards up to date, as these expand 

and evolve, as well as to adapt to new types of transactions within companies and to new 

tools made available for conducting audit activities. 

 

(iv) Setting Accounting and Auditing Standards 

 

85. Accounting and auditing standards are issued by a Division of the Ministry 

of Finance mostly through translation of international standards (IAS/IFRS and 

ISA). Article 9 of the Law on Accounting states that “the Ministry of Finance shall 

develop the methodology of accounting, unified charts of accounts, samples of 

accounting registers, forms of financial reports, methodological instructions for their 

completion, as well as accounting standards, compulsory for entities [required to keep 

accounting books]”. In some cases, modifications to the text of the IAS were made, 

primarily to simplify the requirements of the standard and make it easier to apply by 

Moldovan enterprises (see paragraph 36). The preparation of the standards is carried out 

by the Division of Accounting Methodology and Audit, which consists of twelve 

permanent working staff nine members of the MoF with civil servant status, with a 

permanent working staff of three. The Division of Accounting Methodology and Audit 

issued the existing NAS and NSA respectively between 19946 and 1998 and in 1999-

200010 for the most part, with the support of international donors, mainly USAID. 

Currently, it lacks the necessary resources to update and expand the standards in line with 

changes made to the equivalent international standards respectively by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and IFAC’s International Auditing and Assurance 

Standards Board (IAASB).
36

 Under Article 13 of the Accounting Law, a so-called 

Methodological Consultative Council under the MoF is in charge of “reviewing and 

development of proposals on disputable issues regarding accounting and financial 

reporting”. Draft standards are prepared on the basis of the text of IAS/IFRS and ISA 

translated into both Romanian and Russian, with some adaptations (see paragraph 35 and 

Appendix). Draft standards are not exposed for comment. Instead advice is sought 

informally from experienced individuals in the accounting and auditing field and relevant 

industries, as applicable.  
                       
36

  Considering its budget constraints, the Division of Accounting Methodology and Audit treats 

as a priority the issuance of new NASs to mirror IASs or IFRSs issued after 1998, rather than 

updating previously issued NASs.  
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86. Specific accounting standards and requirements for financial institutions, 

insurance companies, and listed companies are set by the respective regulator, 

subject to approval by the MoF. The NBM has issued accounting standards for banks 

and other financial institutions subject to approval of the MoF, including NAS 30, 

Disclosures in Financial Statements of Banks and Other Financial Institutions. The 

CNVM set-out accounting rules and regulations for professional participants and 

companies listed on the stock market, as does the SIIS for insurance and reinsurance 

companies for both regulatory and general-purpose financial statements. The process that 

is followed to set these standards and rules involves some degree of informal consultation 

with interested parties. 

 

(v) Enforcement of Accounting and Auditing Standards 

 

87. The Law does not provide for a clear and effective mechanism for enforcing 

the accounting and financial reporting requirements on enterprises. Article 90 of the 

JSC Law states that: “supervision over company activity shall be executed by the 

authorized state bodies in conformity with the procedure provided by the statutes.” This 

Article does not define which entities are to ensure enterprises’ compliance with statutory 

accounting, financial reporting and auditing requirements, and what type of controls 

authorities should exercise in that matter. The Accounting Law is silent on the issue of 

compliance. As a result, neither the Statistics Department, nor the MoF, nor the 

CNVMwhich is supposed to exercise some oversight of all open JSCsconduct any 

enforcement activities with respect to accounting and auditing requirements. The CNVM 

indicated during the ROSC review that they considered their mandate for ensuring 

compliance with statutory requirements to be restricted to the aforementioned 

professional participants. The MSE does not carry out any enforcement actions either. 

The law confers broad sanctioning powers to the authorities against companies who do 

not comply accounting and financial reporting obligations.
37

  

 

88. In the banking sector, the NBM plays an active role in  enforcing accounting 

and financial reporting requirements. The NBM’s Department of Banking Regulation 

and Supervision examines the periodic (annual, quarterly and monthly) reports filed by 

banks to assess their performance and situation and prepare on-site inspections. On-site 

inspections are conducted according to a Manual of Field Controls. These cover 

compliance with accounting standardsincluding proper use of the chart of accounts, 

conformity with NAS 30, existence of required daily and monthly records and ledgers; 

these control procedures are executed by carried-out by NBM’s Accounting 

                       
37

 For instance, the administrative code of 1985 provides for disciplinary measures against 

infringement of regulation on book keeping, preparation and presentation of financial 

statements. Article 56 of the Accounting Law prescribes that “persons guilty of violation of 

this Law, failing to keep accounting records, applying incorrect accounting standards and other 

normative documents, as well as those who deliberately present false data in financial reports, 

shall be liable to disciplinary, material, property, administrative or criminal responsibility”. 

The Tax Code also deals with “violation of accounting rules” (Art. 257). 
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Departmentand an assessment by the Banking Supervision Department of the external 

audit process and follow-up on issues or recommendations raised by them in prior audits 

to ensure their resolution or implementation. The NBM organizes periodic meetings with 

audit firms on technical issues and to discuss the problems encountered in the course of 

their audits. NBM can request any information from financial institutions for the 

purposes of its supervision. Under Article 38 of the LFI, NBM can apply administrative 

sanctions against financial institutions for non-compliance with their statutory and 

regulatory obligations. Those sanctions include: admonition, penalties applied against the 

bank (by up to 0.3% of the capital) or the directors (by up to ten months of an average 

salary), suspension of activities, revoking administrators, and cancellation of banking 

license. 

 

89. The SIIS does not monitor compliance by insurance companies with 

accounting standards to any significant extent mainly due to its lack of resources. 
There is no qualified actuary on the staff of the SIIS, which seriously limits the 

regulator’s capacity to verify whether the provisions relating to insurance contracts are 

correctly calculatedwhich is one of the most sensitive aspects of accounting by 

insurance companies. The staff of the SISS is too small to allow on-site inspections. 

 

90. Neither the MoF nor any of the professional bodies monitor auditors’ 

compliance with NSA and the ethics code. Under the current Auditing Law, AFAM 

have the right to recommend the withdrawal of an auditor’s license but does not carry out 

any monitoring process. If the standards of accounting compliance and auditing are to be 

raised to an acceptable level in Moldova, then a proper monitoring system needs to be set 

up. Audit firms are statutorily responsible toward the business entity and the beneficiaries 

of the information “for damages caused as a result of advice of poor quality” (Article 16-

1 of the Law on Auditing), but not for non-compliance with NSA and other professional 

obligation vis-à-vis the shareholders and other financial statement users. 

 

Accounting Standards as designed and as practiced 

91. Moldova’s National Accounting Standards (NAS) were historically developed 

on the basis of IAS, but they have not been expanded or updated for a number of 

years. NAS were issued from 1994 to 1998 on the basis of the IAS standards at the time. 

In the meantime, the International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) and its 

successor the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) have issued several new 

standards, and updated or repealed a number of the pre-existing ones. None of the 

changes made to previously adopted IAS are reflected, and later international standards 

have no equivalent in Moldova. As a consequence, out of the 36 international standards 

issued to date and still in force (34 IASs and 2 IFRSs), 15 are not applied in Moldova, 

and for a number of others the national equivalent (NAS) is out-of-date vis-à-vis IAS.
38

 

In addition, although integral components of IAS/IFRS, none of the 31 interpretations 

issued by the IASC’s Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC), was incorporated into 

the NAS. The MoF has issued “Comments on the application of NAS” for a number of 

                       
38

  A summary of the main differences between IFRS/IAS and NAS is provided in Appendix 1. 
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the standards, to provide guidance on how standards should be used in specific 

circumstances considering theoretical examples. 

 

92. In the absence of a national standard on important matters that can involve 

material amounts, and because the level of disclosure under NAS is less demanding 

than under IFRS, the financial information prepared under the NAS is prone to be 

incomplete, if not inaccurate in certain cases. Some of the issues where adoption of 

national standards appear to be particularly needed are (a) employee benefits (IAS 19), 

(b) financial instruments (IAS 32 and 39), and (c) impairment of assets (IAS 36).
39

 

Furthermore, issued NAS standards are often less demanding than their counterpart IAS, 

especially in terms of disclosure but also of recognition and measurement. For instance, 

NAS 11, Construction Contracts, does not require that expected losses at completion of a 

contract be recognized as soon as they are identified. This is a major shortcoming of the 

Moldovan standard that is all the more worrisome since construction is an important 

activity in the country. 

 

93. The MoF has developed a specific accounting standard for small and 

medium enterprises (SMEs), which is useful for bookkeeping but needs some 

simplification and does not provide SMEs with a clear framework for reporting. 

NAS 4, Accounting by Small Business Entities, was developed pursuant to Article 14 of 

the Accounting Law (see paragraph 8) to provide a set of “principles of accounting, 

preparation of accounting registers and financial statements” adapted to SMEs’ less 

complex transactions and resources. It includes an indicative chart of accounts that limits 

the types of entries to a few basic categories of assets, liabilities, equity components 

revenues and expenses (e.g., a single account for all revenues), as well as certain off-

balance sheet items. The standard then provides detailed guidelines as to how books of 

accounts should be kept and various examples of accounting statements and worksheets 

(balance sheet, and income statement, and ledgers). Financial statements produced in 

accordance with NAS 4 are defined as follows: “balance sheet, income statement, annex 

to the financial statements and explanatory notes” (NAS 4, paragraph 42). However, no 

definition is given of the content of those notes (or which of the disclosures required by 

NAS 5, Presentation of Financial Statements, can be omitted or adapted). Moreover, 

NAS 4 does not set out any principles for the recognition of transactions and for 

measuring assets and liabilities; SMEs are supposed to refer to the more complex rules 

set in the NAS standards developed for large enterprises. 

 

94. NAS 30 and NAS 63 provide sound bases for financial reporting by banks 

and non-banking credit institutions, although they need to be complemented by 

standards dealing specific issues such as loan loss provisioning. As previously noted, 

NAS 30, Disclosures in Financial Statements of Banks and Other Financial Institutions 

                       
39

  The MoF has indicated that the Division of Accounting Methodology and Audit is currently 

working on a NAS 19, Employee Benefits, which is under review by the Methodological 

Consultative Council, as well as on a NAS 22, Business Combinations and NAS 32, Financial 

Instruments. 
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is based on its equivalent IAS 30.
40

 Although no English translation of the 45-page 

standard could be obtained, a cursory review and discussions with in-country 

stakeholders indicate that it has the same scope, structure and content as its IAS 

equivalent (paragraphs 1 to 58); it also incorporates parts of IAS 7, 32 and 39, and has 

various annexes including templates of financial statements and a conceptual framework. 

With respect to NAS 63, Presentation of Information in Financial Statements of Savings 

and Credit Associations [SCA]
41

 and Other Similar Institutions, it was issued by the MoF 

in 2002 as a simplified version of NAS 30 due to the lesser sophistication of these 

entities. 

 

95. The NBM has issued a specific Regulation dealing with loan loss provisioning 

by banks for statutory purposes, following an approach that differs from the one 

recommended by IFRS. The regulation issued in 1998 requires that banks measure 

impairment losses on loans, using a matrix with fixed provision rates depending on the 

condition of loan, (as follows: normal (standard): 2%;, past-due: 5%;, sub-standard: 30%; 

doubtful: 75%; compromised: 100%, etc.). This approach, which is often followed by 

banking supervisors for regulatory financial reporting and is generally considered suitable 

for prudential purposes, is not consistent with IAS 39, which specifies that impairment 

losses should be estimated on the basis of the present value of expected future cash 

flows.
42

 General-purpose financial statements of banks (i.e. statutory statements issued to 

the shareholders and other users than the regulator) should be free of influence of 

prudential approaches. The best solution should therefore be to adopt IAS 39 (or at least 

the provisions of the standard that deal with impairment of loans), and possibly to require 

banks to report separately to the NBM on the structure and quality of their loan portfolios 

so that the regulator monitor the adequacy of the levels of loan-loss provisions from a 

regulatory perspective. 
 

96. Most banks and a number of companies in Moldova prepare a separate set of 

financial statements under IFRS, in addition to NAS-based statutory financial 

statements, to satisfy the needs of shareholders or lenders. This is the case for 

enterprises who have foreign shareholders or have borrowed from international creditors, 

including multilateral or bilateral donors. While this contributes to the quality of the 

financial information, it has the drawback of obliging those companies to keep two 

different sets of financial statements – one for statutory purposes, the other for investors 

                       
40

  IAS 30 has almost the same title but refers to “Similar” financial institutions instead of 

“Other”. 

41
  SCAs are a legacy of the Soviet system. Their role is mostly to channel government and donor 

funding throughout the country, mainly to farmers, in the form of loans of up to US$ 250,000 

with maturities of up to 15 years. 

42
  The fact that the two approaches differ is confirmed by the difference in the evaluation of 

provisions on loans for statutory purposes and under IAS 39 which the ROSC noted by 

comparing the two sets of financial statements of four large banks. In one case in particular, 

the amount of provision estimated under IAS 39 as of December 31, 2003 was 20% lower than 

the amount recorded for statutory purposes. 
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and lenders – and different accounting records. It creates a disincentive for regulators and 

stakeholders to strengthen the statutory financial reporting regime and represents an 

additional administrative burden for these companies.
43

 

 

97. The review of IFRS-based audited financial statements of four banks did not 

reveal apparent material departures from the standards. Due to the present nature of 

banking activities in Moldova, banks carry-out relatively less complex lending and 

investment transactions, resulting in relatively simple financial statements. Furthermore, 

as the banks generally do not have subsidiaries, very few need to prepare consolidated 

financial statements. For one bank, the IFRS-based  financial statements as of December 

31, 2003 which were submitted to the ROSC team for review included a recently created 

leasing company carried as an investment (i.e., not consolidated). IAS 27, Consolidated 

Financial Statements and Accounting for Investments in Subsidiaries requires that all 

entities upon which control is exercised (which is the case of that subsidiary) be 

consolidated. The ROSC team was informed that consolidated financial statements were 

not available at the time of the review but were prepared later. This is in contradiction 

with IAS 27 which requires parent company, unconsolidated financial statements to be 

issued contemporaneously with the consolidated ones. Also, for statutory purposes, 

interviewed practitioners indicated that the NBM does not enforce NAS 27 (equivalent to 

IAS 27). The practice of not consolidating certain subsidiaries can impede the financial 

statements from providing a complete presentation of the bank’s financial position and 

performance, and distort certain key financial ratios (e.g., debt-to-equity ratio, or return 

on assets).  

 

98. The statutory audited financial statements of enterprises and non-banking 

institutions that were reviewed as part of this ROSC did not comply with NAS, and 

did not even meet the basic requirements to be considered financial statements. The 

entities reviewed included five listed companies, one state-owned enterprise (SOE) and 

four non-banking institutions (insurance company and savings institution). In all cases, 

prescribed formats for the balance sheet, the profit and loss statement, and the cash flow 

statement were closely followed, but in none of the cases reviewed were any accounting 

policies or other explanatory notes presented, in contradiction with NAS 5, Presentation 

of Financial Statements. In the absence of complete information and sufficient details 

necessary to the analysis and understanding of the company’s financial position, 

performance and cash-flows, as well as contingencies and commitments of the company, 

the financial statements do not provide a useful tool for shareholders, investors and 

lenders to make adequately informed corporate, investment, or credit decisions. 
 

                       
43

  Comparing the NAS- and IFRS-based financial statements as of December 31, 2003 of one 

bank, differences were noted on the following aspects: (i) the depreciation periods of property 

(20 years under NAS and 40 years under IFRS), although in both cases it is supposed to reflect 

the assets’ useful lives; (ii) loan loss provisioning (see paragraph 39); (ii) impairment of fixed 

asset (since IAS 36 has not been adopted – see paragraph 36); and (iv) amortization of 

discounts on loans to customers. On aggregate, the effect these differences was material only 

on the net income (by approximately 10%). Moreover, a number of the disclosures present in 

the IFRS-based financial statements were not provided in the NAS-based ones. 
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 Auditing standards as designed and as practiced 

99. Moldovan auditing standards (NSA) are for the most part a direct 

translation of ISA, although they do not include certain recent amendments and 

additions to ISA. The major part of NSA were issued from 1999 to 2001, and the 

process is continuing until present. Two recently issued ISA have not been translated into 

a NSA (ISA 315, Understanding the Entity and its Environment and Assessing the Risks 

of Material Misstatement and ISA 330, The Auditor’s Procedures in Response to 

Assessed Risks). Moreover, standards issued by IFAC relating to other types of services 

have not been adopted.44 On the other hand, some of the IFAC-issued International 

Auditing Practice Statements (IAPS) have been translated,45 which can be helpful to 

auditors in addressing practical issues relating to specific circumstances. The MoF has 

indicated that it intends to issue new national standards (NSA) equivalent to the above 

ISAs in the near future, as well as practice statements. 
 

100. Based on interviews conducted by the ROSC team with representatives of 

various audit firms in Chisinau, auditing practices tend to depart from the standard 

in several areas. The main areas were discrepancies between the standard and the 

practice exist include: (a) third-party confirmation of debtors and creditors, which is an 

essential procedure to independently verify the accuracy and completeness of these third-

party accounts, but are very difficult to implement; (b) stock counts to ensure the 

existence of inventoriesalso a basic check that is often not properly carried-out; (c) 

inquiries of subsequent events and the appropriateness of management's use of the going 

concern assumption; and (d) quality control for audit work, which appears to be applied 

only by the audit firms with international affiliation.  
 

101. The cases of non-compliance with NAS identified by the ROSC in the 

reviewed financial statements were not mentioned by the auditors in their reports. 
Under NSA 700, The Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements, the absence of 

explanatory notes on the NAS-based, statutory financial statements (discussed in 

paragraph 41) should have given rise to adverse opinions in the corresponding audit 

reports, on the basis that those financial statements were incomplete and possibly 

misleading. 

 

102. The environment in which the auditing process is developed in Moldova is 

not conducive to compliance with auditing standards. Several factors seem to explain 

the difficulties or disincentives in complying with established auditing standards , 

including: 

 Lack of understanding of the audit process by corporate entities –

Representatives of audit firms interviewed as part of this ROSC stated as a 

                       
44

 They include the International Standards on Review Engagements, the International Standards 

on Assurance Engagements, and the International Standards on Related Services. 

45
  e.g., IAPS 1000 Inter-Bank Confirmation Procedures, IAPS 1005 The Special Considerations 

in the Audit of Small Entities, or IAPS 1007 on Communication with Management). 
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difficulty the fact that often companies are not used or equipped to 

accommodate an external audit. For instance, stock counts are often not 

properly prepared. 

 Lack of practical experience and technical expertise for applying auditing 

standards and enforcing accounting standards – Due to the fact that 

accounting curricula are not oriented toward practical application of the 

auditing standards, and that continuing education and training is not 

mandatory, auditors may experience difficulties in applying NSA effectively. 

 Limited role of governance structures among companies – As previously 

noted, audit committees are infrequent in Moldova, as corporate entities are 

not required to establish them. Yet they are believed to play an important role 

in ensuring that external auditors fulfill their responsibilities to deliver an 

audit that meets the needs of the stakeholders. 

 Absence of monitoring and effective sanctions – As previously noted, there is 

no monitoring of the compliance with auditing standards and to ensure that 

practicing auditors in Moldova observe quality assurance procedures 

(including ISA 220 on quality control of audit work). Also, the law does not 

explicitly set sanctions against errant auditors, and the fact that financial 

statements of most companies are not published reduces the possibility that 

infringement by auditors of their responsibilities are uncovered, thereby 

weakening auditors’ incentive for quality. 
 

 

Perceptions of the quality of financial reporting 

103. Demand for transparent financial statements is still relatively low, due to the 

lack of availability of financial information, the early stage of development of the 

securities market and a modest level of foreign investment. Private investors appear to 

place limited reliance on statutory financial statements when conducting due diligence as 

part of their investment projects in Moldova. Instead, they request special-purpose 

financial statements under IFRS. Observers acknowledge the achievements in the 1990s 

in developing a reporting framework based on international standards, and the 

improvement it brought, especially in the banking sector which is generally viewed as 

producing better quality financial information than the corporate sector. Enterprises’ 

reluctance to disclose information and focus of tax consequences of accounting are 

widely seen as obstacles to increasing transparency and building-up  the quality of the 

financial reporting. Many interested persons interviewed pointed to the state-owned 

sector as an area where information was generally not transparent and rarely available. 

 

Findings and Policy Recommendations 

 Main Findings  

 

104. Private sector accounting and auditing standards in Moldova are 

significantly incomplete, and compliance with the standards is low. As a result, the 

accuracy and usefulness of corporate financial statements is limited. The principal 
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observations of the ROSC review of accounting and auditing practices in Moldova 

follow: 

 Over the last ten years, the Ministry of Finance (MoF) has been active in setting 

accounting and auditing standards for the private sector, with the assistance of 

international donors. The National Bank of Moldova (NBM) has also been active 

in developing a financial reporting framework for banks. 

 There is a specific act of law in Moldova dealing with accounting. It focuses on 

bookkeeping aspects, is very prescriptive, and does not set the underlying 

principles of financial reporting. 

 National Accounting Standards (NAS) are still in transition toward International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). They have not been updated since 1998 

and do not incorporate 15 of the current IFRS/IAS standards, and therefore 

information under NAS is prone to be incomplete, if not inaccurate. Moreover, 

some of the NAS have significant differences with their IAS equivalent, 

especially that dealing with construction contracts. 

 A specific standard (NAS 4) has been adopted for small-sized entities. However it 

focuses on bookkeeping aspects and does not provide a clear framework for 

reporting. 

 National Standards on Auditing (NSA) were issued only a few years ago and are 

very much in line with International Standards on Auditing (ISA) The MoF has 

issued several practice statements based on the one issued by IFAC; these are 

useful for the profession to apply the standards. 

 Most banks and a number of large companies in Moldova prepare IFRS-based 

financial statements in addition to statutory financial statements, which represent 

redundant efforts and costs for these companies. 

 Enterprises are not required to make their financial statements available to the 

public. As a consequence, the level of financial transparency in the corporate 

sector is low and it makes it more difficult for investors and banks to carry-out 

adequate analyses for investment and lending purposes. This hinders enterprises’ 

access to medium/long-term financing. 

 Only banks and the majority of listed companies are statutorily required to have 

their financial statements audited, which represents a very small number of 

entities. There is a mandatory Censors’ Committees in charge of exercising 

control over the financial reporting, but this mechanism cannot be construed to be 

an audit. In the absence of safeguards to ensure the accuracy and fair presentation 

of the financial statements, shareholders and other interested parties are not 

adequately protected against erroneous financial information. In addition, this 

narrow scope of statutory audit requirement this impedes the development of the 

audit practice in Moldova. 

 The statutory financial statements of enterprises reviewed as part of the ROSC 

assessment omitted most of the explanatory notes and disclosures required under 

NAS. This severely limits the financial statements’ usefulness for users. It also 
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demonstrates that Censors’ Committees are ineffective in ensuring enterprises 

meet their financial reporting obligations. 

 Enforcement of accounting and financial reporting is minimal except in the 

banking sector, which is one of the explanations to the low level of compliance 

noted above. 

 The accounting profession is still relatively young and there are still few 

practitioners with qualification of international standing. There are two 

professional organizations which do not cooperate with each other. Efforts are 

made to encourage the membership to obtain international certification. 

 Financial statements of state-owned enterprises (SOEs) appear to be non-

compliant with NAS. Consequently, the government and the public are not 

adequately informed on the financial position and performance of SOEs. Since 

the mandate Court of Accounts does not currently cover SOEs, these enterprises 

are not subject to any independent monitoring. 

 There is a Law on Auditing in Moldova since 1996, which is in the process of 

being thoroughly reformed to align the Moldovan legislation with international 

best practices including the EU Eighth directive. 

  

Policy Recommendations 

 

105. The principal objective of this ROSC assessment is to assist the Government 

of Moldova in strengthening the private sector’s accounting, financial reporting and 

auditing practices, as a means to address certain relevant strategic objectives for 

Moldova These objectives include (a) enhancing the business climate, and bolstering 

investment in the private sector; (b) stimulating growth in the SME sector by reducing its 

cost of financing; (c) supporting the stability of the banking sector and mitigating the risk 

of crises due to loan collection problems; (d) achieving greater financial transparency in 

the corporate sector, both state and private-owned; and (e) furthering Moldova’s 

economic integration with its main partners, especially EU members.  

 

106. The Accounting Law should be thoroughly revised to (a) place greater 

emphasis on financial reporting, (b) provide legal backing for the use of IFRS for 

statutory purposes and (c) simplify bookkeeping requirements on enterprises. The 

new Accounting and Financial Reporting Law modeled on the EU Directives should 

underscore the overall principles and purposes of financial reporting, consistent with the 

IASB framework for the presentation and preparation of financial statements. Detailed 

forms and requirements should be dealt with at the level of secondary regulation. The 

new law should also explicitly mandate the use of either IFRS or NAS for statutory 

reporting purposes under relevant legislation (JSC Law, LFI, State Enterprises Law, etc.). 

Allowing entities that already prepare IFRS-based financial statements to report to their 

shareholders or lenders to file those statements for statutory purposes would reduce the 

cost of their financial reporting process for them. It would also create the opportunity for 

other potential users to benefit from that information. 
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107. The accounting standard-setter within the MoF should as a matter of 

priority adopt available Romanian and Russian translations of the all IFRS 

standards that have not yet been reflected into NAS. Up-to-date IFRS translations are 

available both in Romanian and in Russian, from counterpart standard-setting bodies or 

private organizations. Consistent with the approach followed by other countries who have 

decided to converge their accounting principles with IFRS, the MoF’s Division of 

Accounting Methodology and Audit should seek to obtain the translated versions of those 

IASs and IFRSs not already adopted as NAS (see Appendix). The translated standards 

would then be circulated among a wide range of stakeholders, including preparers, audit 

firms, professional bodies, bankers, investors, etc., requesting comments from them. If 

necessary and in a limited number of occurrences, the standards could be adapted by 

removing certain optional treatments or adding certain requirements or guidelines. 

Additionally, NAS 11, Construction contracts, and NAS 27, Consolidated Financial 

Statements and Accounting for Investments in Subsidiaries, should be further aligned 

with their IAS equivalents.
46

  

 

108. NAS 4, Accounting for Small Business Entities, should be revised to provide a 

comprehensive reporting framework for SMEs. NAS 4 should be expanded to 

provide, in addition to record-keeping rules and templates of basic financial statements, 

the following information: (a) the objectives and attributes of the financial statements, (b) 

the requirements in terms of recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosures for 

each main category of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and (c) a model of 

simplified notes to the financial statements. The MoF should monitor IASB’s recently 

initiated project to develop a set of accounting principles adapted to SMEs.
47

 

 

109. The proposed new Accounting and Financial Reporting Law and amendments 

to the Joint-Stock Company (JSC) Law should require public-interest entities
48

 to 

                       
46

 The MoF indicated to the ROSC team that “the Division of Accounting Methodology and 

Audit (…) does not have the most recent information about international accounting 

regulations, including the most recent translation of IFRS in Romanian or Russian”. 

47
  The Financial Reporting Standards for Small Entities, originally issued in 1997 by the 

Financial Reporting Council of the United Kingdom and updated regularly since, could also 

serve as a reference. 

48
 Public-interest entities are defined as listed companies, banks, insurance companies, pension 

funds, and those entities bearing significant importance to a country on account of the nature 

of their business, ownership (e.g., state-owned enterprises) or size as measured by the number 

of employees, revenues generated annually and assets owned (the corresponding thresholds 

provided by the Fourth European Directive on Company Law are respectively 250 employees, 

€12.5 million, and €25 million; it could be used as a reference, probably with lower amounts). 

Based on data provided by the Department of Statistics on the country’s top 100 enterprises, as 

measured by the amount of revenues and number of employees in 2002, there were 55 

enterprises with more than 250 employees in Moldova during that year. In addition, these 100 

enterprises had revenues of MLD 80 million (equivalent to € 8 million) or more. Based on the 

above, setting the proposed public filing requirement with a scope consistent to the one 

prevailing in the EU would affect approximately 100 enterprises in Moldova. 
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file their annual financial statements with a public registry of companies. This 

registry could be established under the National Securities Commission (CNVM). 

Under the JSC and Accounting laws, all joint stock companies are already required to 

prepare a full set of financial statements in conformity with NAS, so this requirement in 

theory does not require more efforts on the part of companies. The registry of companies 

would compile annual financial statements and review their compliance with the law in 

terms of completeness and form (see also paragraph 53). Any interested party 

(authorities, creditors, suppliers, banks, and any third party) could request a copy of the 

financial statements which would be made available for a limited fee. Considering that 

legal opinion in Moldova indicate that CNVM is legally entrusted with supervising all 

JSCs, the Registry of companies should thus be established under CNVM. The Registry 

should have the authority deny registration in case of incomplete statements, and to levy 

fines for late submission. Moreover, the authorities should consider the possibility of 

extending to all open joint stock companies the requirement to file financial statements 

with the public registry, as this would bolster financial transparency in the corporate 

sector and broaden investors’ and lenders’ access to financial information. 

 

110. The JSC Law, State Enterprise Law and Law on Enterprises should also be 

amended to require statutory financial statement audits in all public interest entities 

as previously defined. This would be consistent with the EU Fourth Directive on 

Company Law and would be an important step toward enhancing enterprises’ compliance 

with NAS and improving the quality of the financial information they present. 

 

111. Amend the JSC Law and related regulations to clarify the role of the 

Censor’s Commission with respect to the financial reporting process and restrict the 

obligation to have Censors to entities not subject to statutory audits. For public-

interest entities, the role of Censors would be redundant for the most part with that of 

external auditors. Regarding JSCs that would not be subject to the requirement discussed 

in paragraph 52 (which would represent the overwhelming majority of JSCs), regulation 

should provide guidelines on how they should carry-out their mission especially with 

regards to examining the annual financial statements and a standard reporting should be 

developed by the CNVM setting forth the scope and extent of their work and their 

conclusions. 

 

112. The new Auditing Law that is being drafted by the MoF should be finalized 

promptly in a way that would ensure that statutory audits provide effective 

protection to shareholders and other users of the financial statements. Since late 

2003, the MoF has undertaken to review the existing Auditing Law to identify changes 

needed to improve the legislative and regulatory framework underpinning the audit 

practice in a manner consistent with the recommendations of the CFAA published in 

September 2003.
49

 According to the MoF, a draft Law was submitted for review at the 

                       
49

 A first draft has been submitted for comments to World Bank staff who provided them. As 

part of the follow-up of to this review of accounting and auditing practices, the ROSC task 

team will maintain the dialogue with the Ministry to provide guidance on the finalization of 

the draft law. 
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working session of the Government of Moldova on May 27, 2004.The main suggested 

areas of improvements in the new Law are summarized in Box 1. The MoF has indicated 

that new Law should adequately address the issues raised in this report. 
 

Box 1 – The new Auditing Law 
 

The new Law on Auditing is expected to provide a comprehensive regulatory framework that 

would pave the way for a significant improvement in the audit practice, and in turn to a increase 

in the quality of enterprises’ statutory financial statements. The main suggested areas of 

improvement in the Law are summarized below: 

I. Definitions and terminology provided in the Law should be harmonized with 

international best practices, including IFAC standards and EU legislation. For instance, the 

definition of an audit should include the concepts of “true and fair view”, materiality, reasonable 

assurance, basis of reporting, responsibilities of the management, etc. 

II. The law should include a specific chapter on professional standards (i.e., auditing, 

assurance, ethics and quality control) which the auditors are to apply to discharge their duties. It 

should state that those professional standards are to be developed by the public body in charge of 

the oversight of the audit practice, within the framework of the standards issued by IFAC and 

with reference to best practices such as EU directives. It should also require that auditors be 

qualified as a result of a due process in line with IFAC’s educational standards that would ensure 

that would-be statutory auditors have demonstrated adequate practical skills and ability to 

exercise a professional judgment. 

III. The Law should entrust the supervision of audit activities to an Audit Oversight Council 

(AOC), an autonomous public body under the Ministry of Finance, the NBM and the CNVM. The 

functions of the AOC would include (i) setting professional standards as discussed above, (ii) 

certification of auditors for purposes of licensing, (iii) instituting continuing education, and (iv) 

assuring quality control and monitoring of compliance with ethical requirements. The AOC 

would act as the regulator of the audit practice and the enforcer of the Law on Auditing on behalf 

of all authorities concerned (MoF, NBM, CNVM, SIIS, MSE, etc.). The AOC would be governed 

collegially by representatives of these authorities; its membership would also include 

representatives of the financial community, the profession and the academic community. The 

activities and findings of the AOC would be disclosed to the public so as to increase the 

confidence of financial statement users in the reliability of the financial reporting process in 

Moldova and in auditors’ effectiveness in ensuring compliance by companies with their statutory 

obligations to report. 

IV. The new Law should provide for the possibility for the Audit Oversight Council to 

delegate some of its functions to a professional body with adequate institutional capacity to 

conduct them on a day-to-day basis. Such delegation could be done through a formal agreement 

under the By-laws of the Audit Oversight Council and could cover continuing education and 

training and even professional examination. In that respect, the Law should expressly 

accommodate the possibility that the AOC could endorse international certifications of acceptable 

quality could be endorsed in lieu of the existing certification. 

V. The responsibilities of management regarding the preparation of the financial statements 

and for ensuring that all relevant documentation and information is made available to auditors. 

 

 

113. CNVM’s powers and capacity for enforcing accounting standards and 

financial reporting requirements should be strengthened. Under the law, CNVM has 

“powers of decision, exemption, interdiction, intervention, control and administrative and 



 - 105 - 

  

disciplinary sanctions on the securities market”. These provisions extend to all JSCs as 

their shares must be issued on the off-the-exchange (see paragraph 3) market over which 

CNVM has authority. However, discussions with CNVM during the ROSC review have 

indicated that its own interpretation is that its role should be focused on the professional 

participants. Accordingly, the JSC Law should be amended to clarify that the role and 

responsibilities of CNVM extends to all JSCs. In order for CNVM to carry-out its 

supervisory and enforcement functions over JSCs, (including public filing, reporting in 

accordance with NAS or IFRS and auditing as proposed in paragraphs 53 and 54 above), 

a division should be set-up within CNVM in charge of (i) reviewing the financial 

statements filed with the Registry, (ii) request any additional information from companies 

and auditors, (iii) conduct period off-site inspections at companies, and (iv) impose 

administrative sanctions for non-compliance.
50

 To ensure the transparency of the process, 

deter enterprises from not complying, and foster users’ confidence in the effectiveness of 

the regulatory regime, CNVM would report each calendar year on enforcements actions 

conducted, issues addressed and possibly sanctions taken. 

 

114. Similarly, in the insurance sector, the State Inspectorate (SIIS) should 

enhance its capacity for monitoring compliance with accounting and reporting 

requirements. Specifically, the staff of the SIIS should include actuaries who would 

review the calculations by insurance companies of the provisions relating to insurance 

contracts. 

 

115. Academic curricula in the field of accounting and auditing, as well as 

professional education and training, should be strengthened. In order for future 

practitioners, especially would-be auditors, to have a sufficiently strong academic 

background in accounting and auditing, university curricula leading to the degree of 

graduate in accounting should be updated to accommodate issues of financial reporting, 

accounting principles and auditing standards, and practical application of the standards. 

In that regard, consideration should be given to requiring students have to do an 

apprenticeship as part of the curriculum. Furthermore, professional accountants should be 

required to follow training programs to improve and update their knowledge of 

international standards and best practices in the field of accounting and auditing. 

 

116. Some of the recommendations of this ROSC will likely require substantial 

technical assistance and training. As previously indicated, the Country Action Plan will 

identify key activities including designing processes and organizational structures, 

drafting new legislation or regulation, and dealing with issues of human resources that 

would support the implementation of the ROSC recommendations and the related 

technical assistance. Areas that may require technical assistance include: (a) setting-up 

the public registry of company annual accounts under the CNVM, and the links with 

other interested bodies (department of statistics, tax authorities, NBM, etc.); (b) 

establishing detailed processes for the enforcement of financial reporting requirements by 

CNVM under company law; (c) designing the By-laws of the Audit Oversight Council, 

                       
50

 CNVM would not directly supervise banks as these are under the purview of the NBM for all 

matters of compliance including financial reporting.  
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and the detailed processes under which it would operate; (d) developing a process for 

endorsement and monitoring of auditor certification; (e) reviewing and drafting 

amendments to existing Law on Accounting; and (f) updating and improving NAS 4 for 

use by SMEs, and (g) adoption of IFRS for use by all public interest companies and 

further development harmonization of NAS in line with IFRS. 
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SUMMARY OF DIFFERENCES BETWEEN IFRS AND MOLDOVA’S NATIONAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (NAS) 

NAS Comment

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 5 No significant differences with equivalent IAS

IAS 2 Inventories 2 No significant differences with equivalent IAS

IAS 7 Cash Flow Statements 7 No significant differences with equivalent IAS

IAS 8 Net Profit or Loss for the Period, 

Fundamental Errors and Changes in 

Accounting Policies

8 This standard is not available in the English language. Most issues

appear to have been dealt with in NAS 8. 

IAS 10 Events After the Balance Sheet Date 10 This standard is not available in the English language. Most issues

appear to have been dealt with in NAS 10. 

IAS 11  Construction Contracts 11 NAS is substantially in line with IAS, except for the absence of

provisions for losses at completion on unprofitable contracts 

IAS 12 Income Taxes 12 No significant differences with equivalent IAS

IAS 14 Segment Reporting 14 No significant differences with equivalent IAS

IAS 15 Information Reflecting the Effects of 

Changing Prices

15 No equivalent NAS

IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment 16 No significant differences with equivalent IAS

IAS 17 Leases 17 No significant differences with equivalent IAS

IAS 18 Revenue 18 No significant differences with equivalent IAS

IAS 19 Employee Benefits n/a No equivalent NAS

IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and 

Disclosure of Government Assistance

20 This standard is not available in the English language. Most issues

appear to have been dealt with in NAS 20. 

IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign 

Exchange Rates

21 No significant differences with equivalent IAS

IAS 22 Business Combinations No equivalent NAS

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs 23 No significant differences with equivalent IAS, although the NAS 

standard follows a different presentation and differs in some aspect 

with IAS 23

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures 24 No significant differences with equivalent IAS

IAS 26 Accounting and Reporting by Retirement 

Benefit Plans

n/a No equivalent NAS

IAS 27 Consolidated Financial Statements and 

Accounting for Investments in 

Subsidiaries

27

The NAS is a simplified version of IAS 27. It includes a reference to

NAS 22, Business Combinations , which has not been issued yet

IAS 28 Accounting for Investments in Associates 28 Another simplified version of the IAS which is more than advanced 

for the present market place.  Consolidated financial statements are 

not extensively understood or used so the importance of the process 

seems somewhat in doubt.  Associates are even more esoteric

IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 

Economies

n/a No equivalent NAS

IAS 30 Disclosures in the Financial Statements of 

Banks and Similar Financial Institucions

30 Most issues have been dealt with in NAS 30 –Disclosures in the 

Financial Statements of Financial Institutions. However, this standard 

is not available in the English language

IAS 31 Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint 

Ventures (Up Dated 2000)

31 Joint ventures are important in the present climate here and this 

standard is close enough to be effective

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and 

Presentation

n/a No equivalent NAS

IAS 33 Earnings per Share n/a No equivalent NAS

IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting n/a No equivalent NAS

IAS 35 Discontinuing Operations n/a No equivalent NAS

IAS 36 Impairment of Assets (Up Dated 1998) n/a No equivalent NAS

IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 

Contingent Assets

n/a No equivalent NAS

IAS 38 Intangible Assets n/a No equivalent NAS. Some aspects are dealt with in NAS 13, but there 

are major differences.

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement (Up Dated 2000)

n/a No equivalent NAS

IAS 40 Investment Property n/a No equivalent NAS

IAS 41 Agriculture 6 NAS 6 is a well set out but complex standard which goes much 

further than the IAS.

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International 

Financial Reporting Standards 

n/a No equivalent NAS

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment n/a No equivalent NAS

IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts n/a No equivalent NAS

Note: IAS 3, 4, 5, 6, 9, 13, 25 have been repealed - NAS 9, Accounting for Expenses on Research and Development  is still in force.

International Standard
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V. REPORT ON THE OBSERVANCE OF STANDARDS AND CODES FOR CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

(ROSC) 

 
Moldova 

May 2004 
 

 Executive Summary 

 Capital Markets and Institutional Framework 

 Review of Corporate Governance Principles 

 Summary of Policy Recommendations 

 Annexes 

A. Summary of Observance of OECD Principles of Corporate Governance  

B. Summary of Policy Recommendations  
 

This Corporate Governance Assessment was completed as part of the joint World Bank-IMF 

program of Reports on the Observance of Standards and Codes (ROSC). It benchmarks the 

country’s observance of corporate governance against the 1999 OECD Principles of 

Corporate Governance. This assessment was prepared by Alexander Berg of the Investment 

Climate Unit (CICIC). The assessment of corporate governance in Moldova was conducted 

in May 2004 as part of the Financial Sector Assessment Program for of Moldova, for which a 

review of corporate and financial sector governance was prepared by Sue Rutledge of the 

Europe and Central Asia Region. The corporate governance ROSC was based on a corporate 

governance template-questionnaire drafted by Turcan and Turcan Law Firm. The assessment 

reflects technical discussions with National Securities Commission, the Moldova Stock 

Exchange, the National Depository of Securities, commercial banks, issuers, and numerous 

market participants. The ROSC assessment was cleared for publication by the NSC on 

September 30, 2004. 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

117. This report provides an assessment of Moldova’s corporate governance framework—its 

legal and policy framework, as well as enforcement and compliance practices. The report makes 

policy recommendations where appropriate, and provides investors with a benchmark to compare 

corporate governance with the 1999 OECD Principles of Corporate Governance. 

118. Moldova is beginning to upgrade its legal and regulatory framework to meet international 

corporate governance standards. The report suggests that the main challenges will be to: (1) 

strengthen the legal requirements for shareholders to disclose their ultimate ownership and 

control positions, remove the authority of boards to increase capital without shareholder 

approval; establish clear liability and duties for board members, and require annual independent 

audits for joint stock companies; (2) increase the resources available to the NSC, and focus its 

enforcement efforts on transparency and disclosure, especially the disclosure of ownership, and 

the NSC’s own transparency and accountability; (3) draft a corporate governance code to build 

awareness of corporate governance and to further clarify the responsibilities of the board; and (4) 

establish a training program on corporate governance to assist in building a shareholder culture 

in Moldova. 

Capital Markets and Institutional Framework 

119. Moldova’s capital markets and corporate ownership structure is a legacy of the mass 

privatization program of the mid-1990s. Mass privatization was followed by a wave of 

consolidation and struggles for control in many Moldovan companies, which have resulted in 

control by a variety of owners, including the former privatization investment funds (FINNs), 

management, and new local investors. Foreign strategic investors are rare. In those companies 

where consolidation resulted in competing interests trying gain control, a variety of corporate 

governance abuses were used to gain advantage, including share dilutions and inadequate 

notification of shareholder meetings. The top five investors in the top ten listed companies now 

control an average of 71 percent of capital.
51

  

120. The Moldova Stock Exchange (MSE) was founded in 1994 and began trading in 1995. 

Twenty-five companies have signed contracts with the exchange and meet certain criteria; these 

issues are considered to be “listed.” All other open joint stock companies must by law also be 

admitted to trading at the exchange.
52

 As of April 30, 2004, 1,014 issues were admitted to trading 

at the exchange; there is little or no liquidity in most of these issues. Six of the ten most actively 

traded listed firms on the MSE are banks. Companies have an incentive to list as this exempts 

them from the requirement to buy out minority shareholders in the event of conversion from 

open to closed form (see Principle IIA below). Due to infrequent share trading, the MSE does not 

calculate market capitalization. No Moldovan firms are listed abroad or have issued 

ADRs/GDRs. Transactions executed on the exchange are usually settled at the National 

Depository of Securities. However, off-exchange “gray market” trading is substantial; over half 

of all transactions are executed between counterparties off-exchange, and settled in person at the 

registrar. 

                       
51

 Information collected by World Bank, as of December 31, 2003. In some cases shareholder data 

includes obvious nominee holders (e.g. National Depository of Securities). 

52
 To avoid confusion, this report will refer to the 25 companies as “listed” and the 1,014 companies as 

“admitted to trading,” or as “quoted.”  
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121. The Joint Stock Companies Law
53

 (JSC Law) sets the rules that apply to joint stock 

companies; many corporate governance provisions reflect those in Russia’s original 1996 joint 

stock company law. The Securities Market Law (1999) sets the basic rules for the equity market. 

The most widely used and modern company forms are the limited liability company (SRL), 

selected by most Moldovan firms, and joint stock company (JSC).
54

 Only a JSC may issue 

shares. JSCs may be closed (with less than 50 shareholders) or open.
55

 All JSCs with over 50 

shareholders must be admitted for trading at the MSE. There are about 3,600 JSCs, of which 

about 1,700 are open, and about 1,039 are quoted on the exchange. The JSC Law has been 

updated since 1997 to attempt to remedy weaknesses in the original structure but has recently 

been weakened by the removal of provisions that mandated an independent audit for all JSCs. 

122. The National Securities Commission (NSC) is the capital market regulator. It regulates 

new issues of securities, licenses and supervises the activities of securities intermediaries 

(including the MSE, National Depository, registrars, securities brokers and other investment 

service providers, custodians, and investment funds), enforces disclosure requirements and 

insider trading laws, and oversees takeovers. It does not include the protection of shareholders as 

part of its mission statement. As an independent agency, NSC reports to Parliament, and may 

issue legally binding regulations. NSC is fully funded by market participant fees, and had 2002 

revenues of 2.9 million Lei (about USD 240,000), of which about 63 percent is covered by fees 

charged for the registration of capital increases.
56

  Its staff of 80 are poorly paid relative to other 

government bodies (for example, the National Bank and the Tax Inspection service). The NSC 

has relatively strong authority over supervised and licensed entities (brokers), but limited 

authority over issuers. It has recently begun to work for improved corporate governance in 

Moldova. In 2003, the NSC issued warning letters to 345 companies that violated disclosure 

regulations, and issued a statement on the importance of corporate governance.
57

 The NSC is 

also preparing to draft a corporate governance code. 

123. The only institutional investors are the 14 remaining investment funds (FINNs). 

Originally created during the privatization process, the funds hold shares in many Moldovan 

companies, and are themselves the most widely-held issuers (some with over 100,000 

shareholders). As a result of “swapping” and share sales that occurred after mass privatization, 

the funds hold majority stakes in many of their portfolio firms. Some stronger funds are actively 

overseeing the companies as owners. Current plans within the government call for further 

transformation of the funds into holding companies or mutual funds, or for self-liquidation. Most 

of the funds are expected to liquidate, leaving three-five holding companies or other corporate 

structures.
58

 

                       
53

 Joint Stock Companies Law of the Republic of Moldova no. 1134–XIII of April 2, 1997. 

54
 Joint stock companies are abbreviated “S.A.” in Romanian. 

55
 Open JSCs can have any number of shareholders, and their charters can impose no restrictions on share 

transfers. Company type or form can be changed through amendments to the company charter.  

56
 Source: NSC Annual Report and World Bank analysis. 

57
 Regulation on Adoption of Concept of Corporate Governance of Enterprises in the National Economy, 

No. 22 of January 16, 2003 (MO, No. 3-5 of January 21, 2003) 

58
 The necessary legislation and regulation for this process have not been finalized. 
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124. An independent “National Association for the Promotion of Transparency” has been 

formed, with the goal of protecting minority investors. 

Review of the Corporate Governance Principles 

125. This section assesses the Moldova’s compliance with each of the OECD Principles of 

Corporate Governance. Policy recommendations may be offered if a Principle is less than fully 

observed.59 Note that the OECD Principles relate only to open/publicly traded companies, 

although the recommendations may be helpful for all joint stock companies. 
 

Section I: The Rights of Shareholders 

Principle IA: The corporate governance framework should protect shareholders’ rights. Basic shareholder rights include the right to: (1) secure 
methods of ownership registration; (2) convey or transfer shares; (3) obtain relevant information on the corporation on a timely and regular basis; 

(4) participate and vote in general shareholder meetings; (5) elect members of the board; and (6) share in the profits of the corporation. 

Assessment: Partially observed 

Description of practice: Secure methods of ownership registration. Companies are responsible 

for maintaining the shareholders’ register. Companies may keep the register themselves or use a 

specialized registrar. Companies with more than 50 shareholders, however, must use one of 18 

licensed specialized registrars.
60

 In practice, licensed registrars serve most open and closed JSCs 

(about 3,000 in total). Nominee ownership is allowed under the law, which may contribute to the 

lack of transparency of ownership (see below).  

Convey or transfer shares. By law, shares in open JSCs are freely transferable, although in 

practice some company charters allow the board of directors the right to approve new 

shareholders.
61

 The National Depository of Securities carries out the clearing and settlement of 

MSE-executed transactions on a delivery-versus-payment (DVP) T+3 basis. However, the 

shareholder recordkeeping structure is considered expensive by market participants, because 

most shareholders maintain their shares in the registry and not in the depository, and must re-

register into and out of the depository each time they trade on the exchange. 

Obtain relevant information on the corporation on a timely and regular basis. Information 

on companies is available (in principle) from a number of sources, including required periodic 

disclosure and directly from the company (see below). 

Participate and vote in general shareholder meetings. The holders of common shares have 

clear legal rights to participate and vote in the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting (AGM). 

                       
59

 Observed means that all essential criteria are met without significant deficiencies. Largely observed 

means only minor shortcomings are observed, which do not raise questions about the authorities’ ability 

and intent to achieve full observance in the short term. Partially observed means that while the legal and 

regulatory framework complies with the Principle, practices, and enforcement diverge. Materially not 

observed means that, despite progress, shortcomings are sufficient to raise doubts about the authorities’ 

ability to achieve observance. Not observed means no substantive progress toward observance has been 

achieved. 

60
 Article 17, JSC Law. About 3,000 JSCs use independent registrars; many closed companies find it 

cheaper to use independent registrars than to carry out the function themselves. 

61
 Provisions establishing pre-emptive rights of an open company or its shareholders to purchase shares 

from other shareholders are outlawed by JSC Law Article 2(2). 



 - 112 - 

  

For additional information, see Principle IC. 

Elect members of the board. The board of directors is elected by shareholders. Minority 

shareholders with more than 5 percent of voting shares may nominate candidates. Companies 

with more than 50 shareholders must use cumulative voting.
62

 

Share in the profits of the corporation. Annual dividends are approved by the AGM, following 

a proposal of the board.
63

 The AGM cannot increase the board’s proposal. Interim (quarterly or 

semi-annual) dividends can be set by the company board. Dividend decisions must be published 

within 15 days. 

Policy recommendations: All open JSCs should be required by law to use an independent 

registrar. Regulators (or the stock exchange) should review company and bank charters and 

require the removal of any provisions that restrict the free transfer of shares of open JSCs. 

To increase independence, reduce expenses, and improve ownership transparency, consideration 

should be given to the creation of a central registry to maintain the ownership records of open 

JSCs, and to removing the nominee ownership concept from the law.  

Principle IB: Shareholders have the right to participate in, and to be sufficiently informed on, decisions concerning fundamental corporate 
changes, such as: (i) amendments to the governing documents of the company; (ii) the authorization of additional shares; and (iii) extraordinary 

transactions that in effect result in the sale of the company. 

Assessment: Materially not observed 

Description of practice: Shareholders participate in most fundamental corporate decisions. The 

AGM has the exclusive authority to amend the corporate charter, elect directors, fix their 

remuneration, appoint the auditor, change the company form, restructure or liquidate.
64

 

Decisions on large transactions (where the property value exceeds 50 percent of company assets) 

must also be referred to a majority vote at a shareholder meeting. Decisions on property totaling 

25 to 50 percent of company assets must be adopted by unanimous decision of the board, 

excluding the votes of “interested” members. If the board’s decision is not unanimous, or if more 

than one half of the board members are “conflicted,” the decision must also be referred to 

shareholders.
65

Most fundamental decisions require a 2/3 majority vote of shareholders.  

However, the board of directors has the authority to increase authorized capital, and to issue 

shares.
66

 These powers have reportedly been used to dilute minority shareholders during the 

process of shareholder consolidation. Minority shareholders have some protection, because they 

enjoy pre-emptive rights to subscribe to new shares in proportion to their shareholding. 

However, the ability of the board to legally increase authorized capital by 50 percent without a 

shareholder vote is a serious violation of the OECD Principles, and is an invitation for majority 

shareholders to dilute the minority. The reliance of the NSC on fees from these capital increases 

                       
62

 Article 66, Law on JSCs. 

63
 Law on JSCs, Article 49.  

64
 Law on JSCs, Article 50. 

65
 Law on JSCs, Article 83(1). 

66
 Law on JSCs, Article 43 (2). The board can increase authorized capital by up to 50 percent of its value 

(as of the last AGM). 
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also potentially creates a conflict of interest situation. 

Policy recommendations: All increases in authorized capital should require the approval of the 

shareholders’ meeting. The thresholds for shareholder approval of large-scale transactions should 

be reduced (e.g., requiring a shareholder vote at 25 percent of assets) particularly if the sale is to 

a related party. 

Principle IC: Shareholders should have the opportunity to participate effectively and vote in general shareholder meetings and should be 
informed of the rules, including voting procedures, that govern them. (i) Shareholders should be furnished with sufficient and timely information 

concerning the date, location and agenda of general meetings, as well as full and timely information regarding the issues to be decided at the 
meeting. (ii) Opportunity should be provided for shareholders to ask questions of the board and to place items on the agenda at general meetings, 

subject to reasonable limitations. (iii) Shareholders should be able to vote in person or in absentia, and equal effect should be given to votes 

whether cast in person or in absentia. 

Assessment: Partially observed 

Description of practice: The procedures for preparing and holding a shareholder meeting are set by 

company charter. The ordinary AGM must be held between one and two months after the 

publication of the company’s annual report.
67

 A notice must be sent at least 30 days before the 

meeting to every registered shareholder and must be published twice (with an interval of ten 

days) in a newspaper.
68

 The company must provide its shareholders with an opportunity to 

review relevant materials at least ten days before the meeting.
69

 The notification of shareholders 

represents a significant expense for many companies, especially investment funds. 

The agenda for the general meeting (GM) is set by the board of directors, and the meeting cannot 

change the agenda nor adopt decisions on matters not included in the agenda. Shareholders with 

more than 5 percent of voting shares may force items onto the agenda (but only before its first 

publication).
70

  

The quorum for any shareholder meeting is 50 percent of voting shares.
71

 If a repeated meeting is 

necessary, the required quorum is 1/3 of voting shares (50 percent for extraordinary meetings), 

and the meeting must be held between 20 and 60 days from the date of the original meeting.
72

 

                       
67

 Companies having over 5,000 shareholders must hold regional general meetings, if the quorum was not 

represented at two previous meetings. The meeting invitation must include a schedule (time, date and 

location) for the regional meetings. Separate lists of shareholders are prepared based on their registered 

addresses. The agenda for all meetings is the same. All regional meetings must have a vote counting 

commission, as well as a centralized vote counting commission that includes a representative from each 

regional meeting commission. Detailed procedures for holding regional meetings are described in Articles 

68-76 of the Regulation on Preparing and Holding General Meetings of Shareholders of Opened JSC 

Companies, of September 19, 2000 

68
 Law on JSCs, Article 55. 

69
 The materials that must be presented include the shareholder list, the annual financial statements, the 

annual report, the report of the revision commission, the audit report (if applicable), information about 

nominees the board and revision commission, and draft revisions to the charter. 

70
 Law on JSCs, Article 52 (1). 

71
 Law on JSCs, Article 58. The company articles can provide for a bigger quorum.  

72
 For extraordinary meetings, quorum for repeated meetings is 50 percent of voting shares, and 

resolutions must be adopted by at least 1/3 of the voting shares. 
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Those shareholders who are registered shareholders on the date of the meeting are eligible 

voters.
73

 Voting can be by open or secret ballot, according to a decision of the meeting, or by 

posted ballot according to special regulations.
74

 Shareholders may appoint any person to be their 

proxy. To reach quorum, investment funds (some with about 100,000 shareholders) arrange for 

special powers of attorney from shareholders. These can commonly be granted by local 

authorities on behalf of local shareholders (i.e. a mayor can notarize a power of attorney for the 

shareholders in his village), and are valid for several years. 

One problem that has emerged is the existence of significant numbers of shareholders who can 

no longer be located. Most are individuals who received shares during mass privatization but 

have since moved abroad, changed address, or died. By some estimates, the registry entries of at 

least 20 percent of shareholders (especially of the investment funds) are no longer valid.  

Policy recommendations: Policymakers should consider reducing quorum requirements for 

investment funds, to make shareholder meetings more workable (and to reduce the incentive to 

abuse the collection of powers of attorney). Legal experts should review the Civil Code to 

remove the ability of third parties to grant powers of attorney for shareholders without their 

specific approval.  

Principle ID: Capital structures and arrangements that enable certain shareholders to obtain a degree of control disproportionate to their equity 

ownership should be disclosed. 

Assessment: Materially not observed 

Description of practice: The company charter lays out the voting rules regarding the company’s 

capital structure. Companies can to issue ordinary and preferred shares. Common shares carry 

one vote.
75

 Preferred shares in most cases are non-voting, are limited to 25 percent of total 

capital, but are rare in practice.
76

 Shareholder agreements are not addressed in the law and need 

not be disclosed. Information on the rights attached to different share classes is set out in the 

corporate charter, the prospectus, and in company annual reports (which are often difficult to 

obtain in practice).  

The law requires disclosure of significant ownership by companies and shareholders. 

Shareholders passing the 25 percent direct or indirect ownership threshold must make a material 

event disclosure within five days. Companies must disclose all direct 5 percent shareholders in 

the annual report. However, beneficial ownership and control disclosure is a key concern. 

Current practice appears to be disclosure to the first level of nominee ownership, with offshore 

shell companies often used to hide ultimate shareholder identities. Shareholder disclosure at the 
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 This system is possible because the National Depository and registrars continuously update the original 

list of eligible shareholders with the transactions made between the time of the meeting announcement 

and the meeting date. 

74
 Law on JSCs, Article 61. Voting results are recorded in the minutes signed by the members of the 

counting commission and by the revision commission, and are attached to the minutes of the general 

meeting of shareholders. 

75
 Article 59, Law on JSCs. Some experts consider cumulative voting to be a deviation from one-share / 

one-vote. 

76
 On April 30, 2004, the 21 issues of preferred shares quoted at the MSE accounted for about 0.2 percent 

of total nominal value. 
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25 percent level is reportedly rare. Market participants agree that it is difficult or impossible for 

investors to obtain official information on ultimate equity ownership. A review of corporate 

governance in the financial sector under the Financial Sector Assessment Program indicated the 

presence of significant cross-holding relationships among listed firms and the financial sector. 

Policy recommendations: Disclosure of ultimate ownership and control structures is an important 

issue for improving corporate governance in Moldova. Legislation should be clarified and should 

require that all direct and indirect ownership positions be publicly disclosed at the levels required 

to meet international standards (10 percent as in the EU). Policymakers should establish that 

improvements to the disclosure of ownership and control structures are a top regulatory priority, 

develop an action plan, and investigate alternative approaches to require the disclosure of 

ownership and control positions. These could include the creation of a central registry and the 

removal of the right to hold shares in nominee name (see Principle IA, above). The disclosure of 

shareholder agreements should also be required. 

Principle IE: Markets for corporate control should be allowed to function in an efficient and transparent manner. 

Assessment: Not observed 

Description of practice: The market for corporate control functions poorly and is not transparent. 

The JSC Law requires that a person (or group of affiliated persons) who has acquired more than 

50 percent of an open JSC must (within one month) make a tender offer to buy all outstanding 

shares.
77

 However, the company charter (or general shareholder meeting) can exempt the 

company from this requirement. In addition, because of opaque ownership structures, bidders 

can break up their shareholdings into smaller pieces and effectively exempt themselves from the 

mandatory bid requirement. There are no “squeeze-out” provisions that allow investors with 90 

or even 97 percent of the shares to oblige the remaining small shareholders to sell their 

shareholdings. Such provisions give strategic investors the option of purchasing all the shares of 

a company in order to gain full control and avoid the minority shareholder protection of the JSC 

Law, and allow companies to efficiently “go private.” A key issue in squeeze-out provisions is 

the establishment of a market price for the small shareholders. 

Policy recommendations: Companies should not be able to exempt themselves from the tender 

offer requirement. Effective ownership disclosure is the key to improving the transparency of the 

market for corporate control – see recommendations for Principle ID above. Longer-term, the 

NSC should work to refine takeover law in line with EU practice, provide strategic investors 

with the option of buying out small shareholders (through squeeze-out provisions), and establish 

enforcement mechanisms to ensure compliance with the legislation.. 

Principle IF: Shareholders, including institutional investors, should consider the costs and benefits of exercising their voting rights. 

Assessment: Partially observed 

Description of practice: The only current institutional investors are the former privatization 

investment funds (FINNs). After the consolidation of ownership in Moldova, many of these are 

behaving more like holding companies than typical investment funds, and have taken control of a 

large portion of their portfolio. The very limited number of foreign portfolio investors include 

the EBRD, Western NIS Fund, and some Romanian investors, all of whom have played a major 

role in the corporate governance in the firms and financial institutions in which they have 
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 The tender price is the larger of the weighted average price in the previous six months and the valuation 

of the company made by an expert evaluation firm. 
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invested. 

Policy recommendations: Policymakers revising the investment funds law should consider 

introducing requirements for licensed institutional investors to disclose voting policies, in line 

with the revised OECD Principles. 

The Equitable Treatment of Shareholders 

Principle IIA: The corporate governance framework should ensure the equitable treatment of all shareholders, including minority and foreign 
shareholders. All shareholders should have the opportunity to obtain effective redress for violation of their rights. All shareholders of the same 

class should be treated equally. (i) Within any class, all shareholders should have the same voting rights. All investors should be able to obtain 

information about the voting rights attached to all classes of shares before they purchase. Any changes in voting rights should be subject to 

shareholder vote. (ii) Votes should be cast by custodians or nominees in a manner agreed upon with the share’s beneficial owner. 

Assessment: Materially not observed 

Description of practice: In principle, the corporate governance framework provides equitable 

treatment of all shareholders and an opportunity for effective redress. Shareholders may approve 

changes to their basic rights, and shareholders of the same class must be treated equally. 

Shareholders have several ways to defend their rights. An individual or shareholder group with 

25 percent or more of voting shares can call an extraordinary shareholder meeting (EGM) - a 

threshold which is very high by international standards. Any shareholder may challenge 

shareholder resolutions in court.
78

 Generally, this has been the most common form of 

shareholder action, and some actions have been successful. However, most observers agree that 

the efficiency of the legal proceedings is often compromised by inefficiency and corruption 

within the legal system. 

Shareholders may also demand that the company purchase (“redeem”) their shares in the event of 

significant decisions taken by the company.
79

 The shareholder must have voted against the 

decision, or have been prevented from participating in the AGM, and must demand redemption 

within two months. The redemption of the company’s shares is carried out at their market price, 

or according to company articles. However, the redemption provisions do not apply to listed 

companies. This has reportedly been a great incentive for companies to obtain listed status and 

eliminates an otherwise helpful shareholder right. 

Shareholders can also complain to the regulators (NSC). Regulators may begin administrative 

proceedings and fine offending companies. However, the NSC lacks sufficient statutory 

authority and the ability to impose material fines. Maximum fines that can be imposed by the 

NSC are about MDL 3,600 (USD 300), which cannot be expected to influence corporate 
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 Law on JSCs, Article 59(5). According to the law, decisions can be challenged if: (a) proper meeting 

notification rules were not followed; (b) the shareholder was not allowed to participate in the general 

meeting without lawful reasons; (c) the meeting was held without quorum; (d) the issue was not included 

in the agenda of the general meeting; (e)the shareholder voted against the decision that infringed on 

his/her rights and legal interests; (f) shareholder rights were otherwise significantly violated. 

79
 Law on JSCs, Article 79. Redemption triggers in the law include: (a) the company converts from open 

to closed form; (b) other changes to the changes to the company charter are introduced that limit 

shareholder rights; (c) a large transaction is completed (at least 25 percent of company assets), or (d) the 

shareholders’ meeting approves a reorganization of the company. 
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behavior.
80

 The Commission’s decisions are generally published, but not always the reasoning 

behind them.  

Voting by custodians and nominees must follow the instructions of their clients. A nominal 

holder of securities (including a custodian) may only vote with a power of attorney, which must 

be formalized in accordance with Civil Code requirements. 

Policy recommendations: The JSC law should be modified to lower the threshold to call an 

extraordinary meeting from 25 percent to 10 percent (or even 5 percent). In addition, the 

exemption of listed companies from the redemption rules should be removed.  

NSC authority and powers should be increased to support shareholder rights. The NSC should 

add the protection of shareholders to its mission statement, work to increase salaries to the level 

of comparable organizations (e.g. the Central Bank), and work to increase its investigation and 

enforcement powers over issuers. The level of fines and other administrative penalties should be 

greatly increased. At the same time, a critical factor in building investor confidence in the capital 

markets is a transparent, coherent and fair system of enforcing laws and regulations. Measures 

should be put in place to increase the NSC’s transparency and accountablility. In particular, all 

NSC decisions should be published. The public information should include not only the final 

decision taken by the NSC, but also the reasoning behind the decision.  
Principle IIB: Insider trading and abusive self-dealing should be prohibited. 

Assessment: Partially observed 

Description of practice: Insider trading is prohibited by law, but there have been no penalties or 

prosecutions for insider-trading matters.
81

 Insider trading is enforced by the NSC, but no 

enforcement actions have been taken to date, and the legal definitions of insiders (and affiliated 

parties) are weak. Administrative sanctions can include a fine of up to 100 minimum wages (a 

maximum of about USD 150), and the transaction’s reversal.
82

 Damages inflicted by a violation 

of the laws regulating the operation of the securities market must be repaired in the manner 

provided for by civil legislation. 

                       
80

 The maximum is set under the legislation on administrative sanctions and applies to all regulatory 

agencies. 

81
 Law on Securities Market, Article 60. Under Article 59, insiders include: (a) members of the Board of 

Directors, the revision commission, and management; (b) persons that control the issuer; (c) persons that 

“by virtue of their position, or under an agreement, or due to the confidence of the issuer or other its 

insider” have access to the inside information of the specified issuer; and (d) individuals who within the 

last six months were insiders as defined above. Insiders cannot make transactions that benefit from 

confidential information, with the issuer’s securities or with the securities of a third party involved in 

transactions with the issuer or intending to become involved in such transactions, nor exert influence over 

the conclusion of transactions by third parties with the issuer’s securities. Insiders cannot transmit 

confidential information to any person who might use such information for the completion of transactions 

with the issuer’s securities. 

82
 Administrative Tort Code, Article 162/6. Fines are up to fifty minimum wages for “citizens” and up to 

a hundred for officers. Criminal sanctions (based on the non-performance or undue performance by an 

officer of his/her service duties as a consequence of negligence or bad faith, if this has caused “large-scale 

damages” to the public interest or to the legal rights and interests of natural or legal persons) can include a 

fine in the amount of up to 500 minimum wages, or by a three-year prison term, a possible banning from 

right to fill certain positions or to practice certain activities for up to three years (Article 329 of the 

Criminal Code). 
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Open JSCs must disclose to the NSC a list of insiders and information on insider trading. 

Members of the board, management, revision commission and other management bodies must 

submit a quarterly report to the issuer on the total number of the issuer’s securities they hold.
83

 

This information is also published in the annual report. 

Shareholders with conflicts of interests may not vote on the transactions in which they have an 

interest.
84

 However, there are no specific requirements for shareholder approval of related party 

transactions (unless they are considered “large transactions;” see Principle IB above). All related 

party transactions must be approved by a unanimous board vote, excluding those members with a 

conflict. If unanimity can not be reached or more than half the directors are conflicted, then a 

resolution must be made by the AGM. If the board is not properly informed about related party 

transactions and later discovers them, they can be cancelled by management. Companies cannot 

make loans to directors or managers. 

However, there is little evidence that this process works in practice. There is no vetting of 

transactions by independent board members (or an audit committee). 

Policy recommendations: International experience suggests that prosecuting insider trading is 

difficult and expensive, and that enforcement efforts should focus on disclosure of insider 

holdings and trading activities and active administrative enforcement of violations. 

Administrative sanctions should be greatly increased to effectively deter insider trading. 

Policymakers should review international experience on related party transaction approval. At a 

minimum, the definition of insiders should include all significant (i.e. 5 or 10 percent level) 

shareholders. Policymakers should consider introducing a requirement for shareholder approval 

of related party transactions, at a low threshold (e.g. in Russia this is 2 percent of assets). 

Principle IIC: Members of the board and managers should be required to disclose any material interests in transactions or matters affecting the 

corporation. 

Assessment: Partially observed 

Description of practice: Related parties “…shall submit to the board no less frequently than once a 

year a written statement with the information sufficient for timely revelation of transactions with 

a conflict of interest…” and shall “…in writing inform the company management whose terms of 

reference include such transactions of its interest.”
85

 National Accounting Standard 24 appears to 

require information similar to IAS 24 (on related party transactions), but the lack of audit 

requirements and published financial statements means that, in practice, related party 

transactions are not disclosed in the financial statements or annual report. 

Policy recommendations: See recommendations on disclosure below. Related party transactions 

above a certain level should also be considered “material events” and disclosed immediately. 
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 Securities Market Law, Article 59. 

84
 Law on JSCs, Article 85. Parties with a potential conflict of interest are defined as 25 percent 

shareholders, directors, managers, their family. They must also be a transaction counterpart or a 

substantial owner (10 percent) or counterpart representative. 

85
 Law on JSCs, Article 85(3). 
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Role of Stakeholders in Corporate Governance 

Principle IIIA: The corporate governance framework should recognize the rights of stakeholders as established by law and encourage active co-
operation between corporations and stakeholders in creating wealth, jobs, and the sustainability of financially sound enterprises. The corporate 

governance framework should assure that the rights of stakeholders that are protected by law are respected. 

Assessment: Materially not observed 

Description of practice: Employees have the right to participate in the administration of the 

company in order to protect their interests, especially during the insolvency process. According 

to the new Labor Code, employees are entitled to participate in the drafting of internal 

regulations in the social and economical areas, in the settlement of disputes and problems 

concerning the rights and interests of the employees, and to collaborate with company 

management. Employees can serve on the board (but not as a majority), and the company can 

establish other mechanisms of employee participation in corporate governance. During 

insolvency procedures, employees delegate a representative to uphold their rights with the 

committee of the company’s creditors. 

Former employees and management are powerful stakeholders in Moldova. The level of 

awareness of corporate social responsibility is relatively low. There are no voluntary codes of 

practice or recommendations on relations with stakeholders developed by either business or 

NGOs. The enforcement of creditor rights in Moldova is not effective.
86

 Many court decisions in 

favor of creditors have proven to be impossible to enforce. 

Policy recommendations: Measures to strengthen the rights of shareholders will also be helpful 

in supporting the rights of other stakeholders. 

Principle IIIB: Where stakeholder interests are protected by law, stakeholders should have the opportunity to obtain effective redress for 

violation of their rights. 

Assessment: Materially not observed 

Description of practice: Any stakeholder whose constitutional rights have been violated may 

appeal to the court for redress. However, the judiciary system is considered to be slow and less 

than fully transparent in resolving commercial disputes. 

Principle IIIC. The corporate governance framework should permit performance-enhancement mechanisms for stakeholder participation. 

Assessment: Partially observed 

Description of practice: Performance-enhancement mechanisms (e.g. profit sharing and 

stock options) are uncommon in Moldova. Many bank employees receive shares as 

compensation. 

Principle IIID: Where stakeholders participate in the corporate governance process, they should have access to relevant information. 

Assessment: Materially not observed 

Description of practice: Stakeholders generally have limited access to the same company 

information as shareholders; this includes, for example, access to the information in the 

commercial court register and in the register of the NSC. 

Section IV: Disclosure and Transparency 

Principle IVA: The corporate governance framework should ensure that timely and accurate disclosure is made on all material matters regarding 
the corporation, including the financial situation, performance, ownership, and the governance of the company. Disclosure should include, but not 

be limited to, material information on: (1) The financial and operating results of the company. (2) Company objectives. (3) Major share 
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ownership and voting rights. (4) Members of the board and key executives, and their remuneration. (5) Material foreseeable risk factors. (6) 

Material issues regarding employees and other stakeholders. (7) Governance structures and policies. 

Assessment: Not observed 

Description of practice: The law requires issuers to make substantial disclosures to the NSC and 

shareholders. Open JSCs must submit annual reports to the NSC that must include financial 

statements, and lists of: insiders and their securities transactions, members of the board (and their 

share holdings), significant (5 percent) shareholders, 25 percent holdings of other companies, 

information on share classes, and dividends. A summary of this information is published in the 

Capital Market newspaper published by the NSC. Quarterly reports (which were previously 

mandated by law) are no longer required. 

However, in practice, most of this information does not appear to be available to shareholders or 

the public. Typical financial statements do not comply with applicable standards, and do not 

include the required notes and supporting statements. There is no management discussion or any 

kind of analysis of company objectives or risks. Major share ownership appears to be reported, 

but is often at the level of nominees, and does not give a clear picture of ownership. Information 

about the board is limited to the name of the board members, if available at all. There is no 

disclosure of board remuneration, the structure of governance bodies, or stakeholders.  

Issuers are also required to disclose material information within five days.
87

 Material information 

must be published in the press and directly disclosed to the NSC. However, compliance with this 

rule appears to be particularly weak. Review of the content of disclosure by the NSC appears to 

be very limited. 

By law, companies are also required to disclose various items of useful information directly to 

shareholders and creditors, including the company charter, minutes of shareholder and board 

meetings, and opinions of the “revision commission.”
88

 The full shareholder list is available at 

the time of the shareholder meeting. However, in practice and in spite of legal requirements, 

many companies usually claim that most information is a “commercial secret” and is not made 

available. Obtaining information from companies often requires lengthy correspondence and 

threats of lawsuits, and the process may last months. 

Commercial banks make significantly better disclosures, because of the active oversight of the 

National Bank of Moldova. 

Policy recommendations: The NSC should initiate a long-term program (with foreign technical 

assistance) to improve disclosure. (1) All significant direct and indirect shareholders should be 

obliged to publicly disclose their shareholdings and control positions of traded companies. (2) 

NSC should work to revise the annual report format, and requiring disclosure of all items 

recommended by the OECD Principles. The format should include clear and distinct disclosure 

guidelines for different types of companies (e.g. listed, large, and small open companies). (3) The 

NSC should then increase its review and enforcement of disclosure content. In the short term, the 

NSC should focus on disclosure compliance of listed companies and investment funds, and on 

the completeness of select non-financial information (ownership disclosures and related party 
                       
87

 Material information includes: issuer reorganization, decisions and information on securities 

issues/public offers, dividends, identity of new direct 5 percent shareholders, general meeting decisions, 

changes in registrar or auditor and execution of large transactions. 

88
 Law on JSCs, Article 92. 
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transactions).  

A major obstacle to improving compliance with disclosure requirements is the large number of 

companies that are required to file (1,600 open companies) and report (over 3,000 open and 

closed companies) to the NSC. A strategy should be developed to reduce the NSC’s regulatory 

and processing burden, by reducing the number of companies that fall under its supervision. This 

will require a re-evaluation of the proper definition of an “open” company (that is, a company 

that is required to make public disclosures and receive some oversight from the NSC), and 

establishing procedures to allow companies to efficiently convert into other legal forms (see 

Principle IE).  

Principle IVB: Information should be prepared, audited, and disclosed in accordance with high quality standards of accounting, financial and 

non-financial disclosure, and audit. 

Assessment: Materially not observed 

Description of practice: All Moldovan firms must prepare accounts per National Accounting 

Standards (NAS), which are translations of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

However, many IASs have not been translated. More serious is the fact that most companies do 

not comply with existing national accounting standards (see above). Auditing standards are 

translations of International Standards on Auditing (ISA). However, not all ISAs have been 

translated, and some are outdated.  

Policy recommendations: See recommendations from the Accounting and Auditing ROSC. 
Principle IVC: An annual audit should be conducted by an independent auditor in order to provide an external and objective assurance on the 

way in which financial statements have been prepared and presented. 

Assessment: Not observed 

Description of practice: An annual audit is not required for JSCs, and audits are now optional.
89

 

Banks and insurance companies are legally required to provide audited financial statements. Ten 

percent shareholders can demand a special company audit (at their expense).
90

 The removal of a 

mandatory audit provision reportedly resulted from powerful lobbying on the part of company 

managers and major shareholders. Their arguments were based on the low quality of audit 

services rendered by local audit companies. Audits were considered expensive and ineffective – 

many local auditors are considered to be unqualified, and managements could easily “convince” 

auditors to avoid the mention of any problems or violations. At the same time, shareholders do 

not demand a local audit, do not regard auditors as “allies,” and consider audit costs to be 

unjustified. International network firms are present in Moldova, and audit commercial banks and 

companies with foreign investors. The liability of auditors (especially to third parties, such as 

investors or creditors) is unclear, and there appear to have been no lawsuits. Oversight of the 

audit is performed by the Ministry of Finance, but is in a very preliminary stage. 

The “revision commission” (sometimes translated as “auditing commission”) also plays a 

governance role. It is separately elected by shareholders; it oversees company’s finances on 

behalf of shareholders. In practice, the commissions are reportedly selected by controlling 

shareholders (or are employees) and do not play an independent role in protecting minority 
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 Audits are required for banks and other specialized firms. Until 2001, the Law on JSCs required annual 

external audits for JSCs with over 50 shareholders. The threshold was raised to 300 shareholders, and 

then the requirement was removed entirely. 

90
 JSC Law. 
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shareholders. This commission has recently been abolished in Romania, in favor of external 

auditors. There is no legal requirement for a board audit committee to oversee the audit. 

Policy recommendations: Policymakers should re-impose an annual audit requirement on all 

large enterprises, irrespective of the shareholding structure, in line with the EU regulation (please 

see the Accounting and Auditing ROSC for detailed recommendations). 

The role, responsibilities and powers of the revision commission should be reviewed, and 

policymakers should consider abolishing it (as has been recently done in Romania). Although the 

commission may sometimes play a complementary role in protecting minority shareholder 

interests, it is no substitute for a well-functioning audit committee in overseeing the adequacy of 

a company’s internal control systems and the integrity of its independent external audit. 
Principle IVD: Channels for disseminating information should provide for fair, timely, and cost-effective access to relevant information by 

users. 

Assessment: Not observed 

Description of practice: Information dissemination is a significant concern in Moldova. 

Shareholders and the public can obtain information from various sources, including the NSC’s 

Capital Market newspaper, the company, and the State Registration Chamber. By law, 

companies must provide a large amount of potentially useful information at the request of 

shareholders and creditors, for minimal cost.
91

 However, in practice, most companies reportedly 

reject these requests, based on exemptions for “commercial secrets.” The State Registration 

Chamber is also a potentially valuable source of information. However, obtaining copies of 

company legal documents from the Chamber has been historically difficult. 

Policy recommendations: See Principle IVA above. Regulation should be developed to 

specifically exclude statutory disclosure requirements from the definition of “commercial 

secrets.” 

In the short term, the NSC should set up a central location (like a public reading room in the NSC 

building) where shareholders or any interested party can read and photocopy all information on 

open JSCs that is required by law to be disclosed. Longer-term (three-five years), the NSC should 

design and build a simple electronic disclosure system with a goal of making public the complete 

statutory annual reports, including all non-financial information and the full financial statements 

(with notes and audit reports). 

The responsibility of the board 

Principle VA: The corporate governance framework should ensure the strategic guidance of the company, the effective monitoring of 
management by the board, and the board’s accountability to the company and the shareholders. Board members should act on a fully informed 

basis, in good faith, with due diligence and care, and in the best interest of the company and the shareholders. 

Assessment: Materially not observed 

Description of practice: Moldovan company law calls for a two-tier board. The board of directors 

(consiliu de administratie) is the supervisory board, elected (by cumulative voting in large 
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 Law on JSCs, Article 92. Information that must be provided by law includes the company charter, 

articles and all amendments; contracts with the registrar and auditor; minutes of AGMs and voting results; 

minutes of board meetings; the list of officers (including board members); lists of related parties (per the 

law); the prospectus (and amendments); data on the monthly volumes and average prices of the share 

transactions; financial, statistical and specialized statements; reports of the auditor and the revision 

commission; the annual report of the board; correspondence with shareholders. 
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companies) by the shareholder meeting. Companies also have a management board (“the executive 

body”). The executive body is either directly appointed by the board of directors, or (if specifically 

allowed in the charter) elected by shareholders.
92

 By law, members of the executive body can serve 

on the board of directors, but cannot be a majority. The chairman of the board can be separately 

elected by the shareholder meeting, or elected by the board (depending on the charter). The chief 

executive officer (head of the executive body) cannot be board chairman. The “revision 

commission” also plays a governance role (see Principle IVC). 

A brief survey of the top ten company boards indicates that they vary in size between five and 11 

members, with an average size of between six and seven. 

Policy recommendations: Policymakers should reconsider existing legal provisions that allow 

shareholders to directly elect the executive body. This removes a key power of the board of 

directors, and weakens it considerably. 

To allow the board to obtain meaningful results from cumulative voting, a minimum board size 

requirement should be added to the JSC law. The NSC (together with a range of stakeholders and 

international experts, including ones from neighboring countries) should draft a code of 

corporate governance. The code should provide a detailed framework for boards of directors in 

Moldova, including duties, legal responsibilities, functions, and independence requirements. 

(The code process could also result in detailed legal recommendations for modifications to the 

Law on JSCs.) A director training program should also be made available, with support from the 

MSE, government, and private sector. Training will give directors an understanding of their role 

and duties and educate them in financial, business, and industry practices. 
Principle VB: Where board decisions may affect different shareholder groups differently, the board should treat all shareholders fairly. 

Assessment: Materially not observed 

Description of practice: A major weakness in the legal and regulatory framework is the absence of any 

legal provisions that define the duties of the board of directors (and the executive body) to shareholders to 

the company, and of any requirements that the board of directors should treat all shareholders equally. In 

practice, board members are responsibly to the shareholders that appoint or nominate them. However, 

the concepts of acting reasonably and in good faith are not clearly grounded in law, which tends 

to provide detailed prescriptions of required actions. 

Ten percent shareholders can initiate lawsuits against managers or members of the board who 

have failed to act in the interests of the company or reasonably or in good faith. Class action suits 

are not permitted. However, there do not appear to have been any shareholder lawsuits brought 

against its directors on the basis of the relevant provisions of the JSC Law. 

Policy recommendations: Board members should have a clear “duty of loyalty” to all 

shareholders and should be legally required to treat all shareholders equally. See 

recommendations in VA. 
Principle VC: The board should ensure compliance with applicable law and take into account the interests of stakeholders. 

Assessment: Materially not observed 

Description of practice: There are no specific requirements for the board to take the interests of 

stakeholders into account. 
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 Moldovan two-tier boards differ from German two-tier boards in that (i) the management board can be 

appointed directly by shareholders, and (ii) members of the management board can serve simultaneously 

on the supervisory board. 
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Policy recommendations: See recommendations in Principle VA. 

Principle VD: The board should fulfill certain key functions, including (1) Reviewing and guiding corporate strategy, major plans of action, risk 
policy, annual budgets and business plans; setting performance objectives; monitoring implementation and corporate performance and overseeing 

major capital expenditures, acquisitions and divestitures. (2) Selecting, compensating, monitoring and, when necessary, replacing key executives 
and overseeing succession planning. (3) Reviewing key executive and board remunerations, and ensuring a formal and transparent board 

nomination process. (4) Monitoring and managing potential conflicts of interest of management, board members and shareholders, including 

misuse of corporate assets and abuse in related-party transactions. (5) Ensuring the integrity of the corporation’s accounting and financial 
reporting systems, including the independent audit, and that appropriate systems of control are in place, in particular, systems for monitoring risk, 

financial control, and compliance with the law. (6) Monitoring the effectiveness of the governance practices under which it operates and making 

changes as needed. (7) Overseeing the process of disclosure and communications. 

Assessment: Materially not observed 

Description of practice: The board of directors has limited definition in the law.
93

 It has clear 

responsibility for appointing management and setting its remuneration. Responsibility for 

strategic and succession planning appears to be concentrated more in controlling shareholders 

and management. The board plays a major role in resolving conflicts of interest (see IIB and 

IIC), but is not responsible for financial reporting, and in practice does not appoint the auditor. 

Policy recommendations: See recommendations under Principle VA. 

Principle VE: The board should be able to exercise objective judgment on corporate affairs independent, in particular, from management: (1) 
boards should consider assigning a sufficient number of non-executive board members capable of exercising independent judgment to tasks 

where there is a potential for conflict of interest. Examples of such key responsibilities are financial reporting, nomination, and executive and 

board remuneration. (2) board members should devote sufficient time to their responsibilities. 

Assessment: Materially not observed 

Description of practice: There are no requirements for independent directors, and no requirements 

for (or practice of) board committees. Non-executive directors must be a majority on the board. 

The requirement for cumulative voting appears to result in some independent representation on 

boards. 

Board members can serve on a maximum of five boards. The board must meet at least quarterly. 

Policy recommendations: See recommendations in Principle VA. 

Principle VF: In order to fulfill their responsibilities, board members should have access to accurate, relevant and timely information. 

Assessment: Materially not observed 

Description of practice: Directors have no specific right to inspect the company’s accounting 

records and may have limited access to company information. In practice, the ability of non-

executive/independent directors to obtain relevant information on time depends on the behavior 

of company top and senior management.  

Policy recommendations: The board should have broad access to company information, records, 

documents and property where needed to make informed decisions on matters within the 

authority of the supervisory board. Directors should also be able also take independent 

professional advice at the company’s expense. 
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 Law on JSCs, Article 65. According to the law, the “exclusive competence” of the board include: (a) 

convening the AGM; (b) deciding on certain large transactions (see Principle IB); (c) hiring and firing 

management; (d) appointing the company’s registrar; (e) certain capital increases (see IB); (e) proposing 

dividends to the AGM; (f) approving employee remuneration. 
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Summary of Policy Recommendations 

126. This section sets out recommendations to improve compliance with the OECD Principles 

of Corporate Governance. The wide variety of recommendations suggests that Moldova could 

profit from an integrated, broad-based technical assistance project, along the lines of the 

International Finance Corporation’s work in Ukraine and Russia. 

127. The key recommendations are summarized in this paragraph and in Annex B at the end of 

this chapter. 

Legislative reform: The report recommends changes to the company and securities laws, 

including requirements for annual audits, removal of board authority to increase capital, and a 

reduction in the percent of capital required to call an extraordinary meeting. It also recommends 

an increase in the NSC’s authority, and a significant increase in maximum fines for 

administrative violations. These recommendations could be implemented as part of a general 

legal review, accompanied by the creation of a code of corporate governance. Priority: high 

Institutional strengthening: Other recommendations do not require legal changes, but rather 

changes in focus and priority. NSC should focus on corporate governance issues, and staff 

resources should be provided to review basic disclosure content. Regular staff training and 

exchange programs with other securities regulators should include exposure to corporate 

governance issues. 

The large number of quoted companies will remain a difficult problem for the NSC for many 

years. The report’s basic recommendation is that all open companies should remain under the 

NSC’s jurisdiction, and that the NSC should work to protect shareholder rights in all open 

companies. The natural process of conversion of open companies to closed could be accelerated 

by technical assistance, training, and outreach. Some companies will be convinced to upgrade 

their disclosure and shareholder-friendliness and become truly “public,” and others will be 

persuaded make buyouts of minority shareholders and go private. Priority: high 

Voluntary/private initiatives: Several new initiatives should be pursued by the NSC and the 

private sector, supported by technical assistance. First, the public and private sector should 

jointly draft a corporate governance code, to begin the discussion of good corporate governance 

in Moldova and develop best practice recommendations on board composition, independence, 

functionality, and procedures. Board effectiveness would be enhanced through director training. 

Priority: high 
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ANNEX A: SUMMARY OF OBSERVANCE OF OECD CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES 
 

Principle O 
L

O 

P

O 

M

O 

N

O 
Comment 

I. THE RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS 

IA Basic shareholder rights   X   

Companies with > 50 shareholders must use 

independent registrar and cumulative voting. 

Nominee ownership explicit under law. 

IB 
Rights to participate in 

fundamental decisions 
   X  

Fundamental changes must be approved by 2/3 

vote. 

Board can authorize 50% authorized capital 

increase.  

Large transactions (>50% assets) approved by sh 

meeting 

IC Shareholders AGM rights   X   

Quorum 50%. 

30 day notice period; must be sent to every 

shareholder. 

Many shareholders cannot be located. 

ID 
Disproportionate control 

disclosure 
   X  

Sh must disclose direct and indirect holding at 

25% level. 

Company must annually disclose direct 5% 

holders. Difficult for shareholders to obtain 

official information on ultimate equity ownership 

and control positions of open JSCs. 

IE 

Control arrangements 

should be allowed to 

function. 

    X 

Mandatory bid requirement at 50% threshold. 

Companies can exempt themselves from rule.  

Poor functioning of market for corporate control, 

no transparency.  

IF Cost/benefit to voting   X   

Domestic institutional investors often act as 

holding companies and vote. 

Limited shareholder activism, awareness of 

shareholder rights. 

II. EQUITABLE TREATMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS 

IIA 
All shareholders should be 

treated equally 
   X  

Legal framework provides for equitable treatment 

and redress for all shareholders. 

25% can call extraordinary meeting. 

Sh have redemption rights in event of major 

changes. 

The NSC lacks sufficient statutory authority and 

ability to impose material fines. 

IIB Prohibit insider trading   X   

 Insider trading prohibited, but not enforced. 

 Detailed rules on conflict of interest / related 

party transaction approval. 

 No vetting of r.p.t. by independent audit 

committee of board. 

IIC 
Board/Mgrs. disclose 

interests 
  X   

 Beneficiaries of a transaction must disclose 

the transaction to the company. 
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Principle O 
L

O 

P

O 

M

O 

N

O 
Comment 

 Related party transactions annually disclosed. 

 Little reported compliance with rules. 

III. ROLE OF STAKEHOLDERS IN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

III

A 

Stakeholder rights 

respected 
   X  

 Employees play limited role in governance 

(except as managers and shareholders). 

 Little awareness of corporate social 

responsibility. 

 Poor creditor rights. 

III

B 

Redress for violation of 

rights 
   X  

 Stakeholders can appeal to court for redress, 

but rights for employees are limited and the 

judicial system ineffective. 

III

C 
Performance enhancement   X   

 Performance enhancing mechanisms not 

generally used. 

 Many bank employees have received shares. 

III

D 
Access to information    X  

 Stakeholders have limited access to the same 

company information as shareholders. 

IV. DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY 

IV

A 
Disclosure standards     X 

 Significant disclosure required by law. 

 In practice, compliance with disclosure very 

limited. 

 Companies reject disclosure as commercial 

secret. 

IV

B 

Standards of accounting & 

audit 
   X  

 Accounting and audit standards reflect 

international standards. 

 Banks file IFRS reports. 

 All standards not translated or adopted. 

IV

C 

Independent audit 

annually 
    X 

 Audits not required for all JSC; only banks + 

insurance co’s. 

 Revision commission (elected by 

shareholders) intended to oversee company 

on behalf of shareholders. But, dominated by 

majority shareholders, and effectiveness 

limited in practice. 

IV

D 

Fair & timely 

dissemination 
    X 

 Summary financial statements published in 

NSC newspaper. 

 Company information often considered 

“commercial secret.” 

V. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD 

VA 
Acts with due diligence, 

care 
   X  

 Two-tier board structure (“board” and 

“executive body”). 

 Non-employees must be majority on board. 

 Average board size of top ten companies: six 

members. 
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Principle O 
L

O 

P

O 

M

O 

N

O 
Comment 

 No code or board guidelines. 

VB 
Treat all shareholders 

fairly 
   X  

 No duties to company or shareholders, and no 

requirements to treat shareholder equally. 

 Derivative suits are permitted, but not class 

action suits.  

 No suits in practice. 

VC Ensure compliance w/ law    X  
 No specific requirements for the board to 

consider the interests of stakeholders. 

VD 
The board should fulfill 

certain key functions 
   X   Role of board has limited definition in law.  

VE 

The board should be able 

to exercise objective 

judgment 

   X  

 No requirements for board composition or 

board committees. 

 Board members can serve on up to five 

boards; board must meet at least quarterly. 

VF Access to information    X  
 Directors have no specific right to inspect the 

accounting records of the company and may 

have limited access to company information. 
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ANNEX B: SUMMARY OF KEY POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

I. THE RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS 

IA Basic shareholder rights 

 Require all open JSC to use independent registrar. 

 Require removal of charter provisions that restrict free transfer. 

 Consider long-term establishment of central registrar, and 

eliminating nominee ownership. 

IB 
Rights to participate in 

fundamental decisions. 

 Remove the right of the board to increase authorized capital without 

sh vote. 

 Consider lowering the thresholds for large-scale transactions. 

IC 
Shareholders AGM 

rights 

 Consider reducing quorum requirements for investment funds. 

 Remove the ability of third parties to grant powers of attorney 

without shareholder approval. 

 Carefully monitor shareholder meetings and court cases to detect any 

emerging loopholes. 

ID 
Disproportionate 

control disclosure 

 Set ownership disclosure as top priority. 

 Clarify ownership disclosure rules and regulations; require that all 

direct and indirect ownership positions be publicly disclosed at 

international standard levels. 

 Carefully enforce rules on disclosure of ownership and control 

structures. 

IE 

Control arrangements 

should be allowed to 

function 

 Companies should not be able to exempt themselves from mandatory 

bid rule. 

 Carefully enforce rules on disclosure of ownership and control 

structures. 

IF Cost/benefit to voting  Consider requiring investment funds to disclose voting policies. 

II. Equitable Treatment of Shareholders 

IIA 
All shareholders should 

be treated equally 

 Lower threshold to call extraordinary meetings (to a maximum of 10 

percent). 

 Consider removing exemption on share redemption by listed 

companies. 

 Ensure maximum fines imposed by NSC are sufficient deterrent to 

violations of securities law. 

IIB Prohibit insider trading 

 Focus enforcement efforts on disclosure. 

 Review international experience on related party transaction 

approval. 

IIC 
Board/Mgrs. disclose 

interests 

 Related party transactions above a certain level should be considered 

“material events” and disclosed immediately. 

 See also recommendations on disclosure below. 
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III. Role of Stakeholders in Corporate Governance 

IIIA 
Stakeholder rights 

respected 

NA 

IIIB 
Redress for violation of 

rights 

NA 

IIIC 
Performance 

enhancement 

NA 

IIID Access to information NA 

IV. Disclosure and Transparency 

IVA Disclosure standards 

 Develop long-term program to improve disclosure. 

 Revise annual report format in line with OECD Principles. 

 Increase review and enforcement of disclosure content. 

 Develop strategy to reduce burden on NSC by reducing the number 

of reporting companies. 

IVB 
Accting & audit 

standards 
 See World Bank Accounting and Auditing ROSC. 

IVC 
Independent audit 

annually 

 Re-impose audit requirement for all large enterprises. 

 Review role of revision commission (and consider abolishing it in 

law). 

 See World Bank Accounting and Auditing ROSC. 

IVD 
Fair & timely 

dissemination 

 Short-term: set up public reading room to provide shareholder access 

to NSC information. 

 Long-term: design and build simple electronic disclosure system. 

V. Responsibilities of the board 

VA 
Acts with due diligence, 

care 

 Draft code of corporate governance. 

 Provide training to directors. 

VB 
Treat all shareholders 

fairly 
 Require that board members conduct their duties with due care, due 

diligence and in the company’s interests.  

VC 
Ensure compliance w/ 

law 
 See Principle VA. 

VD Board functions  See Principle VA. 

VE 
Board objective 

judgment 
 See Principle VA. 

VF Access to information  Board should have broad access to company information. 

 


